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GROUP AT A GLANCE

Novus Holdings’ application 
of leading technology, 
specialist skills and efficient 
processes enables the Group 
to handle large volumes at 
high quality levels within 
quick turnaround times.
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SCOPE AND BOUNDARY
ABOUT THIS REPORT
This is the second integrated report for Novus 
Holdings Limited (“the Group” or “the company”) 
since listing on the Johannesburg Stock Exchange 
(JSE) on 31 March 2015. Prepared in the interest 
of shareholders and other stakeholders, the report 
demonstrates Novus Holdings’ ability to create value 
and ensure a sustainable business future. In its 
coverage of the financial year from 1 April 2015 to  
31 March 2016, this report is compliant with  
the following:
−  King Report on Governance for South Africa 2009 

(King III)
− International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS)
−  South African Companies Act, 71 of 2008,  

as amended
− JSE Listings Requirements

The Group continues to move toward full application of 
the International Integrated Reporting Council’s (IIRC) 
<IR> framework.

Novus Holdings has initiated a process of applying 
materiality to the Global Reporting Initiative’s 
(GRI’s) revised guidelines (G4), and is identifying the 
appropriate measurements to facilitate sustainability 
reporting going forward. 

As a recently listed entity, the report aims to familiarise 
the South African investment community with Novus 
Holdings. This report serves to provide insights into 
the Group’s strategy, operating environment, risks, 
performance and opportunities. To further support and 
enable this process, the 2016 report includes leadership 
commentary, the full audited consolidated financial 
statements, and the notice of Annual General Meeting 
and proxy form.

To determine the content of the report – and in 
the interest of conciseness – the Group applied the 
principle of materiality in a process set out on  
pages 32 to 42.

Information not covered in this report can be accessed 
on the website at www.novus.holdings, or can be 
requested from investor.relations@novus.holdings.

REPORTING ENTITIES
The financial and non-financial data in this report 
covers the Group’s comprehensive commercial printing 
and manufacturing operations in South Africa as set 
out on pages 14 and 15. Revenue derived from African 
business interests outside of South Africa is not yet 
material enough to warrant increased geographical 
reporting boundaries.

The report is structured to cover the operations 
according to two business divisions: 
–  Print (including gravure, heatset, coldset, sheet-fed 

and digital)
–  Other (including labels, flexible packaging and 

tissue manufacturing)

APPROVAL AND ASSURANCE
The report is the result of combined input from 
internal and external sources. PricewaterhouseCoopers 
provided assurance over the financial statements. The 
Media24 Broad-based Black Economic Empowerment 
(B-BBEE) scorecard, which was verified by AQRate, 
applies to Novus Holdings Limited and its subsidiaries 
and is valid until 12 May 2017. 

Other non-financial indicators were reviewed 
by an internal process that includes approval by 
management. The 2016 integrated report was 

GROUP AT A GLANCE 
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reviewed by the audit and risk committee and 
recommended for approval to the board. Final 
approval for release was granted on 8 June 2016 with 
confirmation from the board that the integrated report 
offers stakeholders the necessary substance to make 
considered evaluations about the performance and 
sustainability of the Group.

FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
This integrated report contains statements about 
Novus Holdings that are or may be forward-looking 
statements. All statements, other than statements 
of historical fact, are, or may be, forward-looking 
statements including, without limitation, those 
concerning: strategy; the economic outlook for the 
printing, labelling and tissue manufacturing industries; 
operating results; growth prospects and outlook 
for operations, individually or in the aggregate; 
liquidity, capital resources and expenditure; and the 
outcome and consequences of any pending litigation 
proceedings. These forward-looking statements are 

not based on historical facts, but rather reflect current 
expectations concerning future results and events, and 
may generally be identified by the use of forward-
looking words or phrases such as “believe”, “aim”, 
“expect”, “anticipate”, “intend”, “foresee”, “forecast”, 
“likely”, “should”, “planned”, “may”, “estimated” and 
“potential”, or similar words and phrases. 

Examples of forward-looking statements include 
statements regarding a future financial position or 
future profits, cash flows, corporate strategy, estimates 
of capital expenditures, acquisition strategy, or future 
capital expenditure levels, and other economic factors 
such as interest and exchange rates. 

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve 
risks and uncertainties because they relate to events 
and depend on circumstances that may or may not 
occur in the future. Novus Holdings cautions that 
forward-looking statements are not guarantees of 
future performance.

GROUP AT A GLANCE

COMMONLY USED ENTITIES

Correll Tissue A producer of domestic tissue paper through the effective use of waste paper from 
printing operations, virgin pulp and recycled paper from other sources. The plant also 
supplies parent reels to other tissue converters.

Kurisani Kurisani Investments (51% black-female-owned) is the investment arm of South 
Africa’s national HIV/Aids prevention campaign offering countrywide services and 
outreach programmes to protect and develop young people. It has over 7, 5 million 
beneficiaries. It disposed of its 16% share in Paarl Media Paarl Proprietary Limited  
on 30 September 2015.

Welkom Yizani Welkom Yizani is the biggest black economic empowerment share scheme in the print 
media industry in South Africa. Welkom Yizani was created to facilitate a Media24 
B-BBEE deal with more than 91 000 individuals and 1 000 black groups participating in 
the offer, gaining shareholding in Media24 of 15%. It is wholly-black owned; 53,3% of 
whom are black females.
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COMMONLY USED TERMS 

Coldset The printing process in which the ink dries naturally through evaporation and 
absorption into paper. This method is used for printing newspapers and retail inserts, 
and makes use of paper reels as input.

Digital printing or 
continuous digital inkjet 
technology (CDIT)

A method of printing using digital techniques in which the data and images are 
printed directly from a computer onto paper. In the continuous digital inkjet printer,  
a continuous stream of electrically charged ink drops is fired toward the surface.  
The desired image is created by deflecting unwanted drops.

Finishing Once printed, a final finished product is produced through varnishing or any other 
decorative processes, including cutting, folding, trimming, gathering, and/or binding, 
applied to the product after printing.

Flexographic printing Flexography is a method of direct rotary printing that uses resilient relief image plates 
of rubber or photopolymer material. This process is used to print self-adhesive labels 
for the wine, beer, spirit, cosmetics, petrochemical, food and beverage markets.

Heatset The printing process in which the ink is dried by running the printed paper through 
an oven immediately after ink is applied by the printing unit. This method is used for 
printing high-volume commercial work, magazines and catalogues, and makes use of 
paper reels as input.

Offset A process in which a lithographic plate is used to make an inked impression on a 
rubber blanket that transfers it to the paper being printed, instead of being made 
directly on the paper. Heatset web offset printing provides cost-effective, high-quality 
production for commercial quantities.

Packaging gravure A method of printing with engraved copper cylinders on powerful gravure presses  
that provides crisp, full-spectrum colours with registration that holds true over millions 
of copies. Gravure is ideally suited to high-volume production of wet glue labels and 
other product diversification initiatives, including in-mould labels and flexible packaging 
(for example shrink sleeves and wrap arounds).

Publication gravure A method of printing with engraved copper cylinders on powerful gravure presses 
that provide crisp, full-spectrum colours with registration that holds true over millions 
of copies. Ideally suited to high-volume production of publications and commercial 
products, including weekly, fortnightly and monthly magazines, catalogues and 
brochures.

Publisher An entity (person or company) that establishes what editorial content is needed and 
who the target market is for specific books, periodicals, magazines and computer 
software, and processes advertising revenues and placed print work.

Sheet-fed offset A printing press that feeds sheets of paper, rather than a continuous paper roll or web.
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NOVUS HOLDINGS PROFILE
Novus Holdings is the most comprehensive commercial 
printing and manufacturing operation in South Africa. 
Its operations comprise ten specialised printing and 
one tissue plant in key metropolitan areas across South 
Africa. The Group provides a comprehensive range of 
services nationally and in other parts of Africa. Clients 
benefit from seamless access to high-volume resources 
and extensive print and manufacturing capability 
through Novus Holdings’ application of advanced 
technology and highly efficient, fully automated 
production processes.  
Novus Holdings offers printing services for the 
following product categories:
− Magazines
− Retail inserts and catalogues
− Newspapers
− Securitised printing
− Books and directories
− Labels and other flexible packaging products
− Tissue products

– Gross profit margin increased by 2,8%.
–  Headline earnings of 139,9 cents per share, 

increased by 9,6%.
–  Strong cash position remains, with a free cash 

flow of R327,9 million generated.
–  Digital Print Solutions was acquired in  

May 2015 to diversify the Group’s revenue 
streams, and was amalgamated with Paarl 
Media Paarl in November 2015 to form Novus 
Print Solutions.

–  Novus Academy was recognised at the Fibre 
Processing & Manufacturing Sector Education 
and Training Authority (FP&M SETA) Skills 
Development Recognition Awards 2014/2015 
for Best Practice Workplace Provider in the 
Apprenticeships category.

SALIENT FEATURES FOR 2016

GROUP AT A GLANCE
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Books  
and directories

NewspapersMagazinesRetail inserts 
and catalogues

Security 
products

LabelsTissue  
products

REVENUE CONTRIBUTION PER PRODUCT 2016

The Group uses publication gravure, heatset web 
offset, sheet-fed, specialised book, coldset web offset, 
digital and UV flexographic technology in its printing 
processes. These are supported by customised 
speciality finishing, bindery, distribution and other 
value-add services. Suitable waste paper produced in 
the printing process is used in the manufacturing of  
tissue products.

2016 2015
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The Group has 16 years’ experience with a long-serving 
and loyal customer base, and continues to secure 
complex and demanding print work from corporate 
and government institutions. Novus Holdings’ 
resilience is owed to its diversified product offerings, 
comprehensive distribution and ability to operate on  
a large scale, while maintaining high quality standards.
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Novus Holdings creates value by converting raw material and applying print and 
manufacturing techniques to an increasingly diversified range of paper-based utility 
products that primarily facilitate knowledge and information sharing between  
stakeholder groups in tangible formats. 

The Group’s diversification into tissue and flexibles offers new and competitive products to market segments 
where there is growing demand. Geographic expansion offers customers in new markets across sub-Saharan 
Africa a choice of products and services not available in their territories. Novus Holdings’ application of leading 
technology, specialist skills and efficient processes enables the Group to handle large volumes at high quality 
levels within quick turnaround times, ensuring the delivery of products that generate a sustainable return for  
its providers of financial capital.

REVENUE (R’000)

R4 174 517
2015: R4 261 484

HEADLINE EARNINGS (R’000)

R447 158
2015: R385 181

NET RETURN ON EQUITY

16,6% 
2015: 15,3% 

HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE

139,9 cents
2015: 127,6 cents

CASH CONVERSION RATIO

72,0%
2015: 97,2%

OPERATING RETURN ON NET ASSETS

22,5%
2015: 22,9% 

NUMBER OF EMPLOYEES

2 003 
2015:1 915

DIVIDENDS PAID PER SHARE

70 cents
2015: 64 cents

B-BBEE CONTRIBUTOR 
STATUS

Level 4 
with value-adding supplier status
2015: Level 3 with value-adding  
supplier status

CARBON FOOTPRINT

102 545 
tonnes  
of CO2 emissions 
2015: 109 301 tonnes

KEY FACTS

VALUE CREATION

Read more about how Novus Holdings creates value from page 22.

GROUP AT A GLANCE
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Novus Holdings created value for previously 
disadvantaged beneficiaries through an empowerment 
partnership with Kurisani Investments, which was 
dissolved in 2015. Kurisani Investments is 51% black-
female-owned and is the investment arm of South 
Africa’s national HIV/Aids prevention campaign, 
loveLife, which offers countrywide services and 
outreach programmes to protect and develop  
young people. 

During the formation of Paarl Web Gauteng (now 
Paarl Media Gauteng) in 2005, Kurisani Investments 
was identified as an ideal, strategic Black Economic 
Empowerment (BEE) partner and acquired a 26% 
shareholding in this greenfields operation.

Through the BEE partnership, the Group benefited  
from the printing contract for loveLife’s monthly 
magazine, Uncut. In turn, loveLife benefited from 
a sustained flow of dividends. The relationship 
between Kurisani Investments and the Group 
proved beneficial for both parties to the extent that 
Kurisani Investments later replaced Edu-Solutions 
and Vakazi Holdings, previous BEE partners in Paarl 
Print, during 2006.

The formation of Paarl Print Labels (now Paarl Labels)  
in 2007, and subsequent split from Paarl Print, led to 
the acquisition of a further 26% direct shareholding in 
Paarl Labels by Kurisani Investments. Throughout that 
period, dividends serviced the financial requirements 
of Kurisani Investments, as well as the cash flow 
requirements of its empowerment initiative, loveLife. 

Systematic sell-down of Kurisani Investments’ total 
shareholdings to Novus Holdings further serviced the 
investment group. Most recently, the Group acquired 
the remaining 16% of Paarl Print (now Paarl Media 
Paarl) from Kurisani Investments.

The release of the latest B-BBEE codes prompted 
Novus Holdings to re-evaluate its BEE strategy 
to optimise its scorecard. The Group is currently 
evaluating new BEE partnerships across both 
divisions, with the aim of delivering similar value to 
previously disadvantaged groups as was achieved 
through the partnership with Kurisani Investments. 

CASE STUDY 
Kurisani Investments
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EMPLOYEES PER DIVISION

EMPLOYEE DEMOGRAPHIC PROFILE: 
RACE

2016
PRINT84%

16% OTHER

COLOURED36%
35%
20%

9%

BLACK
WHITE
INDIAN

2016
COLOURED35%

33%
22%

9%
1%

BLACK
WHITE
INDIAN
FOREIGN

2015

2015
PRINT89%

11% OTHER
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GROUP STRUCTURE

*  Novus Academy is a supporting service to the Novus Holdings Group of companies.

Subdivisions

Division DivisionDivision Novus Academy*

A market leader in converting paper and pulp into products

Labels including 
other flexible 

packaging products

Tissue  
products

World-class training 
facility instrumental 

in upskilling the 
industry

Publication  
printing

(Heatset)

(Coldset)

Number of full-time 
employees helping to ensure 
our leadership position in the 
industry: 2 003 (2015: 1 915)
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GEOGRAPHIC FOOTPRINT

COLDSET DIVISIONS HEATSET DIVISIONS

LABELS DIVISION TISSUE DIVISION

In addition to these operations in key metropolitan areas, flexible logistics solutions enable the distribution of 
products and services both locally and internationally.

PIETERMARITZBURG

PORT ELIZABETH

BLOEMFONTEIN

JOHANNESBURG

DURBAN

CAPE TOWN/PAARL

Paarl

Cape Town

Port Elizabeth

Durban

Pietermaritzburg

Bloemfontein

Johannesburg

14 NOVUS HOLDINGS
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Nigeria

Cameroon

Angola

Botswana

South Africa

Namibia

Guinea

Ghana

Democratic 
Republic of the 

Congo

Zimbabwe
Mozambique

Swaziland

Lesotho

Malawi

Rwanda

MARKET FOOTPRINT

OPERATIONS

MARKETS

15INTEGRATED REPORT 2016

Uganda
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NOVUS HOLDINGS: FROM PAST TO PRESENT
Novus Holdings traces its business history back to the formation of the Group in 2000. Its key development periods 
since then are as follows:

Paarl Post Web Printers went through a rapid growth 
phase and merged with Nasionale Media. Lambert 
Retief becomes the first chief executive officer of the 
newly formed Group.

The Natal Witness printing plant was acquired and 
renamed Paarl Coldset Pietermaritzburg. Further 
substantial investments were made to upgrade and 
improve the printing facility to introduce a high 
degree of technological automation.

Stephen van der Walt was promoted to chief 
executive officer of the Group, while Lambert Retief 
became chairman. 

The Group obtained an additional effective 13,5% 
empowerment shareholding through the Welkom 
Yizani scheme from Media24. Print24 and Paarl 
Post were acquired from Media24 and Huguenot 
Investments, and renamed Paarl Coldset to enhance 
the core printing facilities available to the Group’s 
clients. The Group also became the first African 
printer to receive a Forestry Stewardship Council® 
(FSC®) – FSC-C022948 Chain of Custody (CoC) 
certification at the following plants: Paarl Media 
Cape, Paarl Media Gauteng, Paarl Media Paarl and 
Paarl Coldset (all plants).

Paarl Media Paarl plant was re-established at the 
Paarl Web premises and Paarl Coldset consolidated its 
infrastructure to centralise operations and enhance 
technology implemented across operations. 

The Paarl Media Bursary Trust was also established to 
create career opportunities in a number of different 
industries for committed learners.

Generating capacity and automated switch-gear was 
installed at all sites.

2000

The Group acquired National Book Printers and  
Paarl Print that were then consolidated into Paarl 
Printing Proprietary Limited. Renamed Paarl Print,  
it concluded a BEE deal with Vakazi Holdings and  
Edu Access for a combined stake in the business. 

Paarl Web Gauteng was launched with Kurisani 
Investments as a B-BBEE shareholder. Kurisani 
Investments consequently acquired shares in Paarl 
Print and Paarl Labels, the latter established as  
a separate entity.

2001 – 2005

The physical amalgamation of Paarl Gravure and  
Paarl Web into Paarl Media Cape was finalised, 
offering both heatset web offset and publication 
gravure printing for high- to medium-volume 
commercial work, magazines and catalogues.  
A new printing factory was established in KwaZulu-
Natal and Paarl Print renamed Paarl Media Paarl.

2010

The Paarl Media Academy of Print was launched  
as a training facility for company employees 
(renamed Novus Academy in 2015).

2011

2012

2006 – 2009

GROUP AT A GLANCE
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Intrepid Printers, based in KwaZulu-Natal, was 
acquired to improve the Group’s ability to provide 
a wider range of printing options to customers in 
KwaZulu-Natal.

Paarl Media Group turned from a private to a public 
company, changed its name to Novus Holdings and 
listed on the JSE with a majority of its directors 
being independent non-executives.

The Group diversified into digital print by acquiring 
Digital Print Solutions, its first acquisition since its 
listing on the JSE. 

The Programme for the Endorsement of  
Forest Certification™ (PEFC™) was received at  
Paarl Media KZN.

Installation of a packaging gravure press by Paarl 
Labels at the Paarl Media Cape facility, signalling the 
Group’s intent to diversify its revenue streams into 
the flexible packaging market.

The Future Foundations Initiative was launched 
in 2015 as the Group’s primary corporate social 
investment (CSI) programme with the aim of 
supporting the improvement of education across 
South Africa.

Paarl Media Gauteng celebrated its 10th anniversary.

Paarl Media Commercial was launched and Correll 
Tissue acquired, allowing the Group to use its paper 
waste products. 

The Programme for the Endorsement of Forest 
Certification™ (PEFC™) – PEFC/01-31-346 Chain of 
Custody certification was received at Paarl Media 
Paarl and Paarl Media Cape.1

A biomass boiler was commissioned and became 
operational, reducing electrical dependency for  
steam generation.

Digital Print Solutions and Paarl Media Paarl 
amalgamated to form Novus Print Solutions, boosting 
the Group’s print capability and bringing digital and 
sheet-fed printing together under one roof.

Stephen van der Walt, appointed as chief executive 
officer in 2005, resigned in February 2016. Keith Vroon 
was appointed as acting CEO with effect from  
31 March 2016.

The systematic repurchase of Kurisani Investments’ 
minority interests in Novus Holdings resulted in the 
investment group’s exit as a BEE partner.

Paarl Coldset received integrated certification 
with regards to ISO: 9001 (Quality), ISO: 14001 
(Environmental) and OHSAS: 18001 (Occupational 
Health and Safety) standards for each of its five plants 
across separate locations.

Paarl Labels celebrated its 10th anniversary. 

2015

2014

2016

1   FSC® and PEFC™’s Chain of Custody certifications are mechanisms for sustainable forest management and for tracking certified 
materials from the forest to the final product.

2013
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OWNERSHIP PROFILE

NOVUS HOLDINGS

Media24

61,2%

Institutional  
investors

25,2%

Novus Holdings
share trust

7,0%

Other non-public 
investors

6,6%

GROUP AT A GLANCE
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ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS

Top 15 shareholders 
(by parent company) Number of shares²

Percentage
 of issued 

voting capital

Cumulative 
percentage of 

issued voting capital

Media241 212 500 000 61,18 61,18
Novus Holdings Share Trust1 24 313 272 7,00 68,18
Adbait1 19 545 857 5,63 73,81
Allan Gray 16 268 584 4,68 78,49
36ONE Asset Management 14 933 885 4,30 82,79
Prudential Portfolio Managers 14 348 499 4,13 86,92
Investec Asset Management 9 217 713 2,65 89,57
Electus Equity Specialists 6 953 439 2,00 91,57
Sanlam Investment Management 6 090 102 1,75 93,32
Bateleur Capital 5 218 314 1,50 94,82
Latiano 554 Proprietary Limited¹ 3 473 325 1,00 95,82
Deutsche Bank 2 254 939 0,65 96,47
Coronation Fund Managers 1 967 939 0,57 97,04
Efficient Select 1 451 502 0,42 97,46
Eskom Pension and Provident Fund 1 052 876 0,30 97,76

¹  Directors, employees and related parties.
²  Shareholding inclusive of treasury shares.

Stock exchange performance

2016 20151

Number of shares in issue 347 332 454 347 332 454
Number of shares traded 38 891 803 314 360
Value of shares traded R512 735 188 R5 261 013
Market price (cents per share)
Closing price 1 150 1 680
High 1 870 2 500
Low 901 1 600
Earnings yield percentage (HEPS) 11,1% 7,6%
Price: earnings ratio (HEPS) 8,2 13,2

1  Novus Holdings listed on 31 March 2015. Therefore the 2015 statistics above reflect only one day of trading on the JSE.

Public and non-public shareholdings

Number of 
shareholders

Percentage 
of total 

shareholders
Number of 

shares in issue1

Percentage 
of issued 

share capital

Public 1 105 99,82 87 500 000 27,38
Non-public 2 0,18 232 045 857 72,62
Total 1 107 100,00 319 545 857 100,00
1 Number of shares in issue net of treasury shares.
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Distribution of shareholders per category

Number of 
shareholders

Percentage
 of total

 shareholders
Number of 

shares in issue1

Percentage 
of issued 

share capital

Individuals 843 76,15 3 535 538 1,11
Private companies 11 0,99 232 096 324 72,63
Pubic companies – – – –
Nominees and trusts 38 3,43 2 112 685 0,66
Banks 1 0,09 2 254 939 0,71
Insurance companies 14 1,26 660 086 0,21
Pension funds and medical 
aid societies 114 10,30 14 842 640 4,64
Collective investment 
schemes and mutual funds 86 7,77 64 043 645 20,04
Total 1 107 100,00 319 545 857 100,00
1 Number of shares in issue net of treasury shares.

Shareholder spread (by beneficial owner)

Number of 
shareholders

Percentage
 of total

 shareholders
Number of 

shares in issue1

Percentage 
of issued 

share capital

1 – 1 000 375 33,90 167 335 0,05
1 001 – 50 000 604 54,60 5 061 308 1,58
50 001 – 100 000 34 3,10 2 461 584 0,77
100 001 – 10 000 000 92 8,30 79 809 773 24,98
10 000 001 and above 2 0,20 232 045 857 72,62
Total 1 107 100,00 319 545 857 100,00
1 Number of shares in issue net of treasury shares.

Directors’ interests in shares
No directors of Novus Holdings have direct or indirect interest in shares apart from share options granted by  
the Group. Share options granted by the Group are disclosed in note 15 in the annual financial statements from 
page 171.

GROUP AT A GLANCE
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CASE STUDY 
Sustainability elements of printing

Novus Holdings recognises the impact of print 
production processes on natural resources. The 
Group has invested more than R100 million since 
2005 in environmentally responsible practices to 
ensure its operations have the smallest possible 
environmental impact. 

Novus Holdings continues to eliminate emissions 
and reduce its carbon footprint in a variety of ways:
−  The Correll Tissue operation enables the Group 

to turn suitable paper waste from its print 
activities into a reusable tissue paper product.

−  A biomass boiler at Paarl Media Cape uses 
wood chips from alien vegetation rather 
than electricity or coal to generate the steam 
needed to power the gravure printing press – 
with virtually no carbon footprint.

−  A full in-house service from prepress to 
finishing minimises transport.

−  Automated production processes reduce 
energy requirements and improve efficiency.

−  Novus Holdings received independent 
verification that its printed products can 
be traced back from their point of origin 
to responsible, well-managed forestry, and 
controlled and recycled resources.

The Group joined forces with the Two Sides 
Initiative – a not-for-profit organisation focused on 
dispelling environmental misconceptions about the 
print and paper industry. The Initiative is committed 
to improving industry practice and emphasises that 
paper production should support sustainable forest 
management. Novus Holdings supports this by 
choosing suppliers that purchase and use certified 
wood fibre, and subscribe to sustainable forest 
management policies and practices.

By ensuring responsibility in its sourcing and 
operations, Novus Holdings is committed to reduce, 
reuse and recycle waste while still delivering 
superior quality products that increase customer 
confidence in the industry.

AWARDS AND CERTIFICATIONS 
−  Paarl Media KZN was certified with the coveted 

Programme for the Endorsement of Forest 
Certification™ (PEFC™) – PEFC/01-31-346 Chain of 
Custody certification. Paarl Media Cape and Novus 
Print Solutions, formerly Paarl Media Paarl, have 
been awarded this certification in the past.

−  Paarl Media Cape, Paarl Media Gauteng, Novus Print 
Solutions, formerly Paarl Media Paarl, and Paarl 
Coldset remain certified by the Forest Stewardship 
Council® FSC-C022948 Chain of Custody (CoC).

−  All of Novus Holdings’ printing operations received 
OHSAS 18001 certification, an international 
certification that recognises a high standard of 
control over occupational health and safety risks. 

−  Paarl Coldset received ISO 14001 certification, 
which provides assurance that environmental 
impact is being measured and improved, as well 
as ISO 9001:2015 certification, the world’s most 
recognised quality management standard. All of 
Novus Holdings’ printing operations now hold  
ISO 9001:2015 certification. 

−  Paarl Coldset is the only operation of its kind in 
Africa to hold three certifications for each of its 
five plants across separate locations.

−  Novus Academy was recognised at the Fibre 
Processing & Manufacturing Sector Education and 
Training Authority (FP&M SETA) Skills Development 
Recognition Awards 2014/2015 for Best Practice 
Workplace Provider in the Apprenticeships category.

−  Paarl Media Gauteng received reaccrediation 
from Printsecure. This accreditation recognises 
that Paarl Media Gauteng has the necessary 
processes and procedures in place to provide  
a qualified secure printing and finishing service 
for general security printing.

−  Paarl Labels remained ISO 22000:2005 certified. 
This certification provides assurance of compliance 
with food safety management systems’ 
requirements in respect of the products produced 
at Paarl Labels.
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SERVICE OFFERING
The products offered by Novus Holdings are supported 
by a range of services that ensure the finished print 
product is delivered to clients as efficiently as possible, 
without any compromise on quality. 

These services include:
–  Digital integration: Digital integration of the 

prepress departments provides seamless transfer 
of files between plants, facilitating the printing 
of one product in different locations, on identical 
platforms, where it best suits customers. This 
reduces distribution costs and turnaround times, 
minimising the Group’s carbon footprint.

–  Quality control: Quality control to deliver crisp, full 
spectrum colour publication gravure reproduction 
over millions of copies.

–  Production risk management: Production risk 
management that includes ISO certification, 
approximately three months of key raw 
material stockholding, and long-term repair and 
maintenance agreements.

–  Comprehensive flexible logistics solutions: 
Comprehensive flexible logistics solutions provide 
for the distribution of products and services locally 
and internationally.

PRODUCTS
Novus Holdings’ ability to innovate and diversify ensures 
that no single product or service offering contributes 
in excess of 30% of the Group’s total revenue. This 
safeguards business sustainability in the future. While 
print remains the core business of Novus Holdings, 
the Group recognises the opportunity for growth and 
expansion through labels, flexible packaging and tissue 
products. These represent a new offering outside the 
traditional print business.

GROUP AT A GLANCE
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Product offering

Product category Elements Capabilities

Retail inserts  
and catalogues

–  Brochures, leaflets and 
catalogues

– Reports and calendars 
–  Retail inserts for the 

majority of South African 
retailers

–  Fully automated production processes and high-speed 
presses ensure fast turnaround times 

–  Inline finishing capabilities deliver finished products 
directly off the press 

–  Press technology allows delivery of inserts complete off  
the press

–  Strategic geographical plant locations ensure fast and 
efficient distribution

–  Fully automated inserting lines offer quick and efficient 
inserting of retail inserts into newspapers

Newspapers –  Daily, weekly and  
community newspapers

–  Caters for large and smaller print runs in a variety of 
formats

– High-quality coldset printing on uncoated papers
– Plants based in main centres
– Workflow system reduces turnaround times

Security products – Election ballots
–  Examination materials and 

assessments 
–  Any other security-related 

printing

− Paarl Media Gauteng is a registered security printer 
−  Confidentiality of material is guaranteed and verification 

of barcodes provide clear audit trail 
–  Inclusion of sophisticated design techniques to deter 

counterfeiting and falsification

Books and 
directories

–  Workbooks for the 
Department of Basic 
Education

–  Hard and soft cover books  
for leading publishers 

– Telephone directories

−  Various press technologies provide access to the most 
appropriate print solution for each format of book 

−  Special quality effects on book covers such as spot 
colours and UV varnishing 

−  High-speed saddle stitching, thread sewing, perfect 
(PUR) binding and hand binding services 

−  Specific software is used to manage and control 
complexities

Magazines –  Audit Bureau of Circulations 
(ABC)-listed magazines, 
trade magazines, club 
magazines and free to-
market magazines

–  High-volume publications to medium runs of specialised 
magazines

– Flexibility in formats and paper stock
–  Binding options include high-speed saddle stitching and 

perfect (PUR) binding 
– Machine and hand insertion of marketing material
– Bagging in clear or printed plastic

Labels and 
flexibles

–  High-quality labels for the 
wine, beer, spirit, cosmetics, 
petrochemical, food and 
beverage markets

–  Sophisticated press technology provides the flexibility to 
produce labels for every packaging requirement

–  A range of adhesive and backing material options 
available to clients

– Speciality printed and unprinted

Tissue –  One- and two-ply toilet rolls
– Jumbo wadding

–  Tissue paper produced for leading local and house brands
–  Production of domestic tissue paper through the 

effective use of waste paper from other printing 
operations

– Supplies parent reels to other tissue converters
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Stakeholder Touch points and further information

Communities Novus Holdings has a long history of investing in the communities in which it operates, 
through projects such as the Future Foundations Initiative.

Read more in the community section on page 27.

Employees Novus Holdings has 2 003 full-time employees spread over South Africa. Employee-
related focus areas include remuneration, training and safety.

Read more about employee initiatives in the operations report from page 77.
Read more about remuneration in the remuneration report on page 109.

Government Novus Holdings’ most significant interaction with Government is through the 
Department of Basic Education (DBE). The Group has serviced several tenders for the 
printing of educational workbooks for the DBE over the past few years. Interaction 
with governments in the rest of Africa has focused on several ad hoc African and 
governmental projects related to books and democracy initiatives, which include 
elections and census-related printing products.

Industry bodies Novus Holdings is a registered member of the Printing Industries Federation of South 
Africa (PIFSA), which is recognised as the official mouthpiece of the printing and 
packaging industry in the country. The Group plays an active role in various printing 
initiatives undertaken by PIFSA.

Investors and 
analysts

Novus Holdings facilitates regular engagement and consistent communication with 
investors, analysts and potential shareholders. This includes on-site visits with analysts 
to facilitate an understanding of the size and scale of the Group’s operations. Investor 
sentiment studies help Novus Holdings to identify the needs of the investor community, 
enabling the Group to tailor presentations and communications going forward. Main 
interests include new business divisions and regions, access to management, and 
capital allocation. Further investor presentations will be held with biannual results 
announcements.

Read more about Novus Holdings’ shareholder analysis on page 19.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
The Novus Holdings brand and communications team 
carry the accountability for messaging and marketing to 
its stakeholder groups. However, stakeholder feedback 
and engagement is decentralised and managed on  
a business and divisional basis with board support, 
where appropriate. 

Executives are closely involved in all key relationships. 
Extensive media monitoring is conducted to manage 
any reputational risk to the Group.

GROUP AT A GLANCE
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Stakeholder Touch points and further information

Publishers and  
media houses

This stakeholder group includes publishers and publishing houses, as well as advertising 
and marketing agencies, which contract with Novus Holdings for the printing of books, 
magazines, newspapers, retail inserts and catalogues.

Retail and 
commercial clients

Novus Holdings has printing contracts and longstanding relationships with the majority 
of retailers. Many of these clients are sensitive to the environmental impact of the print 
and manufacturing sector. Novus Holdings’ dedication to the preservation of natural 
resources, while operating under tight deadlines and maintaining a high standard of 
production, has resulted in many clients becoming dependent on the Group’s product 
and service offering.

Read more about environmental stewardship on page 87.

Suppliers Novus Holdings’ suppliers comprise local and international raw material and print 
equipment providers. Contracts with equipment suppliers include long-term repair 
and maintenance agreements, and suppliers are selected according to the reliability of 
supply, range of products, quality, responsible sourcing practices and pricing.
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Stakeholder Novus Holdings’ value creation

Communities As a responsible corporate citizen, Novus Holdings has a long history of investing in the 
various communities in which it operates. The Group achieves this by providing products 
and financial support to help uplift communities in need, focusing on education and skills 
development.

Employees Novus Holdings’ employees are the Group’s most valuable asset, supported through  
the creation of jobs, remuneration and improvement of skills.

Government As a proudly South African organisation, Novus Holdings is committed to skills 
development and job creation. The Group facilitates learning through the production 
and delivery of educational material.

Industry bodies Novus Holdings operates in a competitive and challenging environment and it is 
important for the Group to build on existing relationships with relevant industry 
bodies to help influence change and decision making. Novus Holdings is committed 
to participating with industry bodies to improve sustainability, competitiveness and 
performance.

Investors and 
analysts

Novus Holdings has a duty to help investors make informed decisions and secure 
the investment case amongst existing and potential shareholders. The Group is also 
committed to creating value for shareholders by generating financial returns  
on investments and capital growth.

Publishers,  
media houses and 
advertising

The Group creates value to publishers, media houses, advertisers and marketing 
agencies by providing a medium that presents intellectual capital created and that 
conveys targeted content for various audiences.

Retail and 
commercial clients

The success of Novus Holdings can be attributed to strong client relationships and 
exceptional client service. The Group aims to become a trusted partner to all clients with 
a focus on improving consumer awareness and appeal, leading to sales.

Suppliers Local and international supplier relationships are critically important to the continued 
success of Novus Holdings. To support this relationship the Group creates value for 
suppliers by providing a market for paper and print-related raw materials and services.

Through the production and distribution of paper-based information and utility products, Novus Holdings creates 
value for its stakeholders in the following ways:
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Community 
Novus Holdings is committed to making a sustainable 
difference in the communities in which it operates 
through strategic social investments.

The Future Foundations Initiative, launched in 2015, 
is the Group’s primary CSI programme. It supports the 
improvement of education across the country, and 
aims to build a strong foundation for future growth 
by focusing on skills development and community 
engagement. The initiative is based on the approach 
of giving “a hand-up, not a hand-out” to ensure the 
long-term sustainability of projects by empowering 
communities to operate on their own.

The Group’s CSI strategy further encourages every 
division and entity across South Africa to drive social 
investment activities in surrounding communities, with 
a specific focus on education. Group CSI guidelines 
ensure that investments are made in an efficient and 
accordant manner. This includes:
−  Providing guidelines for social investment that 

enable divisions to align with the Group’s CSI 
objectives

−  Streamlining investment by targeting focus areas 
and ensuring that objectives are attained

−  Filtering of requests that do not necessarily  
align with the Group’s CSI objectives  
(www.futurefoundations.co.za)

CASE STUDY 
Community engagement through the  

Emagqabini Education Academy

The Emagqabini Education Academy is the pilot 
project of the Future Foundations Initiative. Based  
in Khayelitsha in the Western Cape, the Academy 
is an after-school programme focused on helping 
Grade 8 to 10 learners improve their grades across  
all subjects, particularly mathematics and science.

The Academy was selected as a pilot project as 
it aligns with the Future Foundation’s focus on 
education and skills development, while taking 
into account the Department of Education’s focus 
on strengthening the quality of mathematics and 
science education in South Africa.

Novus Holdings assisted the Academy with its 
basic start-up needs and provided stationery and 
equipment to improve its tutoring capacity. The 
Group also supported the Academy with NGO 
registration and other business requirements, 
including:
−  A cash donation to assist in the transport of 

tutors and learners
−  The printing of the Academy’s application forms, 

which were distributed to various schools within 
the Khayelitsha community

−  Branded jackets, which were donated to 
students who attended tutoring

Following Novus Holdings’ support, the Academy 
is now sustainable and can operate on its own with 
63 registered learners who attend regularly. Novus 
Holdings plans to strengthen its relationship with 
the Academy by assisting with additional projects in 
the next year, including providing internships and job 
shadowing opportunities within the Group.
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The resilience of Novus 
Holdings is owed to its loyal 
customer base, diversified  
and quality product offerings, 
and its ability to innovate and 
offer unique propositions to  
an evolving market in a 
changing landscape.
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OPERATING ENVIRONMENT  
AND MATERIAL MATTERS
Novus Holdings focuses on the segments in print media 
that have high barriers to entry, require specialised 
skills sets and present opportunities to aggregate.

In sub-Saharan Africa, the focus is on the growing retail 
industry, education linked to literacy, and democracy 
programmes, flexible packaging and tissue.

Growth in retail is linked to the fortunes of a country’s 
economy. While some countries in sub-Saharan Africa 
continue to show robust growth, others are in decline. 
Unfortunately South Africa, one of the continent’s 
most significant markets, is experiencing a prolonged 
period of stunted growth.

The devaluation of the rand over the past financial year 
has sharply affected the local market. Increases and 
fluctuations in the exchange rate result in less frequent 
print runs, often on lower-grammage paper and with 
reduced page counts. This may drive closures in titles, 
particularly magazines and directories.

Imported paper cost is set to increase in foreign 
currency terms. This, coupled with a severely devalued 
rand, will result in paper price increases at a level 
substantially higher than inflation.

Gross domestic product (GDP) growth remains a 
concern and will negatively impact the volumes of 
magazines and newspapers, with marginal impact on the 
high-end book market. Many of these products are seen 
as luxury goods and are susceptible to tight economic 
conditions when retail spend and discretionary income 
is curtailed by buyers. Retail trade magazines have, 
however, shown good growth and promise to be  
a potential area for Novus Holdings.

Many sub-Saharan countries are fledgling democracies 
and this has provided opportunities to enter the donor-
funded educational and ballot markets. There is also 
potential for involvement in literacy and workbook 
programmes. This promises to be a growth area.

Volume newspapers are only evident in South Africa. 
While some weekend newspapers have had a strong 
showing, paid-for daily newspapers, and newspaper 
usage in general, remain in decline. Advertising in print 
media has also declined, while television continues to 
demand the highest percentage of advertising spend.

Growth in tissues and labels is in excess of the GDP 
forecast for South Africa. Considering that Novus 
Holdings is still in the process of growing its market share 
for both offerings, this means there is good potential for 
volume growth.

Tissue demand is increasing significantly in sub-Saharan 
Africa, with local, annual growth expected at around 
7%. With Novus Holdings’ currently small market share, 
this means ample room for expansion. Similarly, labels 
provide a multitude of growth options. This includes 
gaining market share in the flexible packaging arena 
through new fast-moving consumer goods (FMCG) 
clients, and extending the labels offering to include 
labels for wraparound beverages and canned goods 
labels. This will give us access to new market sectors 
and geographic markets.

INDUSTRY RISKS
Companies such as Novus Holdings, which operate in 
the print and related manufacturing industry, typically 
face the following strategic risks:
−  Economic policies and patterns: Increased 

unemployment and pressures in the credit market 
have led to slowing growth rates. To mitigate 
this risk, Novus Holdings is investing in products 
that have higher growth and “price inelasticity of 
demand” qualities, for example, tissue products 
and wet glue labels. Production efficiency 
programmes in the core business continue.

−  The majority of material and equipment 
suppliers being situated outside of South Africa: 
Maintenance service and expertise from suppliers 
of printing machinery and other crucial equipment 
could be under threat due to recent insolvencies. 
To mitigate this risk, Novus Holdings ensures 
maintenance agreements are in place with major 
equipment suppliers. Where continuous service is 
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uncertain, expertise is being entrenched in-house 
and sufficient spare parts are stocked to ensure 
ready availability. Comprehensive insurance is  
in place.

−  Key infrastructure failure (Eskom, water  
supply, etc.): This includes power outages, failure 
of IT infrastructure, water supply cut offs and 
general unavailability of production facilities due to 
an unforeseen event. To mitigate this risk, Novus 
Holdings has put disaster recovery and business 
continuity plans in place. Generators are installed  
in all facilities and include automated switch gear.  
Water tank systems and pumps are installed.

−  Labour activism: Unionised strike action among 
employees that results in an interruption in any 
area of the business could lead to loss of income, 
as well as possible physical damage to assets. To 
mitigate this risk, Novus Holdings ensures regular 
communication with labour unions, maintains 
positive employment conditions, and enforces 
standardisation of terms and conditions of 
employment. Comprehensive short-term insurance 
is in place.

−  Health and safety incidents: Serious injury or 
death caused by non-compliance with relevant 
legislation may lead to criminal liability and 
penalties. To mitigate this risk, Novus Holdings 
ensures that regular health and safety reviews 
are performed. External independent audits are 
performed annually. Remedial action is taken 
where appropriate. Employee health and safety 
training programmes are in place. 

−  Exchange rate volatility: Substantial input costs 
are denominated in foreign currency. This includes 
paper, printing equipment, consumables, spares 
and maintenance. To mitigate this risk, Novus 
Holdings has an internal policy that governs the 
management of foreign currency risk through 
forward exchange contracts (FECs). This limits the 
financial impact and uncertainty resulting from 
currency shifts.

−  Regulatory issues: Regulatory pressure on the 
print media industry has increased in recent years, 
placing the Group under continuous scrutiny. To 
mitigate this risk, Novus Holdings engages with 
legal and expert advisors to identify and address 
potential risks. The Group ensures it complies with 
all relevant legislation.

Read more about Novus Holdings’ risks and 
mitigating actions on pages 106 to 108.

NOVUS HOLDINGS’ POSITIONING AND 
STRATEGIC RESPONSE
Although the economy has seen limited growth in 
recent years, the Group has managed to increase 
market share and business offerings. The resilience 
of Novus Holdings is owed to its loyal customer base, 
diversified and quality product offerings, and its 
ability to innovate and offer unique propositions to an 
evolving market in a changing landscape.

The business operates entirely in South Africa. 
Predominantly, it services the South African market,  
but has earmarked the rest of sub-Saharan Africa as 
part of its growth strategy.

Read more about the Novus Holdings strategy on 
page 43.

MATERIAL MATTERS
The Novus Holdings operating environment, risks and 
opportunities, stakeholder feedback and strategy raise 
a comprehensive range of concerns, issues, objectives 
and interests, some of which could impact on the 
Group’s ability to ensure a sustainable business future. 
It is these matters, most material to the Group’s ability 
to create value, that are considered in compiling  
this report.

Novus Holdings’ material matters were identified 
in 2015 through an externally facilitated materiality 
workshop and reviewed at the beginning of the 2016 
content development process.
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While all matters identified in 2015 remained relevant 
(with limited movement in likelihood and impact), 
it was decided that a more robust description and 
explanation of the material matters was required for 

the 2016 report. Formal stakeholder feedback received 
during the year was tested against the material 
matters, and included investors interviews and surveys, 
customers and supplier surveys and internal feedback. 

Impact

Growth in the South African economy:
−  World Bank’s latest forecast of  

0,8% in 2016
− Inflationary pressures
−  Rising interest rates stifling 

economic growth
− Curb in Government spending
− Rising unemployment rates

Growth in sub-Saharan Africa –  
a target market of Novus Holdings –  
is better than in South Africa. However, 
access to funding and liquidity issues 
pose concerns, for example the current 
liquidity issues experienced by the 
Group in Mozambique.

Global trends indicate decreased 
requirement for printed matter. 
Although not as pronounced in South 
Africa, the impact of digitalisation is  
felt in volumes.

Servicing the current print customer base remains a priority. With state of the art production equipment throughout  
South Africa and an expanded offering through digital printing, Novus Holdings is ideally positioned to provide its client base with the 
widest range of printing services.

In addition to bedding down current diversification businesses, Novus Holdings will continue to search for investment opportunities in 
the manufacturing sector with the aim of further diversifying revenue streams.

Novus Holdings operates in  
various markets.

Printed magazine and newspaper 
circulation is easily affected by 
fluctuations in disposable income.  
This is due to the availability of 
substitutes.

Demand for retail inserts and books  
is anticipated to remain fairly stable.

Growth in tissue consumption is 
expected to be in excess of inflationary 
growth.

The Group is investigating entries  
into various wet glue label and  
flexible product markets.

– Decrease in sales volumes
– Potential bad debts
–  Potential streamlining or 

restructuring
–  Rising production costs beyond 

what can be recovered from clients 
leading to margin squeeze

Macro-trend Material matter  
(definition and context)

Response and ambitions for 2017

Chief executive officer’s report from page 64.
Five-year strategic business plan on page 47.
The Novus Holdings’ operating environment on page 31.

GROWTH OPPORTUNITIES
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Uncertainty in the South African market 
due to lack of economic growth and 
political instability fuels the threat of  
re-rating of the local economy. This 
affects local and foreign investment.

Acquisition opportunities in the 
market tend to be overvalued, creating 
the risk of sub-optimal returns versus 
acquisition price.

Novus Holdings’ core business is  
in decline and at risk, and therefore 
there is a need for diversification.  
These projects may require both 
internal and external funding  
(reserves and external financiers).

Upward interest rates stifle economic 
growth as credit becomes more 
expensive. This leads to the suspension 
of projects.

Lack of new funding as investors shy 
away from the JSE, which leads to non-
performance of stocks.

Financial review from page 68.
The Novus Holdings’ business model on page 52.

ImpactMacro-trend Material matter  
(definition and context)

Novus Holdings has an ungeared balance sheet, which provides the Group with the ability to gear itself for future acquisitions.

A good cash flow and cash conversion ratio, which demonstrates the Group’s ability to turn profits into cash and service debt.

Novus Holdings is cognisant of investors’ requirements for operating within the dividend policy.

Response and ambitions for 2017

CAPITAL AVAILABILITY FOR STRATEGIC ACQUISITIONS AND DIVERSIFICATION
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Skills shortage in South Africa, 
especially technical staff.

Low pass rates in science and 
mathematics, which has a knock-on 
effect on tertiary education.

Manufacturing has become  
a less-preferred career route,  
leading to a lack of critical skills.

Production inefficiencies leading to 
production downtime, bottlenecks, 
quality issues and rising human 
resources (HR) costs to attract the 
right talent.

Novus Holdings needs to ensure 
that the correct level of expertise 
is involved at each stage of the 
production process to maintain service 
delivery levels to clients.

Operations report from page 77.

ImpactMacro-trend Material matter  
(definition and context)

The Novus Academy is significant in attracting and educating talent to ensure successful uptake into the main operations of  
Novus Holdings.

Succession planning on all levels through HR processes.

A recruitment database ensures a constant pool of skills when positions become available.

Multi-skilling and upskilling workforce at plant level.

Response and ambitions for 2017

SKILLS AVAILABILITY AND RETENTION (INCLUDING SUCCESSION PLANNING)
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ImpactMacro-trend Material matter  
(definition and context)

Continuing trend towards 
digitalisation, where media is 
increasingly consumed in an electronic 
format, as opposed to a more 
traditional printed format. 

Advertisers spending less on  
printing (magazines and newspapers) 
and more on electronic means 
(television being the major winner).

Smaller print runs, as publishers aim to 
be more efficient and minimise waste.

Up-to-date media consumption  
on electronic platforms preferred to 
paper based. 

Digital advertising as opposed to 
traditional paper based.

Publishers opting for digital print 
methods, sometimes even opting to 
print “books of one”.

Declining readership for print  
media resulting in loss of revenue. 
This eventually leads to magazines and 
newspapers becoming unprofitable, 
which results in the closure of 
publications.

DIGITAL MEDIA MIGRATION AND NEW TECHNOLOGY

The Novus Holdings operating environment on page 31.
The five-year strategic business plan from page 47. 

Response and ambitions for 2017

Expansion of product offering under Novus Print Solutions to service the requirement for smaller print runs with equipment dedicated 
to the short run market. This would, where necessary, also expand into offering warehousing solutions to clients.
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ImpactMacro-trend Material matter  
(definition and context)

Customers are continuously looking 
to derive more value from their print 
spend, or alternatively, to decrease 
their print spend. This has an impact 
on client satisfaction, which could 
result in changes to suppliers.

Dependence on major customers  
for large part of revenue.

Risk of concentration as a result of  
over-dependence on a few customers.

Chief executive officer’s report from page 64.
Stakeholder engagement from page 24.

KEY ACCOUNTS/CONTRACTS WITH MAJOR CUSTOMERS 

Response and ambitions for 2017

Novus Holdings’ key strength is the ability to deliver on long-run work with limited competitors in the volume market.

The success of Novus Holdings as a business-to-business company is based on the Group’s ability to maintain strong client 
relationships, supported by exceptional client service, to ensure the Group remains a trusted business partner.

Proactive engagement with major clients on input costs to actively look for more cost-efficient solutions.

Actively looking for alternative markets in the sub-Saharan African region to fill capacity and maintain economies of scale.
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Novus Holdings operations report from page 77.

ImpactMacro-trend Material matter  
(definition and context)

Industry trend of closures and mergers 
due to falling volumes, resulting in 
printers with excess capacity. This is 
anticipated to continue in the future.

Trend toward diversified product 
offerings.

Management needs to actively manage 
production efficiencies to extract 
utmost value from machine time and 
labour hours.

Current capacity can cater for peaks  
in production. These need to be scaled 
back outside of busy periods to avoid 
incurring unnecessary costs. This 
requires the efficient management of 
 a fixed cost base.

Permanent decline in print volumes 
may lead to idle time.

Inability to manage fixed costs during 
idle periods will result in a less ideal 
return on shareholder funds.

Response and ambitions for 2017

Implementation of new enterprise resource planning (ERP) systems to assist in improved efficiency drives.

Incentive-based remuneration – setting efficiency targets in plants.

Matching production capacity to market demand.

CAPACITY USE AND EFFICIENCY 
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Novus Holdings operations report from page 77.
Novus Holdings business model from page 52. 

ImpactMacro-trend Material matter  
(definition and context)

SECURITY OF SUPPLY OF RAW MATERIAL (PARTICULARLY PAPER)

Global cost pressure affecting paper 
mills making it unsustainable to 
continue.

Rising pulp prices affecting input costs 
on paper, label and tissue products.

Paper suppliers focus on offering 
alternatives to traditional products.

Closure of Sappi’s local facilities that 
produced coated paper resulted in  
a larger import requirement.

With most of the paper requirements 
being imported, specific procedures 
need to be put in place to ensure  
a constant, uninterrupted supply.

Where local suppliers are involved  
it is equally important to ensure 
longevity of supply.

Rising input costs, which are not  
easily passed on to consumers.

Unsuitable paper supply leading to 
discontinuance of certain lines.

Response and ambitions for 2017

Long standing supplier agreements.

Sourcing from credible suppliers who comply with global best practices, especially in terms of responsible business practices.

Novus Holdings embarks on a tender process for inputs with proper screening of suppliers annually so as to ensure compliance with 
quality (ISO) and sustainability (FSC, PEFC or other applicable) practices.
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Novus Holdings operations report from page 77.

Response and ambitions for 2017

Continuous monitoring against internal targets and previous year performance; monitored at the highest level through  
the audit and risk committee.

Novus Holdings has never been found guilty of contravening legislation and intends to retain this status.

Macro-trend

More stringent and changing 
legislation.

Impact

Loss of production time due to 
accidents.

Closures or fines due to contravention  
of health and safety laws.

Material matter  
(definition and context)

Operating in a manufacturing 
environment that can be potentially 
dangerous to employees due to the 
machinery and production inputs used.

LABOUR HEALTH AND SAFETY

EXCHANGE RATE AND COST MANAGEMENT 

Financial review from page 68.

ImpactMacro-trend Material matter  
(definition and context)

South Africa’s declining exchange rate 
results in the import of paper, ink 
and capital machinery, among others, 
being more expensive, which leads to 
inflationary pressures.

Inputs are more expensive, and 
an inability to pass on increases to 
customers leads to margin squeeze.

Paper accounts for 50% of Novus 
Holdings’ expenses, approximately half 
of which is imported.

The input cost of imported raw 
materials is expensive.

Oversupply in the print market leads 
to customers dictating the pricing 
behaviour.

Response and ambitions for 2017

Effective forward exchange contracts and policies applied throughout the year to protect the Group and clients from major foreign 
currency fluctuations.
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ImpactMacro-trend Material matter  
(definition and context)

GOVERNANCE/INVESTOR CONFIDENCE

Corporate Governance report from page 91.
The Novus Holdings investment case on page 54. 

Global investor demand for institutional 
transparency and accountability, for 
example, greater disclosure about 
performance and board remuneration.

Global and local rules and regulations 
driving disclosure and good corporate 
governance. 

In South Africa, King III: the integration 
of good corporate governance practices 
into operational processes.

The ability of Novus Holdings  
to demonstrate its position as  
a credible company, with the goal  
of encouraging and attracting  
long-term investments.

Non-compliance may result in fines, 
penalties, imprisonment of directors 
and officers, closure of the business, 
criminal or civil action against the 
company, any of its legal entities  
and/or its directors and officers.

Response and ambitions for 2017

Novus Holdings aims to be transparent in this integrated annual report and in dealings with investors. 

Novus Holdings aims to align the interest of management with that of the shareholders through its remuneration policy.

A social and ethics committee was formed.

Compliance procedures are in place as part of the Novus Holdings compliance programme.
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ImpactMacro-trend Material matter  
(definition and context)

B-BBEE AND TRANSFORMATION

Chairman’s report from page 61.
Group at a glance from page 5.
Five-year strategic business plan from page 47. 

Change in BEE Codes; anticipated 
negative impact on rating as a result 
thereof.

Ability of Novus Holdings to comply 
with changing codes.

Loss of clients due to minimum B-BBEE 
level demands not being met.

Inability to tender for significant 
Government printing contracts.

Response and ambitions for 2017

Novus Holdings has achieved a Level 4 Contributor rating, ensuring a B-BBEE Procurement Recognition Level of 100% for its clients.

The Group takes cognisance of the need to diversify its workforce and is committed to achieving this, both in terms of ethnic grouping, 
and gender.

Enterprise and supplier development with specific focus on preferential procurement has been identified as a development area.

Together with its diversification strategy, Novus Holdings is also endeavouring to find strategic B-BBEE partners for its ventures.

STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
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GROUP GROWTH STRATEGY AND BUSINESS MODEL

Novus Holdings’ vision is to leverage off its printing and finishing operations as well as 
manufacturing experience to ratchet returns in sub-Saharan Africa through: 

− Offering a balanced value proposition to clients 
−  Growth in relevant capacity derived through innovation and extension of services to clients, thus ensuring 

growth in market share
−  Diversification in areas of technology and manufacturing, aligned with management expertise, staffing 

skill sets and the ability to create value through existing infrastructure 

This is supported by leading technology, the highest skill sets available, strategically-placed factories,  
high levels of standardisation, service that underpromises and overperforms, and a philosophy that growth in 
capacity will be derived through innovation and an extension of services to clients, while remaining aware of 
the need to match production capacity to market demand.

Novus Holdings’ intention is to explore opportunities in new and value-adding  
technology, and to invest in strategic accretive acquisitions and skills that leverage off  
the Group’s current core competence. The outcome for the Group is to become a diversified 
pan-African company, operating primarily in the domestic market, and in high-growth  
sub-Saharan African countries.

STRATEGIC INTENT 

Novus Holdings’ core competence is its ability to produce high volumes of printing and manufacturing under  
tight deadlines using sophisticated technology, as well as expanding its productive capacities into growing  
market sectors.
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Focus in 2015 Progress in 2016 Future focus

Novus Holdings aimed to acquire 
other printing, print-on packaging and 
manufacturing companies in existing 
and new segments of Novus Holdings’ 
operations, including segments where 
organic growth is limited. This includes  
a digital print offering.

The acquisition of Digital Print Solutions 
enabled the Group to integrate a digital 
print offering into the existing business, 
positioning it well to diversify its 
product offering and revenue stream. 
However, unavoidable building delays 
hindered implementation.

The digital project is expected to be 
completed by mid-year 2016. It will 
include the installation of the first 
digital web in South Africa, and the 
consolidation of Paarl Media Paarl and 
Digital Print Solution on one site, to be 
rebranded as Novus Print Solutions. 

Novus Holdings will focus on unlocking 
new clients and market opportunities 
through this process. 

A further investment was planned to 
expand the Group’s label offering to 
meet the supply opportunities of large 
food and beverage manufacturers 
operating in Africa.

Client acceptance testing protocol 
affected the implementation of the 
Group’s wet glue project and uptake in 
the market. 

Novus Holdings continues to 
investigate opportunities to expand 
the Group’s label offering, including 
expansion into flexibles such as 
wraparounds and other FMCG labels. 

Tissue production was expected to 
increase to 300% of current capacity 
in the medium term with significant 
opportunity to supply private label/
house brands in South Africa and Africa.

The tissue project was delayed as a 
result of deficiencies in infrastructure. 
The tissue plant was subsequently 
integrated with the coldset printing 
division in order to leverage off its skills 
and management base. 

Novus Holdings remains committed 
to establishing and operating a 
low cost, quality tissue production 
facility. Integration with the coldset 
division will ensure the tissue project 
benefits from a sharing of services, 
project management, skilled staff 
appointments and the introduction of 
efficient production practices.

OPPORTUNITY 1 
Extension and diversification of product offerings from traditional print businesses  

into other value-adding-related industries.

Some of the key strategic opportunities that the Group pursued include:

STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
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Focus in 2015 Progress in 2016 Future focus

A Malawian school book project was 
initiated in 2015 and continued into the 
2016 financial year. 

The Group aimed to secure tenders for 
the printing of several African countries’ 
ballot papers. 

The Group investigated opportunities to 
print educational materials for  
fast-growing African countries.

The Malawian school book project 
was successful, with the printing and 
delivery of 6,7 million primary school 
textbooks. 

Novus Holdings successfully tendered 
and completed the printing of ballot 
papers for the elections in Uganda. 

The Group continues to investigate 
opportunities for greater participation 
in the educational and ballot markets in 
sub-Saharan Africa. 

Novus Holdings will focus on building 
a day-to-day business, led by a 
competent team, to increase the 
volume of its commercial involvement 
in other African countries.

OPPORTUNITY 2 
Expansion of the Group’s geographic presence in the rest of sub-Saharan Africa by identifying  

strategic partnerships and growth areas to provide product and service offerings.
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Focus in 2015 Progress in 2016 Future focus

The business aimed to ensure a smooth 
transition to the EFI MonarchTM system. 

Novus Holdings planned to continue 
improving press utilisation, waste 
minimisation and the analysis of 
optimum productive capacity.

Implementation of the EFI Monarch™ 
system was focused on Paarl Media 
Cape, the largest plant in the heatset 
division. Implementation was achieved 
during 2016.

Productivity and efficiency initiatives 
implemented in coldset and heatset 
during the year exceeded all 
benchmarks.

A staggered approach to 
implementation at the remaining 
heatset plants will see completion of 
this project during the first half of 2017. 

Processes and systems to be further 
implemented in both the Labels and 
Tissue divisions.

Measurement and improvement  
of production efficiencies in these 
growth areas.

OPPORTUNITY 4 
 Investing and maintaining world-class facilities and production processes to increase the quality of the 

Group’s products and services, while improving the efficiency and scalability of operations.

STRATEGIC OVERVIEW

Focus in 2015 Progress in 2016 Future focus

The Novus Academy provides training 
aimed at the up-skilling of the Group’s 
current employees.

Novus Holdings planned to expand  
the Academy to ensure greater  
multi-skilling of existing employees,  
and to offer educational programmes  
to the manufacturing sector to create  
a sustainable revenue stream.

−  54 apprentices trained through the 
Novus Holdings’ Apprenticeship 
Programme in 2015.

−  The Novus Academy has successfully 
launched a Printing and Packaging 
bridging course to train employment 
equity (EE) candidates.

−  A senior management development 
programme is being developed to 
be implemented during the 2016 
calendar year. 

−  The launch of the SAICA Training 
Outside Public Practice (TOPP) 
article clerk training programme. 

−  Novus Academy was recognised 
at the Fibre Processing & 
Manufacturing Sector Education 
and Training Authority (FP&M SETA) 
Skills Development Recognition 
Awards 2014/2015 for Best 
Practice Workplace Provider in the 
Apprenticeships category.

The Group is focused on strengthening 
its workforce through equity, gender 
transformation and skills development. 
This will be achieved by creating direct 
employment opportunities, identifying 
and growing existing talent, offering 
skills development programmes, 
and boosting employee feeder 
programmes.

OPPORTUNITY 3 
Building of a formidable and multi-disciplinary workforce.
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The primary objective of Novus Holdings’ revised, five-year strategic business plan is to:

Protect core activity cash flows and profitability by looking after the core business activities, 
delivering on current diversification projects, and identifying new targets in sustainable 
growth areas with good management, at the right price.

The objectives below provide the support necessary 
to achieve this goal, and are supported by detailed 
actions, accountabilities and targets for the  
different divisions. 

Operational objectives
−  Prioritise production and operational efficiencies 

and effective procurement practices.
−  Ensure an efficient and relevant geographic 

footprint and capacity utilisation to match  
market demand.

−  Take advantage of market consolidation 
opportunities.

−  Invest in and retain talented, value-add employees 
who will support a progressive and representative 
workplace in terms of equity and gender.

Diversification objectives
−  Increase Novus Holdings’ revenue and earnings 

from a diversified portfolio of sustainable growth 
assets, thereby increasing the Group’s appeal  
to shareholders.

−  Explore new markets that can be serviced by  
our current as well as future diversification 
production facilities.

−  Develop products that can increase our sales 
opportunities according to production capabilities.

−  Offer exceptional service to our customer base to 
maximise market share.

African and government objectives
−  Develop business opportunities aligned to the 

Novus Holdings strategy and operations within 
sub-Saharan African territories to maximise 
commercial involvement.

−  Increase the frequency and volume of educational, 
democracy and population services print projects.

−  Develop and produce quality diversification 
products to address emerging markets.

Empowerment objectives
−  Position Novus Holdings to achieve the best 

B-BBEE scorecard possible to ensure the Group  
can maximise its commercial prospects within 
South Africa.

−  Establish an adequately empowered  
procurement entity that enables us to participate 
in local Government tenders in a commercially 
sustainable manner.

Print remains the core business of Novus Holdings, 
and the Group will continue to strive to maintain 
profitability and return on assets in traditional print. 
This will be done by ensuring that infrastructure, 
geographic footprint and productive capacity are 
matched to market demand for printed products.  
The Group will focus on delivering on current 
diversification projects, and will look to expand  
through acquisitions and as well as new and  
innovative product lines. 

Growth in the African market, especially in the 
education and government sectors where the Group 
already offers expertise, is key to the evolution of 
Novus Holdings. 
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Outcomes

−  Long-term sustainability is ensured through  
streamlining core businesses to maximise profitability, 
while investing in diversified businesses to produce 
alternative revenue streams.

−  This strategy to retain funds for investing in growth 
opportunities can potentially decrease funds available  
for dividends.

Why is this important?

NOVUS HOLDINGS’ BUSINESS MODEL  
AND THE SIX CAPITALS
Through its operations Novus Holdings increases, 
decreases and transforms the six capitals, which are 
considered essential in creating and maintaining 
sustainable business outcomes. The Group’s strategic 
opportunities and business model summarise 
initiatives to mitigate and manage the Group’s impact 
on the capitals, with the aim of optimising value 
creation for stakeholders.

−  Dividends paid to shareholders in line with dividend policy. 
−  An increase in financial capital due to the profitability  

of the Group. 
−  An unencumbered financial position serves as a solid base 

to raise capital with which the Group can, in conjunction 
with cash reserves, fund diversification.

−  Strict credit control measures are applied to protect the 
business from impairments/write-offs due to clients going 
into business rescue. These measures caused Novus 
Holdings to turn away otherwise profitable projects.

−  Payments to suppliers, decreasing cash; however, Novus 
Holdings ensures these are made on time to guarantee 
maximum settlement discounts to increase profitability, 
balanced with short-term cash flow requirements. 

−  Novus Holdings actively applies to the Department of 
Trade and Industry for incentives where available,  
on new or expansion projects to reduce costs.

−  Discretionary grants sourced from Government,  
enhancing the sustainability of the Novus Academy.

− Payment towards salaries and tax. 

Description

FINANCIAL

The pool of funds available to invest and reinvest in the  
Group, revenue generated, interest income and a combination 
of long- and short-term loans from capital providers. 

STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
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Outcomes

−  The availability of information through print and  
media products.

−  Increase in intellectual capital through the nature of 
operations/products and through the use of improved  
ERP system and technology application.

−  Novus Holdings’ reputation as a 16-year-old business and 
a leader in the print and manufacturing industry.

−  Multiple awards and certifications (including security 
printer status) confirm competence.

−  Novus Academy training programmes and skills transfer 
increases broader intellectual capital.

−  89 people provided with bursaries since the inception  
of the Paarl Media Holdings Bursary Fund in 2007.

−  A disaster recovery programme is in place to address 
potential issues that may occur in the IT environment.

Outcomes

Why is this important? Why is this important?

Outputs

−  Increase in manufacturing capital through the expansion 
of operations – acquisition of new plants, new equipment 
and entry into new markets.

−  Routine maintenance initiatives and schedules ensure that 
assets are protected and maintained.

−  Optimisation and efficiency initiatives increase capacity 
and reduce waste.

−  Significant cost savings as a result of lower waste, 
procurement initiatives, higher productivity and  
a proactive maintenance plan.

−  Novus Holdings has a large portfolio of unencumbered 
properties, which are all currently owner-occupied.

−  A combined model of own and outsourced transport to 
deliver products to warehouses and end destinations 
across sub-Saharan Africa efficiently.

Description Description

INTELLECTUAL MANUFACTURED

The intangibles, such as state-of-the-art technology, that 
support the product offering and provide the Group’s 
competitive advantage.

The factories, warehouses, distribution network and general 
infrastructure throughout South Africa that enable Novus 
Holdings to procure, import, manufacture and deliver  
paper-based products. 

−  Intellectual capital provides the foundation to support 
the Group’s reputation as one of the most technologically 
advanced manufacturing operations on the continent.

−  Intellectual capital allows Novus Holdings to produce the 
highest quality products for its clients.

−  Novus Holdings’ competencies provide clients with the 
security of their products being produced on time and  
as specified.

−  ERP systems ensure proper and on-time production, 
employees are empowered to perform their jobs as 
effectively and efficiently as possible, and management 
is ensured that sufficient information is available to make 
the best decisions in the interest of the Group and  
its stakeholders.

−  Novus Holdings’ competitive advantage relies on its ability 
to produce high-volume, high-quality and complex orders 
with quick turnaround times.

−  Complex and international orders require a national print and 
manufacturing footprint with effective supporting logistics.

−  To achieve growth targets, Novus Holdings must manage, 
operate and maintain a range of specialised plants.

−  To deliver on stakeholder expectations, manufactured 
capital has to be optimised in terms of capacity, efficiency 
and waste.

−  Manufactured capital affects the Group’s ability to 
increase the return on assets.

− Distributed end products and services.
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Why is this important? Why is this important?

Outcomes Outcomes

−  Skilled learners and improved understanding of  
the industry.

−  Increase in human capital through business  
leadership, succession planning, B-BBEE initiatives  
and employee training.

−  A continued investment in employee training 
initiatives. 

− 2 003 direct employees.
−  The Novus Academy addresses the shortage of 

scarce and critical skills experienced in the print and 
manufacturing industry.

−  Novus Holdings maintains and monitors safety, health, 
and risk, as well as quality performance against the 
highest industry standards.

−  Ongoing health and safety initiatives, with an average 
of 61 days without a lost-time injury across Group 
facilities.

−  Stable operations, empowered communities and  
good governance.

−  Increase in social and relationship capital through 
an expanding network of clients, suppliers, business 
partners and service providers.

−  Long-serving relationships with customers, clients  
and suppliers.

−  Improving the Group’s B-BBEE scorecard to strengthen 
its tender applications.

−  Building joint-venture relationships with donors and 
operators in Africa.

−  Appointment of a new independent board member  
to uphold governance structures.

−  Continuous engagement with the four unions  
(just less than 45% of Novus Holdings is unionised)  
to mitigate operational risk and ensure productivity.

Description Description

HUMAN SOCIAL AND RELATIONSHIP

The skill and experience vested in employees that enable the 
Group to implement its strategy, deliver products and thereby 
create value for stakeholders.

The key and long-term relationships with clients, suppliers, 
communities and business partners. 

−  The implementation of the growth strategy requires  
a stable, experienced and entrepreneurial management 
team, as well as effective and appropriate allocation  
of available human resources.

−  To maintain its competitive advantage, Novus Holdings has 
to develop, retain and reward critical and scarce skills to 
ensure its position as an employer of choice.

−  Novus Holdings’ short-term sustainability relies on  
a number of key print contracts and retail accounts.

−  Government tenders require appropriate B-BBEE credentials.
−  Novus Holdings’ approach to new market penetration  

in Africa is through partnerships with local operators.
−  Novus Holdings is committed to making a sustainable 

difference in the communities in which it operates through 
strategic social investment focused on education, skills 
development and community engagement.

STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
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Outputs

Why is this important?

Outcomes

−  Decrease in the availability of natural capital through the  
use of raw material (including paper and ink) and resources 
(including water and energy).

−  Novus Holdings was the first African printing organisation to 
receive Forest Stewardship Council® (FSC®) – FSC-C022948 
Chain of Custody (CoC) certification. The certification is in 
place at the following locations: Paarl Media Cape, Paarl 
Media Gauteng, Novus Print Solutions, formerly Paarl Media 
Paarl, and Paarl Coldset (all plants).

−  Novus Holdings also holds the Programme for Endorsement 
of Forest Certification™ (PEFC™) – PEFC/01-31-346 Chain 
of Custody certification at its Paarl Media Cape, Novus Print 
Solutions, formerly Paarl Media Paarl, and Paarl Media 
KZN plants. Both FSC® and PEFC™ are independent Chain 
of Custody Certifications that the products printed can be 
traced from their point of origin to responsible,  
well-managed forestry, and controlled resources.

−  Customers can choose from a range of international and local 
environmentally sustainable paper stock options.

−  Environmental production/manufacturing initiatives range 
from equipment optimisation to energy supplementation 
through a biomass boiler and waste water treatment 
facilities.

−  The acquisition of Correll Tissue has provided the Group with 
a value-add vertical integration opportunity that uses paper 
by-products to create new revenue streams.

−  Through Printing SA’s involvement in the international Two 
Sides initiative, Novus Holdings supports the promotion of 
print and paper as a sustainable method of communication, 
while dispelling common environmental misconceptions. 
The programme emphasises the fact that paper production 
supports sustainable forest management. Paper 
manufacturers ensure a reliable and growing supply through 
their purchase and use of certified wood fibre, and through 
their promotion of sustainable forest management policies 
and practices.

Description

NATURAL

The resources that we use for the production of goods.

−  Novus Holdings’ clients are sensitive to the Group’s 
environmental practices and use this as criteria for  
awarding orders. Therefore, the Group is committed to  
the implementation of responsible and sustainable 
business practices.

−  Novus Holdings’ sustainability depends on the security  
of natural resource supply, especially of paper. The Group 
actively collaborates with industry bodies to improve the 
sustainability of the print industry.

−  Efficient resource use has a positive impact on cost 
management.

−  South Africa is experiencing severe energy challenges 
that might affect the Group’s operating expenses through 
running its generators.

The six capitals provide the necessary input for Novus Holdings’ value creation activities, as set out in the business 
model. The different business divisions rely on a core set of competencies to create a competitive advantage for 
Novus Holdings. Holistically, the business model is geared toward delivering the outcomes of Novus Holdings’ vision 
and strategic intent.

− Paper waste products used in tissue manufacturing.
− Plates and copper strips sold to waste metal collectors.
− Toluene recovered and sold back to ink suppliers.
−  Waste products from tissue production are pulped to be 

used in production again.
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With ten specialised printing plants and one tissue plant in key 
metropolitan areas across the country, leading technology and a 
widespread delivery footprint support Novus Holdings’ comprehensive 
commercial operations to meet customer demands in South Africa and 
the rest of sub-Saharan Africa.

Print: gravure, coldset, heatset, sheet-fed and digital
Labels: self-adhesive and other flexible substrates
Tissue: tissue paper manufacturing

Read more about Novus Holdings’ business activities on page 8,  
and supporting services on page 22.

Novus Holdings’ core competence is its ability to diversify its product 
offering and produce high volumes under tight deadlines using 
sophisticated technology.

Clients benefit from a comprehensive range of custom finishing  
services nationally.

Print: post-press ability to apply specialist binding, cutting and finishes, 
including hand insertion
Labels: rewinder and camera inspection unit automatically verifies  
the quality as part of the quality assurance process
Tissue: converting equipment to produce various household and 
commercial products, or alternatively supplying parent reels to other 
tissue converters

NATURAL

NOVUS HOLDINGS’ BUSINESS MODEL

CUSTOM  
FINISHING

PRODUCTION
ACTIVITIES

LEADING TECHNOLOGY
Raw materials undergo production  
at world-class facilities with 
specialised equipment and skills  
to meet customer demand in South 
Africa and the rest of sub-Saharan 
Africa. Pro-active maintenance 
sustains technological value.
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Print … centralised procurement of high-value raw materials through  
a network of sustainable and credible local and international suppliers

Tissue … print division waste combined with additional requirement 
sourced from waste merchants and virgin pulp suppliers

Labels … highest quality self-adhesive labels and flexible materials 
sourced from Europe and Asia to fulfil customer requirements

THE SIX CAPITALS

Read more about the specific 
application of the six capitals from 
page 48.

FINANCIAL

HUMAN

SOCIAL AND  
RELATIONSHIP

MANUFACTURED

INTELLECTUAL

STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
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Products, services, by-products or waste

–  A range of paper-based and flexible packaging and utility 
products (read more about our products on page 23)

–  Suitable paper waste products used in tissue manufacturing
– Plates and copper strips sold to waste metal collectors
– Toluene recovered and sold back to ink suppliers
–  Waste products from tissue production are pulped to be 

used in production again

The consequences that an organisation’s business activities and 
outputs have on the six capitals

Read more about the outcomes resulting from Novus 
Holdings’ business activities from page 48. 

Read more about how Novus Holdings’ manages and mitigates 
its capital use:
–  The sustainability of print on page 87
–  Community engagement through the Emagqabini Academy 

on page 27
–  Health and safety initiatives on page 85
–  Ethical governance on page 91
–  Employee initiatives from page 77
–  Key stakeholder relationships from page 24
–  Diversification of revenue through digital printing on  

page 78, tissue production on page 23 and labels and 
flexibles production on page 23

OUTCOMES

OUTPUTS

Novus Holdings’ vision is to leverage off its considerable printing and binding operations as well as manufacturing experience to ratchet  
returns by leading the print industry in sub-Saharan Africa through:
− Offering a balanced value proposition to clients
− Better utilisation of capacity derived through innovation and extension of services to clients
−  Diversification in areas of technology and manufacturing aligned with management expertise, staffing skill sets and the ability  

to create value through existing infrastructure

DELIVERY FOOTPRINT
Combined model of in/outsourced delivery  
to single or multiple customer destinations in 
South Africa and the rest of sub-Saharan Africa.

Read more about how Novus Holdings delivers value to customers, 
clients and stakeholders on pages 10, 24 to 25.
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INVESTMENT CASE

The capital expenditure over the last few years has resulted in lower capital requirements going forward. This strong cash flow 
generation and conversion provides the Group with the requisite platform to fund acquisitions, greenfield operations and also the 
ability and flexibility to pay dividends. A low level of third-party debt provides Novus Holdings with an opportunity to enhance its capital 
structure through gearing benefits.

1. History of strong cash flow generation and cash conversion with low financial leverage. 

The Group is a market leader in the high-volume, high-quality print markets in South Africa, with very few national and other African 
competitors that can offer the same products and services. With many customers being contractually committed and significant 
goodwill among its existing customer base, Novus Holdings is able to secure printing work with more certainty. The Group’s national 
network of plants allows it to attract a diverse customer base. Due to its scale, favourable terms can be negotiated with suppliers. Little 
threat is posed by new entrants joining the market due to high barriers to entry with the high capital investment, specialised skills and 
experience requirements.

2. Strong market position in an industry that benefits from operational leverage. 

The Group has 11 specialised operations nationally and a cumulative factory floor space of 157 547m2. In excess of R3,5 billion in capital 
expenditure since 2000 has ensured that facilities are equipped with modern technology to attract more business opportunities. As 
a result of the capex programme, the Group has created capacity to ensure the incremental costs of production is limited and allow 
acceptance of projects on tight deadlines with complex operating requirements.

3. Well-located, world-class production facilities on company-owned  
properties located in close proximity to end markets and major economic hubs nationally.

The management team helped establish Novus Holdings as the leader in the South African printing and manufacturing industry. The 
majority of the key management team has a significant amount of experience in this industry and Novus Holdings has managed to 
attract and retain younger managers to provide impetus to executing growth strategies. Management is able to operate with a great 
degree of autonomy and operational independence allowing for quicker decision-making. Management’s interests are aligned with 
shareholders through participation in the Employee Share Ownership Plan (see the remuneration report on page 109).

4. Management team with extensive experience in the printing and manufacturing industries.

Novus Holdings has diversified its revenue stream to include the production of tissue and labels by leveraging some of its core print 
assets. Manufactured in part from the waste of the Group’s core printing operations, tissue is a cost-effective and sustainable product 
that draws on Novus Holdings’ experience in the paper industry. An understanding of gravure production, and the existence of 
additional infrastructure to curtail set-up costs, creates capacity in the label and flexible packaging industry. These new offerings give 
Novus Holdings access to new markets, product lines and opportunities for organic and acquisitive growth. 

5. An attractive diversified investment portfolio of sustainable growth assets.

STRATEGIC OVERVIEW



55INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTSCORPORATE GOVERNANCEOPERATIONS REPORT

FINANCIAL RATIO DEFINITIONS

Cash conversion ratio Cash generated from operations less capital expenditure spent on property, 
plant and equipment and intangible assets, divided by operating profit, excluding 
impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal of assets.

Creditor days Trade and other payables plus related-party payables divided by cost of sales 
(inclusive of VAT) multiplied by 365 days.

Debt to equity ratio Total borrowings divided by total equity.

Debtor days Trade and other receivables plus related-party receivables divided by revenue 
(inclusive of VAT) multiplied by 365 days.

Interest cover Operating profit divided by interest expense (related-party interest, loans and 
overdrafts, interest rate swaps).

Liquidity ratio Current assets divided by current liabilities.

Net asset value per share Attributable equity divided by issued shares excluding treasury shares.

Net working capital Inventory, trade and other receivables, related-party receivables less trade and 
other payables, short-term cash-settled share-based payment liability and related-
party payables.

Operating assets Property, plant and equipment, goodwill and intangible assets.

Net return on equity Net income after taxation divided by average total equity.

Operating return  
on net assets

Operating profit excluding impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal of assets 
divided by average operating assets and average net working capital.

Net return on total assets Net income after taxation divided by average total assets.

Solvency ratio Total assets divided by total liabilities.

Stock days Inventory divided by cost of sales (exclusive of VAT) multiplied by 365 days.

Novus Holdings has established a track record in acquiring value-enhancing businesses and establishing greenfield operations.  
By leveraging off these capabilities, the Group intends to execute its strategy (see the growth strategy on page 43) to ensure that  
it enhances value to shareholders. A recent example was the acquisition of Digital Print Solutions, which enabled Novus Holdings  
to leverage off skills in the traditional printing market and gain access to a new market opportunity, while repositioning its product  
and service offering in line with the demand for lower print volumes.

6. Growth opportunities identified through accretive acquisitions and greenfield  
opportunities both within its traditional business and other related areas. 



56 NOVUS HOLDINGS

GROUP AT A GLANCE LEADERSHIP REPORT

R’000 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

PROFIT PERFORMANCE
Revenue 4 174 517 4 261 484 3 968 755 3 684 166 3 703 027
Growth (2,0%) 7,4% 7,7% (0,5%) 24,1%
Gross profit 1 259 701 1 169 237 1 143 622 1 149 608 1 123 720
Margin 30,2% 27,4% 28,8% 31,2% 30,3%
Operating profit 648 760 561 498 649 023 587 844 644 122
Operating profit excluding impairments and profit/(loss)  
on disposal of assets 650 720 634 697 667 527 596 448 639 151
Margin 15,5% 13,2% 16,4% 16,0% 17,4%
Margin excluding impairments and profit on disposal of assets 15,6% 14,9% 16,8% 16,2% 17,3%
Profit for the period after tax 448 268 364 804 421 859 369 084 396 051
Margin 10,7% 8,6% 10,6% 10,0% 10,7%
Margin excluding impairments and profit on disposal of assets 10,8% 9,8% 11,0% 10,2% 10,6%
Non-controlling interests 2 504 29 900 27 776 18 718 32 879
Attributable income 445 764 334 904 394 083 350 366 363 172

FINANCIAL POSITION
Assets
Property, plant, equipment and intangibles 2 275 236 2 161 777 2 165 597 2 075 422 2 071 179
Goodwill 138 711 132 052 86 701 55 830 55 830
Other non-current assets 1 508 1 995 3 430 5 104 1 542
Deferred taxation asset 12 562  3 043 – – –
Current assets excluding cash 991 004 833 796 806 504 717 038 665 652
Cash 278 220 389 044 98 612 199 501 211 616
Non-current assets held for sale – – – 15 106 –

3 697 241 3 521 707 3 160 844 3 068 001 3 005 819

Equity and liabilities
Ordinary shareholder interest 2 822 624 2 536 235 2 085 069 1 691 956 1 370 759
Non-controlling interests – 30 480 121 536 93 788 78 671
Deferred taxation liability 270 521 267 015 287 935 286 730 281 809
Other non-current liabilities 70 282 61 324 53 542 55 249 24 299
Long-term debt (including shareholder loans) 19 473 80 636 62 895 437 889 699 438
Short-term debt 61 014 71 149 172 382 171 660 188 301
Current liabilities 441 885 367 665 317 675 314 251 362 537
Bank overdrafts 11 442 107 203 59 810 16 478 5

3 697 241 3 521 707 3 160 844 3 068 001 3 005 819

SUMMARY FINANCIAL POSITION –  
DEBT AND WORKING CAPITAL
Debt (term loans, finance leases, shareholder loans) 80 487 151 785 235 277 609 549 887 739
Effective debt/(cash) {debt less cash} (186 291) (130 056) 196 475 426 526 676 128
Net working capital 584 055 481 168 504 034 456 833 324 491

FIVE-YEAR  
FINANCIAL REVIEW

STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
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R’000 2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash generated from operations 720 128 802 486 777 283 680 296 922 734
Purchase of property, plant, equipment and intangibles (251 304) (185 396) (260 588) (158 539) (268 610)
Proceeds on sale of non-current assets, Government grants, 
insurance 37 417 7 029 24 925 39 285 34 018
Taxation paid (178 381) (173 239) (171 706) (152 234) (9 753)
Free cash flow 327 860 450 880 369 914 408 808 678 389
Acquisition/(disposals) of subsidiaries, associates  
and investments (68 030) (103 813) (91 709) (91 758) 5 495
Dividends received – – 3 – 3 982
Net loan payments and net finance costs (69 536) (104 028) (422 429) (345 638) (657 969)
Dividends paid (205 357) – – – (800)
Net cash flow (15 063) 243 039 (144 221) (28 588) 29 097
Opening cash 281 841 38 802 183 023 211 611 182 514
Closing cash 266 778 281 841 38 802 183 023 211 611

PERFORMANCE PER SHARE (CENTS)
EPS – basic 139,50 110,92 131,36 116,79 121,06
EPS – basic diluted 139,50 110,92 131,36 116,79 121,06
HEPS – basic 139,94 127,57 135,36 118,53 121,55
HEPS – basic diluted 139,94 127,57 135,36 118,53 121,55
Net asset value 883,32 793,70 695,02 563,99 456,92
Note: for the period 2012 to 2014, 300 million shares have  
been used in the calculation for comparability to 2015. Media24  
was issued capitalisation shares in 2015 giving 300 million total  
shares. Media24 was the sole shareholder from 2012 to 2014.

RATIOS
Liquidity 2,24 2,24 1,65 1,14 0,91
Solvency 4,23 3,69 3,31 2,39 1,93
Debt to equity 2,9% 5,9% 10,7% 34,1% 61,2%
Net return on equity 16,6% 15,3% 21,1% 22,8% 31,2%
Net return on total assets 12,4% 10,9% 13,5% 12,2% 13,2%
Operating return on net assets 22,5% 22,9% 25,0% 23,7% 26,2%
Debtor days 50,61 37,75 37,75 38,86 34,85
Creditor days 42,35 33,18 30,44 32,05 41,11
Stock days 40,73 38,45 43,09 37,94 35,74
Interest cover 35,88 21,38 17,16 9,61 6,72
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Novus Holdings continues 
the journey to create value 
for all shareholders as  
a leader in its industry.
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Novus Holdings demonstrated its resilience this year, 
performing well despite tough market conditions. Low 
economic growth and suppressed consumer confidence 
affected core business print volumes. However, we 
remain positive about the continued demand for print 
products while diversifying our offering.

Current market conditions emphasise the importance 
of the Group’s strategic focus on diversification and 
leveraging our core asset. Rather than pursuing 
short-term gains, Novus Holdings remains committed 
to organic and acquisitive growth – the latter being 
determined by seeking the right quality assets at  
the right price. 

2016 PERFORMANCE, MILESTONES 
AND BUSINESS IMPROVEMENTS
The 2016 financial results for the Group were in line 
with board expectations. The Group had a market 
capitalisation of R4 billion at 31 March 2016,  
revenue of R4,2 billion, and a net profit after tax  
of R448,3 million was generated.

The acquisition of specialist digital printing house, 
Digital Print Solutions, was the first acquisition of the 
group since listing and an example of a good strategic 
fit for Novus Holdings. This acquisition positions us well 
to respond to the global and local rise in demand for 

digital print technology - equipping us with the ability 
to print ‘on-demand’ books and small batches of high 
quality material within short turnaround times.  
We expect this acquisition to start delivering good 
returns in the medium term.

We also remained focused on refining existing 
operations. With printing volumes under constant 
pressure, our print segment delivered a remarkable 
result. Significant cost savings were achieved through 
lower waste, higher productivity and proactive 
maintenance plans. This ability to optimise our 
operations provides us with a distinct advantage  
over other industry players.

Novus Holdings’ growth strategy is further supported 
by a number of stakeholder-related initiatives that 
ensure the long-term sustainability of the business. 
For example, the potential renewal of the education 
workbook tender for the Department of Basic 
Education offers sustained growth opportunities as 
Government seeks to improve education and learning 
across South Africa. 

This opportunity is aligned with the Group’s 
commitment to drive social investment activities in 
communities across the country, with a specific focus 
on education.

“ Novus Holdings remains in a stronger position than its 
competitors due to its size, long-standing relationships 
and good capital structure – all elements that  
create stability and sustainability.”

CHAIRMAN’S  
REPORT

Lambert Retief  
Chairman
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Overall, the business was able to improve margins 
and efficiencies, which delivered good quality 
earnings and strong cash flow. We are proud of  
Novus Holdings’ continued ability to retain 
and service a stable client base in an operating 
environment under significant pressure.

STRATEGY IN ACTION
The Novus Holdings strategy was reviewed and 
remains unswerving. Last year we identified four 
strategic opportunities for the business. These included 
investing in facilities and productions processes to 
improve efficiency and scalability. A strategic review of 
the integration opportunities following the acquisition 
of the tissue plant and the packaging gravure press 
resulted in operational restructuring. The tissue plant 
was repositioned within the coldset division, and labels 
now form part of the management structure of the 
heatset division. This allows for the sharing of services, 
consolidated equipment control and a transfer of skills. 

The integration highlighted the limited availability of 
the unique technical skills required by a business such 
as Novus Holdings. The development and transfer of 
engineering, manufacturing and process skills is  
a priority to be addressed through the Novus Academy. 

Novus Holdings will continue contributing to B-BBEE by 
increasing the ratio of black employees in management 
positions, and by investing even more in skills 
development – both critical elements on the amended 
B-BBEE scorecard.

We also continue to explore opportunities in Africa, 
with an expanded focus on growing the distribution 
of labels and tissue beyond our borders. Democracy 
projects, including voting ballots and population 
censuses, provide further opportunities, with 
successful projects undertaken in Malawi and  
Uganda during the year. 

The demand for literacy and educational materials in 
developing countries has the potential to drive demand 
for printed products, but limited donor funding hinders 
implementation. Repatriation of funds from countries  
such as Mozambique has proven challenging this year,  
and compels us to be cautious.

GOVERNANCE AT  
NOVUS HOLDINGS
The recently established social and ethics committee 
developed an oversight plan to monitor aspects of the 
Group’s ethical foundation and corporate citizenship.  
An ethics awareness campaign was launched during 
the year, along with a newly formulated Novus 
Holdings’ code of business ethics and conduct.  
This aims to drive an awareness of the controls and 
policies necessary to protect the Group’s business  
and reputation. 

The board also established an investment committee 
that will meet on an ad hoc basis to discuss potential 
investments, acquisitions and strategic opportunities. 

The audit and risk committee will split into two 
separate committees following the Group’s round of 
committee meetings in June 2016. Although initially 
combined at the time of listing, these two areas 
demand dedicated attention from different chairmen 
and committees, and as a result the board has 
approved the change.

R4,0 billion
Market capitalisation

R4,2 billion
Revenue

R448,3 million
Net profit after tax

LEADERSHIP REPORT
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The Group’s nomination committee membership was 
finalised and approved at the board meeting held 
on 8 June 2016. Its members will be responsible for 
monitoring the effectiveness and composition of the 
board to ensure the appropriate mix of skills, and that 
the profile of the board matches the Group’s growth 
ambitions. 

We are in the process of recruiting a suitable candidate 
to fill the vacancy of company secretary.

DIVIDENDS AND OUTLOOK
The board approved a dividend of 70 cents per share 
for the 2016 financial year.

Despite the fact that the Group delivered operating 
profits beyond expectations in the second half of the 
year, the board remains cautious about the impact 
of subdued market conditions, the exchange rate, 
and lower business confidence on the core business’ 
growth prospects. We shall continue to explore growth 
opportunities, supported by a strong cash position 
and significant capacity to raise debt when required. 
Novus Holdings remains in a stronger position than its 
competitors due to its size, long-standing relationships 
and good capital structure – all elements that create 
stability and sustainability. 

CHANGES IN LEADERSHIP
The challenge of driving diversification, while 
optimising the business and integrating acquisitions, 
inevitably result in management and leadership 
changes. This occurred in different parts of the 
business, including operational areas such as the 
diversification projects, executive team and board.

The most significant change resulted from Stephen 
van der Walt’s resignation as chief executive officer 
in February 2016. Keith Vroon, chief operating officer 
for Novus Holdings, was appointed as acting CEO with 
effect from 31 March 2016. Keith began his career  
with the Group in 2004 as chief financial officer, and 
was appointed as chief operating officer in 2012.  
An announcement regarding the permanent fulfilment 
of this leadership role will be made following the 
Group’s Annual General Meeting in August.

Lead independent director, Uys Meyer, retired from  
the board in March, and we welcomed Christoff Botha  
as an independent non-executive director, effective  
24 February 2016. Fred Robertson was elected new 
lead independent director at the board meeting held 
on 8 June 2016.

APPRECIATION
I would like to thank the management teams for their 
continued hard work and dedication despite many 
changes and challenges this year. This includes a 
very special word of thanks to Stephen, who stepped 
down after 15 years with the Group. Stephen began 
his career with then Paarl Media in 2000 as chief 
financial officer. He was appointed as chief operating 
officer in 2003 and became CEO in 2006. Stephen 
made a great contribution to the Group over his many 
years and was instrumental in Novus Holdings’ listing 
on the JSE. On behalf of the board, I would like to 
wish him well in the future!

A further word of appreciation goes out to my fellow 
board members who ensured that Novus Holdings 
benefited from leadership focused on securing value 
for all shareholders. Their involvement, availability and 
enthusiastic responses are highly valued. I would also 
like to pay tribute to outgoing director, Uys Meyer, who 
has been a board member for 15 years and made a 
highly respected and valued contribution to the Group.

On the back of a resilient performance over the past 
year, we continue on our journey to create value for all 
Novus Holdings’ shareholders as a leader in our industry.

Lambert Retief
Chairman
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YEAR IN REVIEW
Novus Holdings achieved a strong set of financial results 
for the 2016 financial year. Operating profit excluding 
impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal of assets 
increased 2,5% to R650,7 million, and headline earnings 
per share increased 9,6% to 139,9 cents per share. 
Revenue declined to R4,17 billion compared to  
R4,26 billion in 2015 due to downward pressure on 
print volumes. With print remaining our core business, 
it was pleasing to see an increased operating margin, 
excluding impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal  
of assets, of 15,6%, up 0,7% from last year’s 14,9%. 

A good hedging strategy, higher earnings due to an 
improved sales mix and continued success in efficiency 
drives, and the strong profitability and performance by 
the Group’s core business were additional highlights  
of the financial year. 

The Group remains in the early stages of its growth 
phase – introduced by the diversification strategy, which 
constituted expansion into labels, flexible packaging, 
tissue and, more recently, digital print. Unfortunately, 
plans for both labels and tissue proved to be too 
aggressive in year one, and we were forced to delay  
the roll-out of these projects. 

Strategic actions, such as the repositioning of 
management structures, have been implemented,  
and the negative returns are expected  
to improve in the next year. 

A new market in digital print also opened to Novus 
Holdings through the acquisition of Digital Print 
Solutions. The consolidation of Digital Print Solutions 
and Paarl Media Paarl is expected to be completed 
mid-year 2016, and includes the installation of the first 
digital web press in South Africa. We are confident that 
the Group’s strategy of unlocking new markets through 
this process will be successful. 

CHIEF  
EXECUTIVE 
OFFICER’S  
REPORT

−  Extending our leadership position within the 
print industry and maximising cash returns 
from the core print business;

−  Delivering on current diversification  
projects; and

−  Identifying new targets for investment and 
diversification in sustainable growth areas,  
at the right price.

Over the next three to five years,  
Novus Holdings will focus on:

LEADERSHIP REPORT

Keith Vroon 
Acting chief executive officer
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The Group is in the process of refining the 
management of core and diversification initiatives 
through the identification of appropriate financial 
performance metrics and targets. This will also enable 
us to improve our reporting to shareholders and 
investors going forward. 

We are aware that the continued decline in publication 
print volumes will necessitate growth through 
acquisitions. However, acquisition targets will only be 
considered if set conditions are met. This is to ensure 
that the Group’s current and future assets satisfy our 
shareholders’ requirement for sustainable growth. 

2016 PERFORMANCE
Despite experiencing reduced volumes, print 
profitability remained strong and Novus Holdings 
continues to be committed to extending its leadership 
position and preserving the cash flow and profitability 
of its core business activity. 

This was supported by maximising returns through 
the consolidation of existing assets and enhanced 
production efficiencies. The Group is also focused  
on matching operational capacity to market demand. 
This includes careful consideration of our footprint, 
and a continuous evaluation of operations to align 
productive capacity to demand in order to retain 
margins. This will ensure the Group maximises returns 
on current equipment and infrastructure, without 
incurring further inefficient capital expenditure. 

Another highlight for the Group was the proactive 
management of the fluctuating exchange rate.  
This enabled positive pricing points that matched  
the cost of raw materials and exchange rates, 
resulting in optimised margins. This was coupled with 
the positive impact of cost savings resulting from 
productivity and efficiency programmes. 

Group results were affected negatively by the losses 
incurred on the tissue and labels diversification 
projects. However, these offerings have been refocused 
and potentially offer a significant swing in fortunes 
for the Group in the 2017 financial year. Despite a 
slow start, both increased contribution to revenue 
during the year. Tissue increased to 3,4% (2015: 2,7%) 
and labels increased to 2,7% (2015: 2,4%) of Group 
revenue. Management remains confident that, once 
capacity is reached, both projects will add to overall 
group profitability, with the target of contributing 
approximately 15% to Group revenue.

Retail inserts and catalogues remained the highest 
contributors to revenue at 29,0% (2015: 28,6%).  
These products depend on the health of the retail 
sector, which came under strain over the past year,  
and are also dependent on print media advertising 
spend. However, Novus Holdings has maintained 
printed volumes in this category.

Newsprint products contributed 21,9% (2015: 21,8%), 
and magazines 20,6% (2015: 22,5%), to the Group’s 
revenue. These sectors continue to be a challenge. 
Circulation figures indicate an effective annual decline 
of 1,8% and 6,1% in the circulation of newspapers and 
magazines respectively over the past five years. The 
circulation of paid-for newspapers (which represents 
the majority of the newspaper market in tonnage) 
declined at an effective annual rate of 5,0% per year 
over the same period. Moreover, consumer spend  
on these products is discretionary and is predicted  
to come under pressure as a result of constrained  
GDP growth.

Demand for books and directories decreased during  
the year. Contributing 20,7% (2015: 21,6%) to the 
Group’s revenue, this still remains a very important  
and strategic sector to provide our printing services 
in. However, the global declining trend for books has 
reversed and Novus Holdings has positioned itself 
well to attract a larger market share in this segment. 
Directory type publications demand has declined.
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The new tender with the DBE came up for renewal at 
the end of the 2015 calendar year and is currently in a 
tender process. Given the Group’s success in delivering 
on the tender in previous years, we are reasonably 
confident that we will continue to be involved in the 
future.

TRENDS AND OPPORTUNITIES 
Growth markets in parts of Africa, such as the sub-
Saharan African donor-funded educational and ballot 
markets, remain a focus. Over the past year, Novus 
Holdings benefited from ad hoc opportunities, such 
as a successful book project in Malawi, the tendering 
and completion of the ballot papers for the Ugandan 
elections, and the printing of telephone directories in 
Namibia, Botswana and Zimbabwe. 

Moving forward, we are set to build a day-to-day 
business base beyond our borders, supported by 
additional sales capacity and a competent team. 

R650,7 million
Operating profit (excluding impairments and  
profit/(loss) on disposal of assets)

139,9 cents
Headline earnings per share

15,6%
Operating margin (excluding impairments and  
profit/(loss) on disposal of assets)

Product expansion for tissue and labels in particular 
represents another valuable prospect for the Group 
as both offerings currently have low penetration in 
a market characterised by growing demand. Tissue, 
for example, is experiencing high demand, with a 7% 
expected annual growth rate in South Africa according 
to market analysts.

We are reasonably confident that once we are able 
to deliver on these projects, the Group will be well 
positioned to capitalise on existing assets. 

RISK MITIGATION
Despite a challenging operating environment,  
mature market and depressed economic outlook, 
Novus Holdings has retained its resilience as a market 
leader. This is thanks to our highly skilled employees, 
a continued focus on client retention, the use of 
the latest-generation technology, and the ability 
of the business to innovate and offer unique value 
propositions to the market. 

Tissue, label and other flexible products offer high 
growth and demand in a growing market. Shrinking 
print orders and pagination declines were matched 
with production and efficiency projects that exceeded 
all previous benchmarks. Market consolidation 
opportunities are expected to continue in the future.

Though fluctuating exchange rate risk was well-
managed during the 2016 financial year, the current 
devaluation cycle is severe and will result in a 
significant lag factor in cost recoveries. The Group 
will continue to be extremely diligent in ensuring 
adequate forward cover, coupled with well-placed 
hedging on paper purchases, to mitigate this risk.

LEADERSHIP REPORT
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TRANSFORMATION
Achieving equity and gender transformation within 
the Group remains an imperative. We are committed 
to attaining a progressive work environment and will 
strive to attract and retain an employee complement 
that represents local demographics fairly, both in terms 
of equity and gender. 

This will be achieved in the short term by monitoring 
direct employment opportunities, and by identifying 
and growing existing talent within the Group. In-house 
and external skills development programmes will 
support this goal and fast-track talented employees 
through the business. 

Novus Holdings recognises the need for the 
introduction of an effective ‘employee feeder scheme’. 
The Novus Academy and its various internship 
programmes must receive added impetus to attract 
and retain new employees. This will include on-
boarding multiple candidates to ensure a fair and 
promising end-selection. Further opportunities will be 
created through offering the South African Institute 
of Chartered Accountants’ TOPP (training outside 
of professional practice) articles training contracts, 
bursaries and other incentives.

These employment opportunities will be continually 
measured against agreed submission requirements to 
achieve the Group’s equity and gender targets. 

Novus Holdings is also focused on attaining the best 
B-BBEE scorecard achievable to ensure we maximise 
our commercial prospects in South Africa in a positive 
and sustainable way. 

OUTLOOK
Novus Holdings continues to build a business 
foundation capable of generating a stable cash flow 
year after year. By balancing the allocation of cash 
flow to our core business, growth investments, and 
shareholder returns, Novus Holdings is well-positioned 
to attain sustained growth in the medium to long term.

In line with the Group’s growth strategy, Novus 
Holdings is committed to managing operational risks 
to ensure our ability to leverage off existing assets and 
projects. In addition, we will continue to investigate 
further opportunities that will position us well for 
sustainable growth into the future.

We will also continue to focus on transformation, 
equity and the well-being of our employees, and invest 
in equipment, technology and infrastructure. This will 
ensure that Novus Holdings remains a market leader. 

Keith Vroon
Acting chief executive officer 

By balancing the allocation of cash flow to our core business, growth investments,  
and shareholder returns, Novus Holdings is well-positioned to attain sustained growth  
in the medium to long term.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
−  Operating margin of 15,5% despite difficult  

economic conditions
− Net return on total assets of 12,4%
− Operating return on net assets of 22,5%
−  Generated free cash flow of R327,9 million 

available for loan repayments, investing activities 
and dividend distributions

−  A strong financial position that allows a dividend 
payment equating to 50% of headline earnings

− Gross profit margin up 2,8% 
−  Despite delays in the diversification projects, major 

strides were made in the acquisition of Digital Print 
Solutions and in the installation of a new packaging 
gravure press for the production of labels and 
wraparounds 

OVERVIEW
Novus Holdings performed well in the 2016 financial 
year, with headline earnings per share increasing 
by 9,6%. The Print segment contribution was 
exceptional, with an operating margin excluding 
impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal of assets 
of 17,5% (2015: 15,4%). However, the contribution 
of the Other segment was disappointing, with an 
operating margin of -13,3% (2015: 4,4%). While 
overall revenue is down 2%, the Other segment 
increased by 17,6% and Print declined by 3,1%.

Magazines, retail inserts and newspapers experienced 
volume declines, while the books and directories 
category decreased marginally. The retail inserts and 
catalogue category remains the largest part of the 
business at 29,0% (2015: 28,6%) of total revenue. 
Newspapers is second at 21,9%, followed by books 
and directories at 20,7%, magazines at 20,6%, tissue 
at 3,4% and labels at 2,7%. Total revenue derived from 
customers outside of South Africa was R150 million 
(2015: R93 million).

Net profit after tax of R448,3 million (2015:  
R364,8 million) was achieved on the back of a better 
gross profit margin and a lower impairment charge 
(which totalled R2,3 million in 2016 compared to  
R73,5 million in 2015).

The most significant factors affecting the Group’s 
financial performance were the following:
−  Foreign paper prices: The impact of the global 

oversupply of paper was still evident in the past 
year and this translated into marginal declines 
in euro prices. Paper suppliers are continuously 
taking action to balance supply with demand. 
Novus Holdings imports approximately 50% of its 
paper requirements by volume. The availability of 
local and foreign paper and the cost thereof is the 
single biggest factor impacting the Group’s ability 
to create value.

−  Exchange rate: The ever present volatility of the 
rand impacted the gross profit margin. Novus 
Holdings takes forward cover to protect pricing on 
contractual work and ensure price stability. This 
hedging strategy positively influenced the cost of 
imported paper this year against the backdrop of 
a depreciating rand. However, while the Group 
benefited from this strategy during the 2016 
financial year, lags in pricing adjustments caused 
by contractual terms, the competitive nature of 
the market, and an underperforming exchange 
rate will likely result in pressure on margins in the 
next financial year. 

−  Waste minimisation: Enhancing productivity and 
efficiency in a mature market is a primary objective 
of Novus Holdings. Improved press utilisation and 
ongoing analysis of optimum productive capacity 
form part of a continuous programme to minimise 
waste across the Group’s operations, thereby 
protecting cash flows and profitability.

−  DBE tender: During the past year, the Group 
received additional revenue from the DBE tender 
due to an increased demand for workbooks. 

−  Labels and tissue: A substantial swing from profit 
to loss across the two units when compared to 
2015 had an impact on the Group’s financial 
results for this financial year. 

FINANCIAL  
REVIEW

LEADERSHIP REPORT
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FINANCIAL INDICATORS
GROSS PROFIT MARGIN
The following factors affected the gross profit margin  
of 30,2% (2015: 27,4%):
−  The rand weakened progressively against the euro 

in the 2016 financial year. Measured on a spot 
rate basis, the rand depreciated by 27,5% against 
the euro during the financial year. The effective 
hedging of the cost of imported paper through 
forward exchange contracts had a significant and 
positive impact. Novus Holdings continues to adjust 
selling prices based on exchange rate movements. 
However, there is a lag factor in passing these 
increases due to the combination of contractual 
periods and a competitive market.

−  In the pursuit of perfecting new products, labels 
experienced operational challenges that resulted in 
higher material costs and impacted the gross profit 
margin. These operational challenges are being 
addressed and include:

 •  A slower than anticipated roll-out of labels 
to clients due to internal production issues. 
These operational challenges are being 
addressed.

 •  Novus Holdings also supplied labels to 
Mozambique. However, due to a foreign 
exchange liquidity constraint, the Group 
is struggling to repatriate funds. Through 
collaboration with Mozambique’s commercial 
and central banks, Novus Holdings’ is working 
to repatriate funds when available. To prevent 
this challenge moving forward, the Group is 
in the process of changing the delivery model 
to ensure delivery and invoicing at local 
warehouses to facilitate timeous payment 
without currency fluctuations.

−  The expansion of the tissue business has proven 
challenging, and full production is only expected 
to be reached towards the end of the 2016 
calendar year. Lower than expected production 
levels combined with production inefficiencies 
have negatively impacted the gross profit line. 
Additional expansion project costs have also been 
incurred, further impacting the profitability of the 
tissue division. 

To improve and maintain margins, Novus Holdings 
is continuing with its cost management initiatives 
implemented in 2015. These include:
− Stringent production and efficiency programmes;
−  Consolidation of paper suppliers and grades to 

obtain the best possible prices and rebates;
−  Rationalisation of facilities and the introduction of 

more efficient printing technologies. 

OPERATING EXPENSES AND  
OPERATING MARGIN
Operating expenses as a percentage of revenue is 15% 
(2015: 13%). 

The major factors influencing this increase are as follows:
−  Increase in costs related mainly to project work, 

which typically carries a lower cost of sale but 
greater operating expenses than contractual work.

−  Increase in share-based compensation  
charges, mainly due to the equity-settled,  
share-based compensation scheme effective  
from 31 March 2015.  
The total share-based compensation charge was 
R36,3 million in comparison to R18,8 million  
in 2015.

−  Debtors’ costs increased from R2,1 million in 2015 
to R18,6 million in 2016. Challenging local and 
neighbouring economic conditions have seen this  
line increase.

PAPER

SALARIES  
AND WAGES

50%
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6%

32%

INK

OTHER
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EBIT EXCLUDING IMPAIRMENTS AND PROFIT/(LOSS)  
ON DISPOSAL OF ASSETS

−  In gearing up for expected volume growth, expenses 
in the Other segment increased at a higher level 
than growth in sales. The expenses of the Correll 
Tissue plant for 2016 covered a 12-month period in 
comparison to 2015, which only covered  
a 10-month period.

−  The drop in volumes in the Print segment has 
negatively affected this ratio, despite ongoing 
operational rationalisation.

The operating margin (excluding impairments and 
profit on disposal of fixed assets) achieved was 15,6%, 
which is about 0,7% higher than in 2015. This is due 
mainly to the strong performance of the Print segment. 

CASH FLOWS
Free cash flow achieved was R328 million (2015:  
R451 million).

Capital expenditure on property, plant and equipment 
increased by R68 million in 2016 on the back of 
expansion and diversification.

Read more about the purchase of property,  
plant and equipment in the capital expenditure 
section on page 71.

Working capital showed an outflow of R146 million 
(2015: R40 million). The outflow for trade and other 
receivables was R154 million (2015: R17 million). 
The greater investment in 2016 was due to high project 
billings in March 2016 in comparison to March 2015,  
as well as an increase in debtors days from 38 in 2015 to 
51 days in 2016. Debtors days have been impacted by  
a Mozambican debtor whose remittances are delayed 
due to liquidity issues in Mozambique. This was partially  
off-set by the increase in creditors days from 33 in  
2015 to 42 in 2016.

Cash flows from financing activities showed an outflow 
of R91 million, of which R72 million was spent on 
capital repayments on term loans and R19 million on 
purchasing the remaining 16% interest of Paarl Media 
Paarl Proprietary Limited. No loan advances were taken 
in 2016 (2015: R100 million). 

Read more about acquisitions on page 71.
Read more about Novus Holdings’ financial analysis 
in the annual financial statements from page 138.
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DEBT PROFILE
The debt equity ratio is 3% (2015: 6%) with effective 
debt at zero after deducting cash.

IMPAIRMENT
An impairment charge of R2,3 million was taken on 
printing equipment which was no longer required.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE
The cash expenditure on property, plant and equipment 
was R236 million, of which R197 million related to 
expansion and diversification.

The R197 million expansion and diversification 
expenditure related to:
−  Packaging gravure equipment to produce labels  

and other flexible packaging material
− Investment in the Correll Tissue plant
− Digital printing equipment 
− Ballot production equipment. 

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE OVERVIEW 
(EXCLUDING INTANGIBLES)

R15 million (2015: R17 million) was incurred on 
intangibles that related mainly to the EFI Monarch ERP 
System that is in the process of being implemented at all 
heatset plants.

Read more about this in the IT governance report  
on page 126.

ACQUISITIONS
On 1 May 2015, Novus Holdings acquired 100% of the 
share capital of Victory Ticket 376 Proprietary Limited 
trading as Digital Print Solutions for a consideration 
of R7,5 million. On 30 September 2015, Paarl Media 
Holdings Proprietary Limited acquired the remaining 
16% interest of the issued share capital of Paarl Media 
Paarl Proprietary Limited for a purchase consideration  
of R19 million.

DIVIDEND
The Novus Holdings’ dividend approach entails the 
declaration of a dividend on at least an annual basis 
with a dividend cover of approximately two times 
based on HEPS. The dividend declared for 2016 is 
consistent with this approach, and Novus Holdings 
believes this approach is compatible with the 
company’s growth opportunities and ambitions. 

The board approved a dividend of 70 cents per share  
to be paid on 5 September 2016.

OUTLOOK STATEMENT
Amid challenging economic conditions, Novus Holdings  
will focus on strong cash flow generation in the core 
printing business to fund expansion and diversification. 
The expansion and diversification drive will continue 
through the increase of tissue production capacity, 
ramping up label and other flexible packaging turnover 
and completing the expansion of our print offering  
via digital print. The acquisition of businesses in  
growth sectors within defined investment parameters 
remains a key focus.
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VALUE-ADDED 
STATEMENT

For the year ended 31 March

Group
2016

 R’000  % 

Group
2015

 R’000  % 

Revenue 4 174 517 4 261 484
Cost of generating revenue (2 692 327) (2 827 221)
Value added 1 482 190 1 434 263
Finance income 20 688 12 572
Wealth created 1 502 878 100,0 1 446 835 100,0

Wealth distribution
Employees

Salaries, wages and benefits 630 543 41,96 592 725 40,97

Providers of capital
Finance costs 14 696 0,98 25 934 1,79

Governments
Total tax paid 178 381 11,87 173 239 11,97

Reinvested in the Group 679 258 45,19 654 937 45,27
Depreciation and amortisation 197 080 13,11 205 991 14,24
Impairments 2 323 0,15 73 537 5,08
Retained earnings 479 855 31,93 375 409 25,95

Wealth distributed 1 502 878 100,00 1 446 835 100,00

LEADERSHIP REPORT
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Novus Holdings’ specialised 
operations give customers 
access to extensive 
resources, powerful  
bindery capability and  
a comprehensive  
distribution for large  
volume production.
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− gravure
− heatset
− coldset
− sheet-fed
− digital

– labels
– flexible packaging
– tissue

OVERVIEW
Novus Holdings’ operations comprise of 10 specialised 
printing plants and one tissue plant with a total of  
2 003 employees. Slightly less than 45% of employees 
belong to one of the four recognised unions: SATU, 
CEPPWAWU, MWASA and SACWU.

Each plant operates independently, while forming part 
of a cohesive network, thereby giving customers access 
to extensive resources, powerful bindery capability and 
comprehensive distribution. Digital integration of the 
prepress departments provides seamless transfer of 
files between plants, which reduces distribution costs 
and turnaround times, minimising the Group’s  
carbon footprint. 

The tissue project utilises waste paper produced by 
the Group’s printing operations to make tissue paper. 
Drawing on Novus Holdings’ relationships with retailers 
and experience in the paper industry, Correll Tissue 
enables the Group to cater for the needs of consumers 

who seek high-quality tissue products at competitive 
prices. This includes the production of single- and 
double-ply toilet rolls, single-ply recycled toilet rolls  
and jumbo tissue wadding.
 
Novus Holdings further offers customers a portfolio  
of flexible and reliable label printing solutions.

The most significant risk to operations relates to paper 
supply and power outages. The following mitigating 
actions have been implemented:
−  Paper contracts are in place with various major 

European paper suppliers for the financial year 
ahead.

− Forward exchange contracts have been secured.
−  Full generator capacity is in place within the 

Group, along with uninterrupted power supply 
equipment. This ensures minimal production 
downtime. 

−  These alternative energy costs will have an impact 
on costs should load-shedding occur. 

OPERATIONS REPORT
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CASE STUDY 
Novus Print Solutions and digital printing

Traditional offset lithography (which includes 
heatset and coldset) is a mechanical, high 
volume, commercial printing technology and 
the core process used in Novus Holdings’ 
printing operations. However, digital printing 
is a technically advanced printing process that 
eliminates many of the mechanical steps required 
for offset lithography. This includes offering clients 
the benefit of shorter turnaround times, greater 
accuracy and low volumes at a cheaper cost.

In response to this continuing global trend toward 
digitisation and the growth of digital printing 
technologies, the Group sought an opportunity to 
bolster the sustainability of its operations through  
the acquisition of specialist digital printing house, 
Digital Print Solutions, in May 2015. 

The acquisition, Novus Holdings’ first since 
its listing on the JSE, integrates digital print 
experience into the company and strengthens the 
Group’s print service offering.

As publishers aim to decrease the cost of printing 
and minimise waste, the print industry has seen a 
move toward shorter runs and quicker turnaround 
times. The acquisition of a new digital press will 
boost Novus Holdings’ capability, and enable the 
company to deal more specifically with small print 
run requests. 

To further enhance synergy between the Group 
and Digital Print Solutions, the Paarl Media Paarl 
and Digital Print Solutions facilities merged to 
become a single entity, Novus Print Solutions. The 
pairing of added skills and experience, and the 
combination of Litho, Inkjet Digital and Cut-sheet 
Digital under one roof, will enable the Group to 
offer a comprehensive range of print solutions to 
customers across South Africa and abroad. 
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OPERATIONS REPORT: PRINT
PROFILES

Read more about key technology applied by this division on the website.

GRAVURE PRINTING

Gravure printing involves a method of printing using engraved copper cylinders to impart ink onto paper. This provides a crisp,  
full spectrum colour and registration method, which is ideally suited for very high-volume production of publications and commercial 
products including weekly, fortnightly and monthly magazines, catalogues and retail inserts. High-quality presses allow for flexibility 
across an extensive range of formats and pagination. Excellent finishes can be applied, even on low-grammage materials. Final  
products can be delivered directly off the press, complete with any trimming, inline gluing or stitching requirements.

HEATSET PRINTING

Heatset printing is the process by which ink is dried by running the printed paper through an oven immediately after ink is applied  
by the printing units. This printing method is used for medium to high-volume magazines, retail inserts, catalogues and brochures.  
A combination of presses delivers quick make-ready and flexible formats and paper ranges. The presses are configured to offer a variety 
of in-line finishing and folding options as well as automatic palletisers to speed up the delivery of material. Heatset also prints  
alcohol-free – a more environmentally friendly process.

COLDSET PRINTING

Coldset printing offers fast, economic printing on uncoated paper. The Novus Holdings network of plants is equipped with coldset 
printing towers and caters for large and smaller print runs in broadsheet, tabloid and quarter fold formats for both high pagination and 
thinner products. Inline stitching, gluing and trimming delivers finished product off the press. The process is best suited to absorbent 
papers and can accommodate high-quality, heavier grammage. Applications include newspapers, educational material, ballots and 
commercial publications while the process incorporates inline finishing and folding, collating and inserting capabilities.

NOVUS PRINT SOLUTIONS

By combining digital print with traditional litho products, Novus Print Solutions offers solutions to today’s global print and communication 
trends, whether it is for a glossy magazine, trade paperback or personalised tabloid. The printing plant, which is situated in Cape Town, 
combines inkjet-digital and litho-sheet-fed output to provide local and international clientele with products geared towards a “speed-to-
market” approach. Both short and medium print runs to the publishing, book and commercial markets are catered for.

OPERATIONS REPORT
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PERFORMANCE

2016 2015

Number of employees 1 681 1 700
Number of lost-time injuries 13 12
Revenue – net of intersegment revenue (R’000) R3 918 108 R4 043 480
Operating profit – excluding impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal  
of assets (R’000) R684 898 R625 083
Total assets – net of intersegment assets (R’000) R3 176 513 R3 221 824

The print division remains at the core of Novus Holdings and contributed 94% to Group revenue and 105% to 
Group operating profit excluding impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal of assets. 

Commentary on the division’s performance as follows:

Category
Share of Group
 revenue 2016

Share of Group
 revenue 2015 Comments

Magazines 20,6% 22,5% The market for magazines, as reported by the ABC, 
declined by 17,0% during the 2015 calendar year.  
Novus Holdings experienced a similar, but not as 
profound, negative trend. The volume decline in this 
product category can be ascribed to reduced print runs, 
the closure of magazines and a decline in the pagination 
and circulation of existing magazines. Reduction in paper 
grammage of publications in order to minimise paper  
cost increases has also been prevalent in this category.

Retail inserts 
and catalogues

29,0% 28,6% Retail inserts are influenced by print media advertising 
spend, which declined from 25,4% of total ad spend 
in 2014 to 22,9% in 2015. However, in rand terms, 
advertising spend on print media has remained constant 
from 2014 to 2015. Nevertheless, retail work remains 
consistent, and still holds the largest share of Novus 
Holdings’ total revenue. 

Books and 
directories

20,7% 21,6% Workbook volumes for the Department of Basic 
Education’s workbook project delivered solid volumes 
during the year. Directory volumes continue to experience 
declines due to growth in digitalisation.

Newspapers 21,9% 21,8% Newspaper volumes are subject to constant pressure 
due to decreased readership related to a migration to 
electronic media. ABC figures for 2015 indicate an 8,5% 
decline in the paid-for newspapers segment – Novus 
Holdings’ main newspaper product. This directly impacted 
volumes reported by the coldset division.

Security 
products

1,7% 0,4% This product category experienced ad hoc allocation 
of work with the Ugandan elections being the most 
significant.
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ENVIRONMENTAL INITIATIVES
Novus Holdings relies predominantly on electricity 
for its energy requirements. However, due to rising 
electricity costs and the threat of fluctuations in 
supply, the Group has reduced this reliance through 
the introduction of biomass boilers at certain plants. 
For example, the biomass boiler at Paarl Media Cape 
uses wood chips from alien vegetation rather than 
electricity or coal to generate the steam needed to 
power the gravure printing press – with virtually no 
carbon footprint. 

The implementation of power-factor correction 
processes across printing plants, in addition to lower 
levels of demand, further resulted in a reduction in 
Novus Holdings’ electricity requirements. Through 
the introduction and sustained application of these 
initiatives, energy consumption decreased by 6,3% 
from 103 473 MWh in 2015 to 96 950 MWh in 2016. 

To demonstrate its commitment to the recycling of 
chemical waste, Paarl Coldset launched a competition 
with a cash reward among Bachelor of Technology 
(BTech) Project Management students at the Cape 

Peninsula University of Technology to discover feasible 
and innovative ways to reuse and up-cycle the plant’s 
waste. The competition will be concluded in November 
2016 and aims to encourage awareness of and 
collaboration with the Group’s efforts to minimise waste 
and emissions through forward-thinking initiatives.

Other environmentally sustainable practices 
implemented by Novus Holdings include:
−  Reducing energy usage and emissions to ensure 

air is free of odour, visual smoke and pollutants 
through the installation of centralised Regenerative 
Thermal Oxisiders (RTOs) on all web presses

−  Adopting alcohol free printing processes on all web 
offset presses

− Lowering resource use in terms of ink and water
−  Lowering the use of chemicals and the production  

of waste
−  Using mineral oil and volatile organic compound-

free offset ink on sheet-fed presses
−  Recycling copper skins from the engraved cylinders 

used for gravure printing
− Recovering the Toluene thinning agent for reuse

OPERATIONS REPORT

Key focus areas 
for 2017

Key focus areas identified  
in 2015

Progress made  
in 2016

KEY FOCUS AREAS

Maintain profitability in challenging 
economic and sector conditions

Print profitability remained strong, 
despite decreasing volumes and 
subdued economic performance. 

Protect core activity cash flows  
and profitability 

Achieving the above through 
streamlining operations

The consolidation of Paarl Media  
Paarl and Digital Print Solutions, as well 
as record productivity and efficiency 
achievements in the coldset and 
heatset divisions, helped to maintain 
profitability.

Achieving the above through enhanced 
production efficiencies, effective 
procurement practices and continuous 
focus to match capacity with demand.

In line with the above, a review of 
operating efficiencies and market 
demand resulted in the closure of Paarl 
Media Commercial on 30 April 2016.

Introducing new technology to increase 
efficiency and address new markets

The integration of digital print 
technologies has been critical  
in unlocking new markets.

Consolidate and deliver on the current 
digital project and identify new 
products and markets to advance 
profitability.
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CASE STUDY 
Paarl Coldset efficiency achievement

Paarl Coldset constitutes a significant component 
of Novus Holdings’ operations and is primarily 
responsible for printing on uncoated paper, which 
includes newspapers and leaflets. Five years ago, the 
business unit derived more than 80% of its income 
from one client in a market where volumes were 
declining, equipment was ageing and high paper 
waste was the norm. 

Since then, the business unit has achieved a 
remarkable turnaround – including a 7,5% increase in 
market share, new clients and significant cost savings 
from lower waste, higher productivity and  
a proactive maintenance plan. 

With print plants in five locations across South Africa, 
Paarl Coldset followed a structured approach to 
managing and maintaining its assets. As machinery 
becomes more expensive to maintain, or parts 
are rendered obsolete, refurbishment becomes 
impossible, and upgrades more difficult and 
increasingly expensive as a result of fewer local and 
international suppliers due to shifting print demand.

To counter this, Paarl Coldset adopted a proactive 
maintenance plan seeking international, alternative 
suppliers of quality parts and service through its 
relationship with the Manroland Users Group 
(MRUG).

Paarl Coldset also increased its turnover per input 
tonne by managing efficiencies and halving paper 
wastage from 12% to 5% over the past five years. 

In order to continue with its success, Paarl Coldset 
aims to pursue the following strategic objectives:
− Expand its product offering and grow capabilities 
−  Continue to drive asset maintenance and 

efficiencies, while focusing on cost-saving and 
reducing wastage

−  Grow its market share through strategic 
partnerships 



83INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTSCORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Paarl Labels allows Novus Holdings to present 
customers from a range of industries with 
a portfolio of flexible, reliable label printing 
solutions. Inline finishing includes a range of foiling, 
laminating, varnishing, die-cutting and embossing 
options suited to requirements from wine-label 
printing to the production of adhesive items for 
the food industry. The operation has the capability 
to introduce security holograms, “back printing” 
and other unique special features. The Group is 
committed to development and innovation in the 
labels space to ensure that customers are able to 
select from the latest printing techniques.

Correll Tissue was acquired in June 2014 as the 
primary tissue paper manufacturing plant of Novus 
Holdings. The acquisition allows Novus Holdings to 
expand its manufacturing operations by harnessing 
the potential of waste paper that is produced by the 
printing operations, to make tissue paper. The plant 
is located in Durban and has capacity to convert 
most of the output produced by the tissue mill.

PAARL LABELS CORRELL TISSUE

OPERATIONS REPORT: OTHER
PROFILES

Read more about key technology applied by this division on the website.

PERFORMANCE

2016 2015

Number of employees 322 215
Number of lost-time injuries 7 1
Revenue – net of intersegment revenue (R’000) R256 409 R218 004
Operating (loss)/profit – excluding impairments and profit/(loss) on disposal  
of assets (R’000) (R34 178) R9 614
Total assets – net of intersegment assets (R’000) R520 727 R299 883

The division currently contributes a small portion of 
revenue, but is the area of biggest potential for the 
Group. Current projects in this area include capital 
expenditure that has been committed to packaging 
gravure equipment for the production of wet glue 
labels, wraparound labels, shrink sleeves and other 
flexible packaging products. The Group will continue 
to develop this project to ensure the supply of high 
quality labels to FMCG clients, and extend the labels 
offering to include labels for wraparound beverages 
and canned good labels.

The commissioning of the second tissue mill at the 
Correll Tissue facility is still in progress. Delays and 
inefficiencies hindered the implementation of this 
project. Looking forward, the Group will develop and 
produce quality products to address the local, private-
label market as well as the demand for jumbo reels in 
Africa. There are opportunities to expand the product 
base to include other commercial and industrial  
tissue-based products.

OPERATIONS REPORT
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Commentary on the division’s performance as follows: 

ENVIRONMENTAL INITIATIVES
Correll Tissue offers Novus Holdings a significant 
opportunity for vertical integration. The plant 
harnesses waste paper produced by the Group’s 
extensive printing operations in the production 
of tissue paper, thereby adding value to the 
manufacturing process. The Correll Tissue plant’s 
capacity is sufficient to convert most of the output 
produced by the tissue mill. Investment in recycling 
processes has resulted in some of the plant’s water 
requirements being reprocessed with efforts under 
way to accurately measure and decrease consumption 
of fresh water in the production process.

Water consumption is at its highest at the Correll 
Tissue plant. As such, there is a risk that water 
restrictions could impact on production. However, 
the Group manages this risk by treating and reusing 
available water. In line with the Group’s commitment 
to enhance its sustainability reporting, plans to 
monitor and measure the efficiency of this water 
treatment process are in place. In line with the Group’s 
commitment to environmental best practice, the 
Correll Tissue plant has also been equipped with a 
biomass boiler, to reduce its reliance on electricity.

Category
Share of Group
 revenue 2016

Share of Group 
revenue 2015 Comments

Labels 2,7% 2,4% Self-adhesive label capacity was expanded and 
contribution to revenue increased due to the addition of 
wet glue labels. Market uptake of these products has been 
slower than anticipated. Current press utilisation levels 
indicate the potential for significant revenue increases in 
the category and thus remain a focus area for the group.

Tissue 
products

3,4% 2,7% The current financial year represented the first full-year 
set of results for Correll Tissue (compared to 10 months 
in 2015). With demand for tissue products outstripping 
current supply, the focus of the Group remains the 
successful implementation of additional mill capacity.
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Key focus areas 
for 2017

Key focus areas identified  
in 2015

Progress made  
in 2016

KEY FOCUS AREAS

Expand capacity to gain market share 
through flexible packaging capacity

Entered the wet glue market and 
increased wet glue capacity through  
the successful installation of a 
packaging gravure press. 

Acquire FMCG clients and extend the 
labels offering to wraparound beverage 
labels and canned goods labels, while 
investigating other flexible packaging 
opportunities.

Create additional tissue production  

and converting capacity

Delays in the tissue expansion  
project, including the managing of 
challenging operational, raw material 
and staffing issues.

Over the next three years, improve 
the operating profit margin through 
increased volume, product mix 
optimisation and efficient production 
and procurement practices.

MATERIAL OPERATIONAL MATTERS
The matters most material to Novus Holdings’ ability to 
create value related to its operations are:
− Labour health and safety
− Skills availability and retention

HEALTH AND SAFETY
Novus Holdings aims to provide all employees with 
a safe work environment. At the start of the 2016 
reporting year, the Group amended its Safety, Health, 
Environment, Risk and Quality (SHERQ) policy to 
include a focus on environmental management while 
maintaining its focus on achieving a vision of “Zero”. 
This relates to the Group’s commitment of achieving 
zero injuries or health-related incidents, zero process 
or risk-related incidents, zero environmental incidents 
and zero distribution incidents across operations. 

Novus Holdings’ health and safety policy is driven 
by visible and responsible leadership, as well as by 
encouraging all employees to take ownership of their 
own safety and the safety of their co-workers. The 
Group emphasises the reporting of on-site incidents 
to ensure preventative measures are implemented 
across operations. 

At the end of the reporting year, a total of 9,8% of 
Novus Holdings’ employees were employed in the field 
of SHERQ. This included a total of 184 Safety, Health 
and Environmental (SH&E) representatives, 11 safety 
officers, one national and one Group SHERQ officer. 
These employees are dedicated to entrenching and 
improving the Group’s vision of achieving health and 
safety in the workplace. 

To ensure Novus Holdings’ vision becomes a reality, 
the Group is focused on continuously improving all 
SHERQ activities by implementing an integrated SHERQ 
management system across operations, following  
a Continual Improvement Process (Plan, Do, Check, 
Act), and by ensuring compliance with all relevant 
legal requirements. This resulted in the Group being 
awarded several certifications across its plants. 

Read more about the Group’s SHERQ certifications  
on page 21.

In addition, regular health and safety reviews are 
performed by internal and third-party external 
consultants. These findings are reported to the board’s 
audit and risk committee. 

OPERATIONS REPORT
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Over the past three years, there has been a noticeable 
reduction in the number and severity of work-related 
incidents across the Group. When incidents do 
occur, they are thoroughly investigated to prevent 
reoccurrence. There have been no fatalities in the past 
six years, with a significant downward trend in lost-time 
and reportable injuries across the Group. Currently 
four of the 11 facilities are on a zero lost-time rate,  
with two facilities achieving a record of more than  
1 000 days worked without a lost-time injury.

Health and safety risks include the following:

Novus Holdings’ operations require the use 
of various chemicals that may pose a risk to 
employees and the environment. The Group 
continuously investigates safe alternatives, and 
employees exposed to chemicals are tested 
regularly through its medical surveillance 
programme for possible deviations. All employees 
are trained in the use and disposal of chemicals.

CHEMICALS

Employees working in certain areas of Novus 
Holdings’ operations are exposed to high noise 
levels. The Group continuously explores ways to 
reduce this risk, including the adoption of new 
technologies and enclosing areas of high exposure. 
Employees who are exposed form part of the 
Group’s medical surveillance programme. Further 
training is provided to all employees, and hearing 
protection is made available to all those entering 
high-risk areas, including employees and visitors.

NOISE

SKILLS AVAILABILITY AND RETENTION
The print and manufacturing industry has become 
increasingly specialised over the past decade –  
a shift that has created a demand for highly skilled 
professionals capable of delivering excellent quality 
products and services at international standards. In 
South Africa, targets set by B-BBEE legislation and the 
general skills shortage have emphasised the value 
created by the Novus Academy.

As an internationally accredited training institution, 
the Novus Academy offers a range of technical, 
management, leadership, IT and life skills, as well as 
systems courses and programmes. The Academy has 
therefore been instrumental in unlocking the potential 
of Novus Holdings’ employees. Courses are accredited 
in South Africa with the FP&M Seta, and internationally 
through City & Guilds of London. The Group further 
offers a range of training courses for labels and tissue 
to enhance skills development.

Human resource planning and allocation is critical 
to implementing the Group’s talent management 
strategy, an integral part of Novus Holdings’ growth 
strategy. Skills development, a core component of 
the talent management strategy, is primarily guided 
by a skills audit, a critical and scarce skills map, and 
succession planning requirements, while career and 
reward management is also considered. In addition, 
Novus Holdings has access to a strong and active digital 
recruitment platform.

The Group’s training investment spend during the 2016 
financial year amounted to R11,5 million. A total of  
3 094 training opportunities were made available.
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Novus Holdings invested in an online learner and 
learning management system – Cornerstone on 
Demand – which integrates skills development 
with performance management and succession 
planning. The system ensures that training and skills 
development deliver results measured according to:
− Quality – delivering on the promise to the client
− Quantity – delivery in full
−  Cost – goods and services delivered within the 

cost estimate by reducing waste and optimising 
efficiency

− Delivery on time
− Safety
− Morale/behaviour – conduct in the workplace

Read more about the Novus Academy programmes 
and courses on the website.

SUSTAINABLE SUPPLY  
AND OPERATIONS
Novus Holdings is determined to remain a leader of 
environmental stewardship. This year the Group made 
positive strides in monitoring the impact of operations 
on the environment, based on the GRI’s revised 
guidelines (G4).

Total volume consumption of paper and pulp 
decreased by 5,2%, from 194 000 tonnes in 2015 to 
184 000 tonnes in 2016. This decline is largely due 
to decreased demand for printed products. Novus 
Holdings only supports paper mills that demonstrate 
commitment to the environment and produce paper  
in a sustainable manner. 

When sourcing paper for operations, the local 
procurement of paper supply is preferred. However,  
due to an unsustainably low demand for magazine 
grade paper in the South African market, only 
newsprint and uncoated paper is produced locally. This 
necessitates increased sourcing from Europe. However, 
whether sourced locally or internationally, the Group 
ensures procurement from accredited suppliers 
only. Locally, the Group actively looks to partner with 
suppliers with a strong B-BBEE status. Locally and 
internationally, Novus Holdings ensures all suppliers are 
accredited with and abide by:
− Chain of custody certification (FCS and/or PEFC)
−  Environmental management system (ISO:14001  

and EMAS)
− Quality management system (ISO:9001)
− Health and safety system (OHSAS: 18001)
− Sustainable forestry practices

Novus Holdings actively applies for financial support  
grants from the Department of Trade and Industry (DTI) 
to fund investments in new technology. The Group 
received R33,5 million in financial assistance during 
the 2016 financial year, with R5,9 million amortised 
to the income statement. In 2015, the Group was 
granted financial assistance in the form of cash 
payments through the Manufacturing Competitiveness 
Enhancement Programme (MCEP). This programme 
has since been suspended, however Novus Holdings 
will continue to benefit as its grant was approved while 
the MECP was still operational. 

OPERATIONS REPORT
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As a responsible corporate 
citizen, Novus Holdings 
strives for excellence 
and transparency in all 
operations and partnerships, 
with purpose and discipline 
guiding performance.

NOVUS HOLDINGS

GROUP AT A GLANCE STRATEGIC OVERVIEW LEADERSHIP REPORT
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE  
AT NOVUS HOLDINGS 
Novus Holdings operates from a strong ethical base 
and has developed solid relationships with key 
stakeholders. The Group’s governance structures are 
aligned with the JSE Listings Requirements, King III and 
the Companies Act.

ETHICS AT NOVUS HOLDINGS 
Novus Holdings has an active programme to uncover 
fraud, corruption and unethical behaviour. The Group 
encourages employees to participate by driving regular 
communication in internal controls and systems, 
increasing internal education efforts, and conducting 
annual ethical awareness surveys. During the 2016 
financial year, these efforts were combined into an 
ethics awareness campaign and the formalisation of 
an official Novus Holdings’ code of business ethics and 
conduct.

Read more about the ethics awareness campaign  
on page 92.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

− The establishment of a nominations committee
−  The initiation of a gender diversity policy and 

development of policy targets
−  The launch of a company-wide ethics 

awareness campaign

GOVERNANCE MILESTONES FOR 2016

Acts of wrongdoing or irregularity may include:
−  Immoral, illegal (e.g. fraud, corruption) or unethical 

behaviour that has been, or is likely to be, 
committed

−  Inappropriate use or theft of company property, 
including intellectual property

−  Instances or circumstances within the company 
where the health or safety of an individual has 
been threatened, is being threatened, or is likely to 
be threatened

−  Actual and potential infractions of company 
policies

−  Actual and potential operational risk, including 
regulatory non-compliance, faced by or potentially 
facing the company

−  Attempts to conceal or suppress information 
relating to any of the above

Novus Holdings uses the OpenLine reporting facility –  
a confidential reporting service for employees, 
business partners and other stakeholders of the 
company that is independently managed by Deloitte 
Tip-offs Anonymous. Each report made is relayed to 
executive management and investigated with feedback 
to Deloitte, to be provided to the whistle-blower,  
if required.

OPERATIONS REPORT



92 NOVUS HOLDINGS

GROUP AT A GLANCE STRATEGIC OVERVIEW LEADERSHIP REPORT

CASE STUDY 
Ethics awareness campaign

The application of King III requires the 
demonstration of ethical leadership and corporate 
citizenship, and the board is committed to 
promoting the highest standards of ethical 
behaviour. The Group’s reputation for superior 
products and personalised service also relies on 
the integrity and ethics of its business practices, 
operations and partnerships. 

In 2015, an external independent party conducted  
a survey among employees to gain insights into 
fraud awareness and identify potential areas of 
weakness within the company. Results indicated:
−  A lack of awareness and understanding of how  

to identify fraud 
−  Insufficient use being made of the Group’s 

current fraud hotline, OpenLine
−  A risk of controls being bypassed or overridden

To ensure the highest standards are maintained 
across the Group, an ethics awareness campaign 
was launched to encourage all employees to be 
“ethics champions”. Driven by senior executives 
and management, the aim of the campaign was 
to increase educational efforts and ensure all 
employees understand the controls and policies 
in place to protect the Group’s business and 
reputation. 

An official Novus Holdings’ code of business  
ethics and conduct was also launched. The code 
establishes guidelines for all Group employees and 
companies, details Novus Holdings’ whistle-blowing 
policy, and outlines areas of conflicting interest,  
bribery and corruption.
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APPLICATION OF KING III

King III principles Novus Holdings’ application

Ethical leadership and 
corporate citizenship

The board is committed to promoting the highest standards of ethical behaviour in the 
Group, evidence of which is set out above in terms of ethics interventions. A charter 
to monitor and measure all aspects of the business related to the Group’s ethical 
foundation and corporate citizenship was accepted in 2015.

Board and directors The board applied the principles related to the board and its responsibilities as 
recommended by King III. In accordance with the Companies Act, the directors owe 
fiduciary and statutory duties to the company. All directors understand and accept 
these duties and are committed to perform their responsibilities in this regard to the 
best of their ability. As the chairman is not independent, a lead independent director 
has been appointed. 

A framework for the delegation of authority for the chief executive officer was 
approved by the board in 2015. 

Since the buyout of the minorities in Paarl Media Paarl, the only operating board is 
that of Novus Holdings. An evaluation of the board, its committees and the company 
secretary will be made in the next financial year.

The remuneration policy was approved at Novus Holdings’ annual general meeting  
on 7 August 2015. The amended policy will be tabled and accepted at the Group’s 
upcoming AGM.

Remuneration is disclosed as required in the report from page 109.

Audit and risk 
committee

The audit and risk committee comprises three independent non-executive directors,  
all of whom are suitably and adequately qualified. The board has delegated 
the adoption and implementation of a suitable assurance framework to the 
audit and risk committee. The committee has appointed and contracted with 
PricewaterhouseCoopers as the external auditor for the Group. 

Following the board meeting on 8 June 2016, the board decided to split the 
responsibilities of the audit and risk committee for the upcoming financial year. 
All members of the audit and risk committee will remain on the audit committee, 
and Bernard Olivier will remain as chairman. Gugulethu Dingaan, Christoffel Botha, 
Abduraghman (Manie) Mayman, Keith Vroon and Edward van Niekerk will form  
the risk committee.

Read more in the audit and risk committee report on page 103.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCEOPERATIONS REPORT
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APPLICATION OF KING III

King III principles Novus Holdings’ application

Governance of risk The board determines the levels of risk tolerance based on the risk management 
framework established by the audit and risk committee. Risk assessments form part of 
the Group’s risk management policy, delegated to the audit and risk committee.

Read more in the risk report on page 105.

Governance  
of information 
technology

IT governance is monitored by the audit and risk committee, in terms of an IT 
governance framework and policy. The board oversees all significant IT investments 
and expenditure.

Read more in the IT governance report on page 126.

Compliance with  
laws, codes, rules  
and standards

The board has delegated the implementation of an effective compliance framework 
and processes to management.

Internal audit The Group has an internal audit function. The audit and risk committee assumes 
responsibility for the monitoring of internal and external assurance.

Governing 
stakeholder 
relationships

The board has delegated the management of stakeholder relationships to various 
management levels in the Group by using different platforms for interaction.

Read more in the stakeholder section from page 24.

Integrated reporting 
and disclosure

The board has approved the integrated report, which includes all material matters 
related to the performance and sustainability of the Group. 

See scope and boundary on page 5 for detail about assurance.

Read more in the full King III application table available on the Group’s website.

Following the Competition Tribunal’s dismissal in March 2015 of a claim that the Novus Holdings restated 
management agreement constituted a change in control, the Competition Appeal Court upheld an appeal in 
November 2015. This ruling required both Media24 and Novus Holdings to notify the restated management 
agreement as a change of control. The notification was filed in February 2016. At the time of preparing this 
report the Competition Commission was still in process of assessing the notification.
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BOARD  
OF DIRECTORS

1 2

3

4 5

1. Abduraghman (Manie) Mayman (61) 
BCom (Hons) (Financial Management), 
BCompt, BCompt (Hons), CA(SA)
Non-executive director
Appointed to the board on 24 March 2014

2. Jan Potgieter (47)
BCompt (Hons), CTA, CA(SA), 
Management Development Program 
(Michigan), Strategic Planning and 
Management in Retailing  
(Monash University)
Independent non-executive director
Appointed to the board on 23 February 2015

3. Esmaré Weideman (54)
BCom, BJourn (Hons)
Non-executive director
Appointed to the board on 1 May 2011

4. Fred Robertson (61)
Independent non-executive director
Appointed to the board on 23 February 2015

5. Lambert Retief (63)
BCom (Hons), CA(SA),  
OPM Programme (Harvard)
Chairman; non-executive director
Appointed to the board on 1 July 2008

6. Gugulethu Dingaan (40)
BCom (Acc), HDipAcc, CA(SA)
Independent non-executive director
Appointed to the board on 23 February 2015

7. Sandile Zungu (49) 
BSc (Mech Eng), MBA (UCT)
Independent non-executive director
Appointed to the board on 23 February 2015

8. Edward van Niekerk (46)
BCom, PGDA, CA(SA)
Chief financial officer; executive director
Appointed to the board on 6 June 2012
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6
7

8
9

10

11

9. Christoffel Botha (55)
BCom, LLB, CA(SA)
Independent non-executive director
Appointed to the board on 24 February 2016

10. Keith Vroon (50)
BCom (Hons), CA(SA), HDip Tax
Acting chief executive officer;  
executive director 
Appointed to the board on 1 October 2008

11. Bernard Olivier (62) 
BCom (Acc), CTA, CA(SA), Senior 
Management Programme (USB)
Independent non-executive director
Appointed to the board on 23 February 2015

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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CURRICULA VITAE
1. Abduraghman (Manie) Mayman (61) 
Manie was appointed as Media24 chief financial officer 
in January 2014, having worked for the company 
in several capacities previously. He is a chartered 
accountant and holds a number of qualifications, 
including a Certificate in Retail Marketing of Petroleum 
Products from the College of Petroleum and Energy 
Studies at Oxford. He worked for the BP Group for 
nearly 22 years, the last four years as regional chief 
financial officer Africa for BP’s Refining and Marketing 
Operations in sub-Saharan Africa. He was the Oasis 
Group chief financial officer before returning  
to Media24 in October 2011.

2. Jan Potgieter (47)
Jan is a chartered accountant, chief operating officer of 
Italtile and non-executive director of Fortress Income 
Fund. He has extensive experience in the retail and 
supply chain sectors through his role as financial 
director and chief executive officer of Massdiscounters 
of Massmart Holdings. He has also served as a business 
manager at Clover SA and spent seven years at 
SABMiller in senior financial roles.

3. Esmaré Weideman (54)
Esmaré has more than 25 years’ experience as a 
journalist, political writer, news editor and editor at 
some of the country’s most prestigious publications. 
She was editor-in-chief of Media24’s flagship weekly 
magazines, Huisgenoot, YOU and DRUM, before being 
appointed Media24 chief executive officer in 2011.

4. Fred Robertson (61)
Fred is the executive chairman and co-founder of 
Brimstone. He is a leading figure in the South African 
business community, having gained experience through 
his directorships of Remgro, AON Re Africa and Old 
Mutual Emerging Markets. Fred is chairman of Lion of 
Africa Life Assurance Company, Sea Harvest Holdings 
and House of Monatic.

5. Lambert Retief (63)
Lambert is a chartered accountant and a non-executive 
director of Pioneer Foods and Novus Holdings. He has 
held various executive positions in printing industry 
bodies. He has been involved in the printing industry 
since 1978. He has been on the board of a number 
of listed entities, namely Naspers, Quantum Foods 
Holdings and Zeder Investments. He is executive 
chairman of Huguenot Investments.

6. Gugulethu Dingaan (40)
Gugulethu is an investment executive at WIPHOLD 
responsible for growing and managing its investment 
portfolio. She has a background in corporate finance 
with specific focus on mergers and acquisitions, 
transaction structuring and valuations. She is a director 
of Adcorp, Distell and SA Corporate Real Estate Fund 
Managers.

7. Sandile Zungu (49) 
Sandile is a non-executive director of, among others, 
Grindrod, Taquanta and Outdoor Network. He serves 
on the Black Business Council and represented South 
Africa on the BRICS Business Council. Sandile was a 
member of the World Economic Forum in his capacity as 
Young Global Leader. A few of the notable positions he 
has previously held include chairman of Barnard Jacobs 
Mellet Holdings and Denel, and executive director of 
New Africa Investments.

8. Edward van Niekerk (46)
Edward is a chartered accountant with 21 years’ 
experience. He is currently the chief financial officer 
of the Group, and has previously held the positions of 
Group financial manager and project manager. Prior to 
working for Novus Holdings, Edward held the positions 
of financial manager and financial director at S-U 
Management Services.

9. Christoffel Botha (55)
Christoffel is an attorney and chartered accountant, 
and has been involved in the private equity and venture 
capital industry since 1997. He is co-founder and partner 
of Treacle Private Equity, established in 2000. Christoffel 
has served on the boards of a number of listed and 
unlisted companies in the financial services, information 
technology, electronics, services and manufacturing 
industries.

10. Keith Vroon (50)
Keith Vroon is the acting chief executive officer of 
Novus Holdings. As a chartered accountant, Vroon 
began his career with the Paarl Media Group in 2004 as 
chief financial officer and was appointed as the Group’s 
chief operating officer in 2012. He was announced as 
acting CEO in February 2016. Vroon has contributed 
to the significant evolution of Novus Holdings over 
the years and is instrumental in driving the business 
strategy of the Group. 
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Bernard Olivier (62) 
Bernard is a chartered accountant. He was an 
assurance partner at PricewaterhouseCoopers (PwC), 
based at the Johannesburg office, for over 29 years. 
He also fulfilled several roles in the management, 
regulatory affairs and governance of PwC. Bernard was 

on the Independent Regulatory Board for Auditors’ 
inspection committee and was PwC South Africa’s 
registered liaison partner with the US Public Company 
Accounting Oversight Board.

CHANGES TO THE BOARD 
Following Stephen van der Walt’s resignation as CEO in February 2016, Keith Vroon has been appointed acting 
CEO. Keith was originally appointed as chief operating officer and an alternative executive director on the Novus 
Holdings’ board. He now serves as an executive director and acting CEO. 

Lead independent director, Uys Meyer, retired from the board and was replaced by Christoffel Botha, appointed 
as an independent non-executive director, effective 24 February 2016. Fred Robertson was elected as new lead 
independent director at the board meeting held on 8 June 2016.

In light of the changes above, an evaluation of the board will only be done toward the end of the 2016 calendar 
year. However, to ensure that the Group’s governance structure supports its ability to create value over the short, 
medium and long term, the level of expertise and competence of the current board has been assessed and compiled 
into a board competency framework. This framework provides an overview of directors’ experience and provides 
stakeholders with insight into board effectiveness. 

NOVUS HOLDINGS’ BOARD COMPETENCY FRAMEWORK

No experience Extensive experience/ 
core competence

Strategy and direction formulation

Financial and risk management

Knowledge and experience of corporate governance issues for listed companies

Financial audit

Non-executive/executive board experience in a medium-sized listed company

Tax and corporate finance

Operational experience in mergers and acquisitions and valuations

Corporate responsibility, including but not limited to knowledge of B-BBEE and sustainability codes

Selection and remuneration of executives

Sales and marketing

Operational experience in management of human resources

Legal matters

Operational experience in the Group's product markets

Operational experience in the printing, publishing or other manufacturing industries

OPERATIONS REPORT CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The Novus Holdings’ board consists of two executive 
directors and nine non-executive directors, six of 
whom are independent non-executive directors. In 
accordance with Novus Holdings’ board charter, the 
board’s composition reflects a majority of non-executive 
directors, including a lead independent director. No one 
director has unfettered powers of decision-making. 

The board is ultimately responsible for the management 
of Novus Holdings’ business, strategy and key policies. 
The board is also responsible for approving Novus 
Holdings’ financial objectives and targets. Appointments 
to the board follow a formal and transparent procedure 
and are a matter for the board, subject to shareholder 
approval. The board also has the power to appoint 
additional directors.

The company’s executive directors are involved in the 
day-to-day business activities of the Group and are 
responsible for ensuring that the decisions of the board 
are implemented in accordance with the mandates 
given by the board. The board has a minimum of four 
scheduled meetings per financial year. Ad hoc meetings 
are held to consider special business, if required.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The company secretary is responsible for providing the 
board with guidance on discharging its responsibilities 
in terms of legislation and regulatory requirements. 
Directors have unlimited access to the advice and 
services of the company secretary, who attends 
all board and committee meetings. The company 
secretary ensures that, in accordance with the 
pertinent laws, the proceedings and affairs of the 
board, the company itself and, where appropriate, 
shareholders are properly administered. The company 
secretary is also the company’s delegated information 
officer. The company secretary ensures adherence to 
closed periods for trading in Novus Holdings’ shares.

Novus Holdings is in the process of recruiting a suitable 
candidate to fill the vacancy of company secretary. 
Shareholders will be advised as soon as a new 
appointment has been made.

BOARD, COMMITTEES AND ATTENDANCE

1  These are not operating boards. 
2  The audit and risk committee will be split following the board’s decision at the board meeting on 8 June 2016.

NOVUS HOLDINGS BOARD

Board committees Subsidiary boards1

− Audit and risk2

− Remuneration
− Social and ethics
−  Nomination committee under formation
−  Ad hoc investment committee

− Paarl Media Holdings
− Paarl Media
− Paarl Media Paarl
− Macleary Investments 
− Paarl Coldset
− Paarl Labels
− Paarl Tissue
− Latiano 554
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MEETING ATTENDANCE RECORD

Board

Director 11 Jun 15 6 Aug 15 5 Nov 15 17 Mar 16

LP Retief (chairman) ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓
KA Vroon1 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓
CG Botha2 ✓
U Meyer3 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓
STM van der Walt4 ✓ ✓ ✓
E van Niekerk ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓
E Weideman ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓
A Mayman ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓
GP Dingaan ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓
F Robertson5 ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓
SDM Zungu ✓ ✓ ✓
BJ Olivier ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓
JN Potgieter ✓ ✓ ✓ ✓

1 Appointed as acting chief executive officer on 16 February 2016.
2  Appointed as director on 24 February 2016.
3  Resigned as lead independent non-executive director on 17 March 2016.
4  Resigned as executive director on 31 March 2016.
5  Appointed as lead independent non-executive director on 8 June 2016. 

Audit and risk committee

Director 9 Jun 15 14 Oct 15 4 Nov 15

BJ Olivier (chairman) ✓ ✓ ✓
U Meyer1 ✓ ✓ ✓
GP Dingaan ✓ ✓ ✓
CG Botha2

1 Resigned on 17 March 2016.
2  Appointed on 24 February 2016.

Remuneration committee

Director 10 Jun 15 5 Aug 15 4 Nov 15

BJ Olivier (chairman) ✓ ✓ ✓
JN Potgieter ✓ ✓
LP Retief ✓ ✓ ✓
SDM Zungu ✓ ✓

Social and ethics committee

Director 5 Jun 15 22 Sep 15 17 Mar 16

F Robertson (chairman) ✓ ✓ ✓

A Mayman ✓ ✓ ✓

E Weideman ✓ ✓ ✓

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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MEETING ATTENDANCE RECORD (continued)

Nominations committee
No meetings were held during the year. This committee was only formed on 8 June 2016.

Nominations committee

Director

F Robertson (chairman)
LP Retief
BJ Olivier

Investment committee
The committee was formed at the board meeting of 10 June 2015. 

The Committee does not have a formal meeting schedule and meets as often as is required or desirable, having 
regard to the matters that fall within its mandate. During the year, three meetings were held.

Investment committee

Director

LP Retief (chairman)
F Robertson
A Mayman
U Meyer1

CG Botha2

1 Resigned on 17 March 2016.
2  Appointed on 24 February 2016.
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AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The audit and risk committee is responsible for 
performing the functions required of it in terms of 
section 94(7) of the Companies Act. These functions 
include:
−  nominating and appointing the Group’s auditors  

and ensuring that such auditors are independent 
of the Group;

−  determining the auditors’ fees and terms of 
engagement;

−  ensuring that the appointment of the auditors 
complies with the provisions of the Companies Act 
and any other relevant legislation;

−  determining, from time to time, the nature and 
extent of non-audit services to be provided by the 
Group’s auditors and to preapprove any agreement 
in respect of such services;

−  preparing a report to be included in the integrated 
report of the Group, in compliance with the 
Companies Act;

−  dealing with any complaints (whether from within 
or outside the Group) relating to accounting 
practices, internal audits of the Group or the 
content of the Group’s financial statements and 
related matters; and

−  making submissions to the board on any matter 
concerning the Group’s accounting policies and 
financial control.

The non-statutory functions of this committee are 
to assist the board in discharging its duties relating 
to the safeguarding of the assets of Novus Holdings, 
the operation of adequate systems, the formulation 
of internal controls and control processes and the 
review and preparation of accurate financial reporting 
and statements in compliance with all applicable legal 
requirements, corporate governance and accounting 
standards and addressing statutory and regulatory 
issues, including the nomination for appointment, 
removal and replacement of the external auditors, 
with the appointment being subject to the approval by 
shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting.

With regard to risk, this committee assists the board in 
ensuring that:
−  the Group has implemented relevant risk 

management processes that will enhance Novus 
Holdings’ ability to achieve its strategic objectives; 
and

−  the Group’s disclosure regarding risk is 
comprehensive, timely and relevant.

Read more in the risk report on page 105.

The audit and risk committee normally invites the chief 
executive officer, the chief financial officer, the head of 
internal audit and the external audit partners to attend 
meetings and to make proposals as necessary, and 
invites the chairman of the board to all audit and risk 
committee meetings.

The audit and risk committee annually reviews and 
reports on whether or not it is satisfied with the 
expertise, experience and performance of the chief 
financial officer, Edward van Niekerk. The audit and 
risk committee confirms this review by reporting to the 
shareholders in the Novus Holdings’ integrated report 
that it has executed this responsibility. The audit and 
risk committee has determined that it is satisfied with 
Edward van Niekerk’s current expertise, experience and 
performance as Novus Holdings’ chief financial officer 
in the past reporting period. In addition, the audit and 
risk committee reviews and reports on the expertise, 
resources and experience of the company’s finance 
function.

The audit and risk committee meets at least three 
times per financial year. Ad hoc meetings are held 
to consider special business, as required. All three 
members of the committee are independent non-
executive directors of Novus Holdings.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE



104 NOVUS HOLDINGS

GROUP AT A GLANCE STRATEGIC OVERVIEW LEADERSHIP REPORT

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The remuneration committee is responsible for the 
specific remuneration packages for executive directors, 
including, but not limited to, basic salary, performance-
based short-term and long-term incentives, pensions 
and other benefits (recommendations in this regard 
are made after considering both the interests of the 
shareholders and the financial and commercial health 
of the Group), long-term incentive schemes and 
the allocation of shares and rights in terms thereof. 
The remuneration committee is also responsible for 
recommending to the board fees for the directors and 
chairman, as well as fees for members and chairmen  
of committees of the board, for subsequent approval 
by shareholders.

The remuneration committee meets at least twice per 
financial year. Ad hoc meetings are held to consider 
special business, as required. The remuneration 
committee is comprised entirely of non-executive 
directors.

Read more in the remuneration report on page 109.

SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE
The social and ethics committee met for the first time 
in the past year. Its objective is to assist the board in 

ensuring that the Group meets is obligations in terms 
of section 72 and regulation 43 of the Companies Act. 

The social and ethics committee monitors the Group’s 
activities, having regard to any relevant legislation, 
other legal requirements and prevailing codes of 
best practice, in respect of social and economic 
development, good corporate citizenship (including 
the promotion of equality, prevention of unfair 
discrimination, the environment, health and public 
safety, including the impact of the Group’s activities 
and of its products or services), stakeholder and 
consumer relationships and labour and employment 
issues.

The social and ethics committee draws to the attention  
of the board matters within its mandate as occasion 
requires and reports to the shareholders at the 
company’s Annual General Meeting on such matters.

To carry out its functions, the social and ethics 
committee will be entitled to request information from 
any director or employee of Novus Holdings, attend 
and be heard at the general shareholders’ meetings, 
and receive notices in respect of such meetings.

The social and ethics committee meets at least twice 
per financial year. Ad hoc meetings are held to consider 
special business, as required.

FOCUS AREAS FOR 2016 FOCUS AREAS FOR 2017

−  Review of Novus Holdings’ B-BBEE status 
identified areas of improvement, including 
skills development, recruitment of employees 
with disabilities and employment equity with a 
specific focus on management transformation

−  Review of Novus Holdings’ CSI spend, including 
the oversight of the launch of the Novus 
Holdings’ Future Foundations and Paarl Media 
Bursary Trust

−  Adoption of a social and ethics risk register and 
monitoring of the ethics awareness campaign

−  Monitor improvements and track progress with 
B-BBEE through management scorecards

−  Follow-through of the ethics awareness 
campaign

−  Formulation of gender diversity policy and 
targets

−  Expansion of sustainability awareness, focus on 
practices and monitoring

Read more about current Novus Holdings’ social and environmental practices in the operations report from page 77.
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RISK REPORT
The Novus Holdings board is responsible for the 
governance of risk and mandates the audit and risk 
committee to monitor risk management, which 
includes the assessment of risk management processes 
and plans. A risk register is maintained of significant 
risks facing the Group, and actions to manage these 
risks within the board-approved ranges of tolerance 
are monitored.

The Novus Holdings enterprise-wide risk management 
framework is designed to ensure that significant risks 
and related incidents are identified, documented, 
managed, monitored and reported in a consistent and 
structured manner across the Group. It is modelled 
on the Committee of the Sponsoring Organisations of 
the Treadway Commission Framework for Enterprise-
wide Risk Management (COSO ERM), as well as 
the internationally accepted COBIT framework for 
the governance of information technology. The 
risk management process is subject to continuous 
improvement.

As a leader in print and manufacturing, operating in  
a competitive and dynamic market, the Group is 
exposed to a wide range of risks. Identifying risks and 
drafting plans to manage these risks on a strategic  
and operational level form part of each division’s 
business plan.

Read more about Novus Holdings’ strategic risks in 
the operating environment and material matters 
section from page 31.

During the past year, Novus Holdings undertook various 
risk control assessments at all its facilities, which were 
used to improve the risk management processes at  
each site.

An integral part of the risk control process is the 
commitment, guidance and leadership provided by the 
senior management at site level and regular auditing by 
the Novus Group SHERQ manager. External risk audits 
are conducted annually.

The risk control audits included an on-site survey of each 
operation and a detailed document review, covering the 
following disciplines:
− Management/risk control organisation
− Fire defence
− Engineering practices
− Security
− Emergency planning
− Motor fleet (including forklifts)

The recently acquired Correll Tissue plant has been 
incorporated into the Group’s risk management plan 
and is monitored against the same targets as the rest of 
Novus Holdings’ operations. While controls are not yet 
on the same level as the rest of the Group, actions and 
targets are in place to ensure the plant’s compliance 
following the completion of the expansion project. 
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The following table summarises the top risks that the Group faced during the past financial year, with  
mitigating actions:

Risk description Actions to mitigate

Risk type: Strategic

The Group is sensitive to geopolitical and market 
developments, especially to local political, 
economic and other events that may influence 
the consumption of media. 

−  Novus Holdings continuously monitors the global and  
South African situation, as well as the relevant indicators

−  The Group co-operates closely with the Department of  
Basic Education

Risk type: Operational

Shrinking print orders and pagination declines 
in the traditional magazine and newspaper 
markets could have a negative effect on cost 
efficiencies.

−  There is ongoing emphasis on unlocking synergies across 
the Group, focusing on standardisation as far as possible

−  There is a continual focus on efficiency, agility and ensuring 
the Group matches capacity to demand

Risk type: Operational and Financial

Any adverse event (financial or otherwise) at 
a supplier or in the marine transport process 
that could impact the supply of paper to Novus 
Holdings. This may result in a loss of income to 
the Group due to the resultant inability to print 
certain products (particularly magazines).

−  Novus Holdings maintains minimum stock levels of papers
−  More than one international supplier and two South 

African suppliers are in place (where possible)
−  Insurance is in place for paper damage resulting from 

marine transport

Risk type: Operational

Failure of key infrastructure components, for 
example:
−  A sudden, unforeseen event affecting access 

to the main centres
− Eskom power supply outages
−  Water shortages and insufficient water 

pressure
−  Failure of IT infrastructure at the main centres
−  Failure of infrastructure that disrupts 

significant parts of the business and which 
may result in a loss of revenue 

− Complete back-up processes are in place
−  Generators and an uninterrupted power supply installed in 

all plants, except Correll Tissue
−  Installation of water tanks and pumps to increase pressure

Risk type: Operational

Software problems in key applications resulting 
in interruption or delays in print and production. 
Software issues could interrupt prepress, 
printing, distribution and online activities, 
resulting in a loss of income.

−  Rigorous testing of programs, requiring business sign-off 
before implementation

−  Managing access control, firewalls and antivirus software
− Ongoing maintenance of programs
−  Proper IT systems in place to support the business.
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Risk description Actions to mitigate

Risk type: Operational and Compliance

Serious injury or death while on duty and caused 
by an incident at a Novus Holdings’ facility as  
a result of non-compliance with the South 
African Occupational Health and Safety Act  
(SA OH&S Act), may lead to criminal liability, 
fines and penalties for the Group, directors  
and/or officers.

−  Novus Holdings performs regular health and safety 
reviews. 

−  The consequences of non-compliance with the SA OH&S 
Act are communicated to management, and remedial 
action is taken where appropriate

− The relevant employees receive ongoing training
−  Short-term insurance includes financial compensation to 

employees in the case of death or serious injury on duty

Risk type: Operational

The availability of top talent is a concern, as is 
the risk of being unable to attract and retain top-
quality employees

− Talent management strategies are in place
−  The Novus Holdings’ Academy offers technical and non-

technical training to employees
− Succession planning is in place

Risk type: Operational and Financial

The Group has substantial input costs in 
foreign currency, specifically with respect to 
procurement of paper and printing equipment. 
The movements in currency against the rand 
are unpredictable and could result in unplanned 
movements leading to significant losses.

−  Novus Holdings has a policy in place that governs the 
management of foreign currency risk through forward 
exchange contracts to limit the financial impact and 
uncertainty resulting from currency movements

Risk type: Strategic and Compliance

Compliance with B-BBEE legislation is challenged 
by new BEE thresholds. The largest impact for 
the Group will be in the areas of employment 
equity and skills development, where there is 
a risk of losing Novus Holdings’ current level as 
the new codes are onerous.

−  All business units have specific BEE targets, and 
employment equity, skills development, social investment, 
procurement spend and enterprise development are 
tracked

Risk type: Compliance

Internal policies and procedures are in place 
to ensure the sustainability of the Group as a 
well-governed and well-managed organisation. 
Non-compliance threatens the above and 
carries adverse reputational consequences in 
the market.

−  Regular review of policies and procedures to ensure these 
remain relevant to the Group

− Communication of policies and procedures to stakeholders
− Effective internal control process
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Risk description Actions to mitigate

Risk type: Compliance and Financial

Non-compliance with legislation could result in:
− Fines
− Interest
− Penalties
− Jail sentences
− Directors and/or officers being held liable

−  Specific compliance procedures are in place, either 
electronically in application or by monitoring

−  Training in terms of the operational implications of the 
Consumer Protection Act and POPI Act

−  Policy adopted in relation to trading in securities, which 
sets out under which conditions representatives may deal 
in securities and the requirements that apply

Risk type: Financial

Short-term financing is insufficient to finance 
working capital.

−  Monthly cash forecasts to the end of the financial year 
are prepared and reviewed at Novus Holdings’ monthly 
management meeting

−  The Group’s cash position is monitored weekly by the chief 
financial officer

− Overdraft and financing facilities are in place

Risk type: Financial

Credit extended to clients is disproportionate to  
the risk of non-payment.

Export transactions have a higher risk of non-
payment due to it generally being more costly 
and complex to recover foreign debt.

Export transactions may result in delayed payment 
due to liquidity issues in the country of export.

−  Credit applications are subject to a vetting process and 
must be signed off by the relevant financial manager or 
financial director

−  Debtors age analyses are monitored monthly and 
corrective action taken

−  Payment for clients in African countries (ex-South Africa) 
must be secured by an irrevocable letter of credit 
(tender policy for Government and Africa print work). 
The exception to this is where the credit application and 
vetting process shows an acceptable level of risk

Risk type: Financial

Accounting matters arising due to changes in 
International Financial Reporting Standards 
(IFRS) and International Standards on Auditing 
(ISA) that may require significant changes to 
the annual financial statements disclosure and 
accounting recognition in the Group’s records, 
for example:
−  The treatment of share-based payments
−  IFRS 15 Revenue from contracts with 

customers
−  IFRS 9 Classification and measurement of 

financial instruments
− Leasing projects

−  The central finance team attends regular industry and 
accounting-update training

−  Ongoing discussions with PwC to determine possible 
threat and level of impact



109INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTSOPERATIONS REPORT

REMUNERATION REPORT
LETTER FROM THE CHAIRMAN OF  
THE REMUNERATION COMMITTEE TO  
THE SHAREHOLDERS
It is with great pleasure that I present Novus  
Holdings’ remuneration report for the year ended  
31 March 2016. We changed the format and 
disclosures in this report to align it with the norms 
set out in the 2009 King III Report on Corporate 
Governance (King III), the 2016 draft of the King IV 
Report on Corporate Governance (King IV draft) and 
the integrated reporting movement. Notably, we 
divided our report in two parts – part 1 sets out the 
forward-looking remuneration policy and part 2 sets 
out the implementation of the remuneration policy  
in FY2016. We also included a forward-looking section 
in part 1 that details the prospective changes to the 
remuneration policy in FY2017.

This report sets out the remuneration philosophy, 
policy, principles and salient features, which are 
mainly applicable to the chief executive officer 
(CEO), executive directors, non-executive directors, 
executives, senior management, management and 
specialists associated with Novus Holdings. The 
remuneration policy continues to be guided by Novus 
Holdings’ five-year business strategy of diversification 
to reduce the reliance on the core business of 
printing. More details on the progress made in 
realising the business strategy can be found in our 
group growth strategy and business model report on 
page 43 of this integrated report. 

South Africa’s economic environment has been 
difficult over the past financial year and print media 
companies have not been unaffected. In spite of this, 
Novus Holdings’ executives successfully oversaw 
development in operational efficiency initiatives 

and growth in our new business areas. Our results 
showed that our gross profit margin increased to 
30,2%, operating profit excluding impairments and 
profit/(loss) from disposal of assets increased by 2,5% 
from 31 March 2015, and HEPS levels increased by 
9,6%. In our diversification projects, the labels and 
tissue operations increased their contribution to 
revenue during the year. More detail on our annual 
performance is set out in the CEO’s report on page 64 
of this report.

We engaged with shareholders regarding the 
remuneration policy and the policy received a 
favourable vote of 99,6% at the 2015 Annual General 
Meeting. In response to shareholder concerns, we 
added performance conditions to the company’s 
new long-term incentives. We also disclosed detail 
on executive directors’ service contracts in part 1 of 
this report. A complete list of the decisions made by 
the remuneration committee in FY2016 is set out 
below. We also conducted a detailed review of our 
remuneration policy and retained PwC and Deloitte  
as our independent remuneration advisers.

As in previous years, we will put our remuneration policy 
(as set out in part 1) to a non-binding shareholder vote 
at the Annual General Meeting that will be held on  
12 August 2016. We ask that you show your support 
by voting in favour of the policy. We also encourage 
shareholders to proactively participate in our 
remuneration arrangements.

Yours faithfully

Bernard Olivier
Chairman of the remuneration committee
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PART 1: REMUNERATION POLICY
REMUNERATION PHILOSOPHY
The remuneration policies are designed to achieve 
the alignment between Novus Holdings’ business 
strategy and the behaviour of the CEO, executive 
directors, non-executive directors, executives, senior 
management, management and specialists, and to 
ensure that the right skills are attracted and retained. 
Furthermore, it aims to ensure short-term success 
and long-term sustainability, while maintaining and 
reinforcing entrepreneurship and team spirit – key 
points of Novus Holdings’ corporate culture. Novus 
Holdings aims to reward employees in a manner 
which is fair, equitable and reflective of both company 
and individual performance and which rewards each 
employee in line with their individual contribution.

Novus Holdings’ strategic objectives are set out 
in the integrated report. The composition of each 
remuneration package reflects and rewards the 
achievement of these objectives.

KEY PRINCIPLES OF THE  
REMUNERATION POLICY
To create a performance culture and align the 
interests of management with the interests of 
stakeholders through value creation, the reward 
strategy is geared to make a sizeable percentage of 
total pay at risk and link it to the achievement of 
targets, which are based on company and individual 
performance. The policy strives to achieve a fair 
and sustainable balance between the guaranteed 
package, short-term incentives and long-term 
incentives. 

GOVERNANCE AND THE  
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The remuneration committee is a subcommittee of 
the board and operates under terms of reference, 
which the board reviews annually. It was established 
to ensure remuneration practices support Novus 
Holdings’ strategic aims and in doing so attract 
and retain executives and employees at all levels 

successfully, while complying with all relevant legal 
and regulatory requirements. The remuneration 
committee also evaluates and remunerates the 
CEO and oversees the evaluation and remuneration 
of executive directors, non-executive directors, 
executives, senior management, management and 
specialists, which is ultimately approved by the  
board and shareholders.

The remuneration committee is responsible to 
oversee and recommend to the board for approval 
the Novus Holdings reward philosophy, policy, 
remuneration mix and the implementation thereof.  
In line with best practice, the majority of members  
of the remuneration committee are independent  
non-executive directors.

The remuneration committee actively engages with 
independent advisors and stakeholders to ensure 
that the remuneration philosophy, policy, strategy 
and practices are aligned with best practice and the 
strategic imperatives of Novus Holdings. 

The remuneration structure for all employees 
is determined and approved by the executive 
committee (ExCo) and is in line with a mandate they 
received from the remuneration committee.

The remuneration committee chairman formally 
reports to the board on the proceedings of the 
remuneration committee and, in line with King III, 
attends the Annual General Meeting to respond to 
any shareholder questions relating to the reward 
strategy and remuneration paid during the year. 

MEMBERS OF THE  
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The members of the committee for the year under 
review were:
–  Mr BJ Olivier (chairman) (independent  

non-executive)
– Mr JN Potgieter (independent non-executive)
– Mr LP Retief (non-executive)
–  Mr SDM Zungu (independent non-executive 

director)
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The CEO, the group executive: human resources,  
and Ms E Weideman and Mr A Mayman attend 
remuneration committee meetings by invitation. 
However, they do not participate in the voting  
process. The CEO and the group executive:  
human resources are not present when their  
remuneration is discussed. Deloitte and PwC have 
been engaged as Novus Holdings’ independent 
advisors and attend remuneration committee 
meetings in an advisory capacity as and when 
required. The company secretary acts as secretary  
to the remuneration committee. 

The remuneration committee attendance record 
for FY2016 is set out on page 101 of the corporate 
governance report.

RESPONSIBILITIES AND DUTIES OF THE 
REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The responsibilities of the remuneration committee 
are summarised as follows:

–  Annual review of the Group’s reward philosophy, 
strategy and policies (including recruitment, 
retention and termination policies) for executive 
managers and directors to enable the Group to 
attract and retain executives and directors who  
will create value for shareholders.

–  Oversee the establishment of a remuneration 
policy that will promote the achievement of 
strategic objectives and encourage individual 
performance.

–  Annual review of the basis of calculation of 
executive managers’ and directors’ remuneration 
to ensure that it is reasonable when taking into 
account the measurement of performance against 
predetermined and agreed criteria.

–  Ensure that any remuneration policies fairly and 
responsibly reward executives taking into account 
the performance of the Group, the performance of 
the executive and prevailing remuneration trends 
in the market.

–  Review the outcomes of the implementation of the 
remuneration policy to determine whether the set 
objectives are being achieved.

–  Ensure that the mix of fixed and variable pay, 
in cash, shares and other elements, meets the 
Group’s needs and strategic objectives.

–  Satisfy itself as to the accuracy of recorded 
performance measures that govern the vesting  
of incentives.

–  Ensure that all benefits, including retirement 
benefits and other financial arrangements, are 
justified and correctly valued.

–  Consider the evaluation results of the chief 
executive officer’s performance and other 
executive directors, both as directors and as 
executives, in determining remuneration.

–  Select an appropriate comparative group when 
comparing remuneration levels.

–  Regularly review incentive schemes presented by 
management to ensure continued contribution to 
shareholder value and that these are administered 
in terms of the rules.

–  Consider the appropriateness of early vesting of 
share-based schemes at the end of employment.

–  Advise on the remuneration of non-executive 
directors.

–  Oversee the preparation and recommend the 
remuneration report to be included in the 
integrated report to the board.

–  Ensure that the remuneration policy is put to a 
non-binding advisory vote at the General Meeting 
of shareholders once every year.

–  Determine the policy for and scope of service 
agreements for the executive management 
team, termination payments and remuneration 
commitments for new appointments.

–  Review (at least annually) the terms and conditions 
of executive directors’ service agreements.

–  Consider the quorum of the committee and  
ensure that the chairman of the committee or,  
in his/her absence, an appointed deputy, attends 
the Annual General Meeting or similar forums  
to answer questions about the remuneration  
strategy and policy. 

–  Review of current industry and general best 
practice in remuneration.

–  Review the succession plan for the CEO and other 
executives on an annual basis.
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ACTIVITIES OF THE REMUNERATION 
COMMITTEE DURING FY2016
The key activities of the remuneration committee in 
the year are set out below. 

–  Reviewed the long-term incentive (LTI) structures 
for the Group in line with market best practice, and 
decided to recommend a share appreciation rights 
plan and a restricted share plan (more detail is set 
out in the “forward-looking section” below) for 
approval by the board and shareholders.

–  Conducted executive benchmarking on a total 
remuneration basis and reviewed the market 
positioning against its peer companies; and

–  Assessed whether the performance targets  
had been met for the short-term incentive (STI)  
(at Group, divisional and individual level), and 
approved the resulting STI payments and ad hoc 
awards, production bonuses and secondary short-
term incentives to certain executives, managers 
and specialists.

INDEPENDENT ADVISORS 
During the year, the remuneration committee received 
advice and guidance from Deloitte and PwC on the 
LTI plan in terms of best practice and corporate 
governance standards.

The company uses PwC’s REMchannel® to grade 
executive directors, executives, senior management, 
management and specialists, and thereafter 
determine and benchmark their remuneration 
accordingly. In addition, PwC conducted a bespoke 
executive directors’ remuneration benchmarking 
exercise in FY2016 (see detailed explanation below). 

REMUNERATION MIX AND PACKAGE DESIGN
The remuneration policy follows the internationally 
recognised practice of combining guaranteed packages 
with short-term and long-term incentives to construct a 
competitive remuneration package that aligns employee 
behaviour with the achievement of Group objectives. 
The remuneration mix places a significant portion of the 
total remuneration package at risk to yield significant 
returns based on performance. That said, remuneration 
is also aligned with the company’s internal risk 
management policy and does not encourage excessive 
risk-taking by executives.

OTHER REWARD STRATEGY PRINCIPLES
The guaranteed package, on-target STIs and  
LTIs award policy for the financial year ended  
31 March 2016 are set out below:

Management level
Market position  

for guaranteed package
Maximum STI 

on-target earning potential
Chief executive officer 50th percentile 85% of package
Executives 50th percentile 65% of package
Senior management 50th percentile 35% of package
Management and specialists 50th percentile 25% of package
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SUMMARY OF ELEMENTS OF REMUNERATION POLICY
The table below summarises the different elements of the remuneration policy, the strategic link behind each 
element, and a brief description for each aspect of the policy.

Remuneration component Strategic intent and drivers

Guaranteed package (total cost of employment) Primarily to remunerate: 
– for skills of the individual
– market positioning
– cost of living increases

Detail

The guaranteed package reflects individual competence and is reviewed annually, with performance-based 
salary adjustments effective 1 April each year.

Remuneration component Strategic intent and drivers

Benefits and allowances Benefits:
–  integrated approach to wellness, driving  

employee engagement

Allowances:
– compliance with legislation
– contractual agreement

Detail

Benefits
Benefits include, but are not limited to, membership of a retirement plan (provident or pension fund) and 
health insurance, disability and death cover, to which contributions are made by both the company and the 
employee. The contributions form part of the guaranteed package. 

Allowances
Allowances are offered in line with statutory requirements and agreements with employees, and form part of 
the guaranteed package.

The guaranteed package, together with the  
maximum STI on-target amount, achieves pay levels 
that are in line with the market-related pay mix  
on benchmarked positions.

Novus Holdings currently does not have a policy 
of making annual LTI awards to executives. Upon 
approval of the share trust, awards of options were 

given to executives as a long-term incentive and 
retention arrangement. However, the remuneration 
committee, as part of its mandate to regularly review 
the company’s remuneration policy for efficiency and  
best practice, proposes a review of the LTI award 
policy as a forward-looking initiative. 
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Remuneration component Strategic intent and drivers

STIs Primarily to remunerate for performance at the 
following levels:
– Group
– division
– team
– individual

Detail

–  Top-down bonus pool. For divisional executives, Group and divisional performance are also taken into account.
– EBIT growth and individual performance scores influence the bonus payments.
– Payments are subject to clawback. 

Remuneration component Strategic intent and drivers

LTIs Used for:
– retention
– long-term performance
– ownership
– wealth creation

Detail

–  Currently consists of Novus Holdings Share Trust. Awards are subject to continued employment with the Group.
–  A Share Appreciation Rights (SAR) scheme and Restricted Share Plan (RSP) are proposed for shareholder 

approval at the Annual General Meeting for 2017 financial year onwards. 

FORWARD-LOOKING SECTION
The following section sets out changes to the forward-looking elements to the remuneration policy in FY2017.

Remuneration component Forward-looking element

Guaranteed package  
(total cost of employment)

–  In the 2016 financial year, a robust benchmarking exercise with 
extended data points was conducted for executive guaranteed packages. 
This benchmarking was conducted against general market data, as 
well as against Novus Holdings’ comparator group of companies (in 
terms of size and industry). Following the results of the exercise, the 
remuneration committee repositioned the levels of guaranteed pay 
for executives to align them with the relevant market benchmarks. 
The results of the extensive benchmarking exercise indicated that 
the company’s executives were positioned to the 50th percentile of 
the market. As forward-looking policy, guaranteed pay of executives 
will be positioned against the 50th percentile. The pay levels will 
be based primarily on individual performance, reviewed annually 
against REMchannel® data and benchmarked against Novus Holdings’ 
comparator group of companies.

–  In accordance with the policy for 50th percentile for guaranteed pay, 
an average annual increase of 5% was approved for executive directors 
and executives, 6% for senior management and 6,5% for management, 
specialists and general employees with effect from 1 April 2016.
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Remuneration component Forward-looking element

STIs –  The scheme will operate along the same parameters as it did in FY2016. 
–  The scheme and the participants will be subject to review on an annual 

basis, depending on changes to Novus Holdings’ business objectives  
and strategy. 

–  Discretionary bonuses, production bonuses and secondary incentives  
(to certain executives) will remain as it did in FY2016.

LTIs Novus Holdings reviewed its remuneration structure and, based on the 
advice from Deloitte and PwC, recognised there was a need for a less 
dilutive LTI plan, which increases shareholder value, is linked to long-term 
performance conditions, incentivises performance and retains critical 
talent. Novus Holdings intends to adopt two additional share plans, namely 
the Novus Holdings Limited SAR plan and the Novus Holdings Limited RSP. 

The SAR
–  Executive directors, executives and senior management will be eligible 

to participate in the SAR. In terms of the SAR, employees receive shares 
equal to the increase in the value of a certain number of shares between 
the award date and the exercise date. Vesting will also be subject to 
the continued employment of the participants during the employment 
period and the performance conditions. 

–  Rolling awards of performance-linked shares will be made annually. 
Awards which are not linked to performance will be made on an ad hoc 
basis based on necessity to retain critical talent. 

–  By its very nature, a SAR requires an increase in share price in order to 
yield value to its participants. This provides a sufficiently strong link to 
share price growth to constitute an additional performance hurdle.

The RSP
–  Employees with critical skills are eligible to participate in the RSP.
–  In terms of the RSP, participants are awarded conditional rights over 

shares on an annual basis, the vesting of which is conditional upon 
satisfactory performance conditions (if applicable), and the continued 
employment of the participants throughout the employment period.

–  Executives of the group will not participate in the RSP.

Share plans will work within the shareholder-approved dilution limit of 
10% of issued shares. The total number of shares used for the existing 
share option plan and the new SAR and RSP would not exceed this limit.

Amendment to early termination clauses
For all current share plans, the early termination clauses will be amended 
to provide for pro rata vesting for ill health, retirement, disability, 
death, retrenchment or any other circumstances that the remuneration 
committee may deem applicable. Pro rata vesting of unvested LTI 
instruments will be based on the time employed and the extent to which 
performance conditions were met from the award date until the early 
vesting date. The newly proposed SAR and RSP plans will also provide for 
pro rata vesting in line with market and governance best practices. 
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GUARANTEED PAY
The guaranteed package is comprised of a base salary, 
compulsory benefits (i.e. retirement, health insurance 
and medical aid – see below) and allowances (i.e. car 
and subsistence – see below).

–  During the year under review, as explained above, 
a benchmarking exercise was conducted to 
examine executive directors’ total remuneration. 
The comparator group, which consisted of listed 
companies, was determined based on a closeness 
metric that considered cash generated from 
operations, total assets and earnings before 
interest and tax in comparison to Novus Holdings. 
The aim of the comparator group selection was to 
provide a refined and justifiable list of companies 
similar in profile to Novus Holdings to avoid 
“cherry-picking”.

–  A secondary analysis of the executive directors’ 
remuneration, as well as that of other executives 
and senior management, was conducted against 
the PwC REMchannel® National database.

–  Based on the results of the benchmarking 
exercise against the comparator group and PwC’s 
REMchannel® data, the guaranteed packages 
of executive directors, executives and senior 
management are on average at the 50th percentile 
of the comparator group, with management and 
specialists’ guaranteed packages on average being 
slightly below the 50th percentile. As such, Novus 
Holdings’ remuneration policy (see the forward-
looking section above) has been adjusted to  
reflect this.

–  As a result, with effect from 1 April 2016, the 
average percentage increase for guaranteed 
packages has been set at 5% at the executive 
director and executive levels, with average 
increases for management and specialists at 6,5%. 
In addition, an accelerated progress programme 
has been implemented to adjust remuneration on 
an incremental basis based on:

 •  the results of an agreed programme being 
monitored by a mentor/coach;

 •  the results of a formal bi-annual performance 
assessment; and 

 • the delivery of a formal portfolio of evidence. 

INTERNAL WAGE GAP
Novus Holdings is sensitive to the wage disparities 
between the highest and lowest earners within the 
Group. As part of our effort to monitor the internal 
wage gap, Novus Holdings will calculate and compare 
the company’s Gini coefficient against that of South 
Africa’s workforce. When determining the annual 
guaranteed package increases at executive level,  
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Novus Holdings takes into account the average salary 
increase levels for middle management and general 
employees. Increases that exceed those for middle 
management and general employees will only be 
made where it is necessary to align the pay packages 
of executives with the relevant market benchmarks.

BENEFITS AND ALLOWANCES
Benefits include, but are not limited to, membership 
of a retirement plan (provident and pension fund) and 
health insurance, disability and death cover, to which 
contributions are made by both the company and the 
employee. The contributions towards the benefits 
form part of the guaranteed package. 

Allowances are offered in line with statutory 
requirements and co-determined substantive 
agreements. These include car allowances for 
executives and reimbursive travel payments. 
Allowances form part of the guaranteed package, 
whereas any reimbursive payments fall outside of  
the guaranteed package.

STIs
The salient features of the STI scheme are set  
out below.

BONUS POOL
–  The company migrated from a scorecard-based 

arrangement (bottom-up approach) to a self-
funded bonus pool arrangement. Participants are 
determined by the CEO and include executive 
directors, executives, senior management, 
management and specialists (a total of  
58 participants).

–  STI payments dependent on the achievement of 
targeted levels of performance.

–  The applicable target was based on an amount 
exceeding budgeted EBIT. 

–  The incentive pools are comprised of Novus 
Holdings (at Group level), heatset , coldset, tissues 
and labels (at divisional level). Where a participant 
is required to focus on both overall Group and 
divisional performance, a portion of the bonus 
will be drawn from the Novus Holdings Group 
pool and a portion from the divisional pool(s). The 
CEO is responsible for determining the allocations 
between the Group and the divisional pool(s), 
which is based on the participants’ roles and 
responsibilities and the need to encourage the 
Novus Holdings team culture.

–  The threshold performance level for the STI was set 
at 85% (0% bonus pool) of the target, with linear 
vesting from 85% to 100% of target (100% bonus 
pool at achieving target) and at 117,8% of target for 
outperformance (200% stretch bonus pool).

–  The objective of the STI is to drive performance 
to exceed target and not just achieve it. On 
exceeding the target, 20% of the beyond target 
figure is added to the on-target bonus pool. At 
117,8% of target, the bonus pool grows to 200%. 
Participants’ share in the beyond target bonus 
pool is based on the individual’s evaluation 
scorecard (150% of individual’s proportional share 
of the outperformance bonus pool for individual 
performance scores of 100%; 125% of individual’s 
proportional share of the outperformance bonus 
pool for individual’s evaluation performance scores 
of 90%; 100% of individual’s proportional share 
of the outperformance bonus pool for individual’s 
evaluation performance scores of 80%; a 70% 
evaluation performance score is the entry level 
for participation in the outperformance bonus 
pool – 50% of individual’s proportional share of the 
outperformance bonus pool; 0% participation for 
individual’s evaluation performance scores of less 
than 69%).
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Performance score
Modifier applied to on-target earning potential 

(see table below)
100% (outstanding) 150%
90% (exceeds expectations) 125%
80% (meets material expectations) 100%
70% (meets some expectations, with development) 50%
Below 70% 0%

Please note all final STI amounts are dependent on the 
quantum of the bonus pool available. Therefore, where 
a threshold bonus pool is available, all participants’ 
final STI will be adjusted downwards, for an on-target 
bonus pool final STI will depend upon the relative 
performance scores of all STI participants. For a  
stretch bonus pool, participants final STI may be 
increased pro rata to the larger bonus pool available 
(dependent upon the relative performance scores  
of all STI participants). 

ON-TARGET EARNING POTENTIALS – STI
The on-target earning potentials for the STI scheme 
for FY2017 remain as for FY2016. These percentages 
are reviewed annually based on past performance and 
expectations for the following year.

Employment equity and skills development, working 
capital, cash flow management and productivity 
targets are included in all of the participants’ individual 
balanced scorecards. 

DISCRETIONARY BONUSES, PRODUCTION 
BONUSES AND SECONDARY INCENTIVES
Other employees (senior management, management 
and specialists) who do not participate in the STI and 
who perform above and beyond their responsibilities 
may be awarded a discretionary bonus. This ad hoc 
bonus is not contractually agreed upon. Executives must 
nominate potential recipients to the CEO for approval. 

Employees in production positions who do not 
participate in the STI and who make a major 
contribution to the achievement of production 
efficiency receive recognition for their efforts. 
Production bonuses are not guaranteed, and 
executives responsible for operating divisions must 
nominate recipients to the CEO for approval. 

Secondary short-term incentives comparable to a 
commission structure (subject to a maximum level), 
are used to reward sales, marketing and business 
development executives for exceptional performance 
with reference to sales achieved. They are proposed 
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to the remuneration committee by the CEO. These 
bonuses are considered against the participants’ 
guaranteed package and variable remuneration 
awards received (if any).

Performance conditions to qualify for such 
discretionary and production bonuses and secondary 
incentives are in the process of being finalised by the 
remuneration committee.

RISK ADJUSTMENTS
Clawback will be implemented on STI payments 
post vesting at the discretion of the remuneration 
committee. The events giving rise to clawback include 

fraud and employee misconduct. The clawback 
period runs for one year after the STI payment was 
made. Should one of the trigger events occur, the 
remuneration committee will proceed against the 
participants for the pre-tax value of the STI payment. 

LTIs
The current LTI schemes are set out below. Please 
refer to the forward-looking section above for detail 
on Novus Holdings’ proposed LTI schemes.

Name of scheme Details

Legacy phantom SAR schemes  
(currently being phased out)

–  As part of the total reward philosophy of the Paarl Media Group 
Proprietary Limited prior to listing and becoming Novus Holdings 
Limited, two phantom share option schemes were established, namely 
the Paarl Media Holdings Proprietary Limited Share Appreciation Rights 
(SAR) plan and the Paarl Coldset Proprietary Limited SAR plan.

–  These schemes were intended to advance the interests of the company 
and its shareholders by attracting and retaining employees who could 
contribute to the success of the company, stimulating the personal 
involvement of these employees by encouraging their continued 
service, and rewarding them for past performance.

–  To maximise synergy between senior executives, management and 
shareholders of Novus Holdings, a new employee share option plan 
was established to replace the previous phantom schemes. In order 
to phase out the phantom schemes, the remuneration committee 
has resolved not to make any further grants to employees under the 
phantom schemes, and to amend the rights of existing SARs by fixing 
their valuations. The value will be fixed until the SARs are exercised by 
the participants. No further valuations will be made in terms of  
clause 13 of the rules regarding the existing SARs. 

–  In order to protect the value already created in the respective SAR 
schemes, the participants voted in favour of valuing the respective 
SARs as at 31 March 2015 based on the audited results for the  
financial year ended on that date using the methodology outlined  
in the respective SAR plans and to fix that value for the remainder of 
the vesting periods.

–  The vesting periods are unaffected by this change. The value at which 
the SARs were fixed will earn interest at 7% p.a. On the vesting date, 
the gain and the interest earned will be subject to normal PAYE.

–  The phantom schemes will be phased out entirely by September 2019.
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Name of scheme Details

Novus Holdings Limited  
Share Trust

–  The Novus Holdings Limited Share Trust was established and registered 
in South Africa to provide employees with the means to own shares in 
the Group.

 •  The Novus Holdings Limited Share Trust holds shares in Novus 
Holdings. The trustees made an initial offer of options to employees 
for shares in the Group at a price equal to the prelisting issue price 
of R13,25 on the date of the JSE listing. Going forward, the trust 
deed allows trustees to offer employees options for shares in the 
Group at a price equal to the closing price on the JSE on the day on 
which the award is made. The shares are held in trust on behalf of 
the employees until certain time periods have lapsed, after which 
the employees exercise their options, pay for and take delivery of 
the shares.

–  In terms of the rules of the scheme, participants may pay for their 
option shares at any time after acceptance of the option, but the 
scheme shares will, on the basis that the purchase price has been paid 
in full, only be released and delivered to participants as follows:

 •  after three years from the option date – no more than one third of 
the scheme shares

 •  after four years from the option date – no more than two thirds of 
the scheme shares

 • after five years from the option date – balance of the scheme shares

The price a member pays at those dates will be the purchase price as 
determined on the option date. The purchase price (also known as the 
“strike price”) is based on the market value of the shares on the date on 
which the options are granted. The option, once accepted, may not be 
exercised later than the sixth anniversary of the option date, failing  
which it shall expire (subject to the discretion of the trustees). 

In the event that the option awards are underwater, Novus Holdings  
does not permit the repricing or “surrender and regrant” of underwater 
share options. 
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EARLY TERMINATION
Employees who terminate employment due 
to resignation, dismissal or retirement under 
circumstances which would otherwise lead to dismissal 
will be treated as bad leavers and will forfeit all 
unvested awards under the share incentive schemes.

Employees who terminate employment due to ill 
health, retirement, disability, death, retrenchment or 
any other circumstance deemed appropriate by the 
remuneration committee may receive accelerated 
vesting for LTI awards made prior to the 2017 financial 
year. However, for any LTI awards made from the 
2017 financial year onwards, the LTI plan rules will 
be amended to provide for a pro rata portion of their 
unvested awards to the extent that they have met 
their employment condition and the performance 
conditions (where appropriate). To qualify for pro rata 
early vesting, employees should at least have been in 
employment of the Novus Holdings Group for  
12 months. 

DILUTION LIMIT
A maximum of 10% of the issued shares are approved 
to be allocated to participants in terms of all share 
plans. The individual limit is a maximum of 1% of 
the shares in issue. The shareholders have approved 
an initial offer of Novus Holdings share options to 
a maximum of 7% of the issued share capital. The 
remuneration committee will act prudently in using 
the dilution limit. In consultation with its advisors, 
the remuneration committee is in the process of 
determining an LTI award policy for future awards.

The use of the dilution limit in FY2016 is set out in  
part 2 below.

EXECUTIVE CONTRACTS
None of the executive directors are on fixed-
term contracts. The executives are not under 
any contractual restraints of trade, although the 
remuneration committee may, at its discretion, 
negotiate a restraint of trade as part of an outgoing 
executive’s mutual separation agreement (where 
beneficial to the company). The standard notice 
period for executives is one month. Novus Holdings 
does not have any agreements in place that 
provide for ex gratia or other lump sum payments 
to executives on severance, retirement or change 
of control. There is also no waiver of performance 
conditions for incentive schemes in a change of 
control; however, the unvested LTIs and STIs may be 
paid to participants pro rata to the period of time 
served and the extent to which the performance 
conditions (if any) have been met.

NEW APPOINTMENTS
New appointments are not awarded any sign-on 
bonuses, although the remuneration committee 
reserves the right to do so where appropriate.  
Any incentives awarded to new appointees are 
made as compensation for the indicative value of 
any awards forfeited from their previous employer. 
The remuneration committee may subject such 
awards to vesting periods, performance conditions 
and holding periods if necessary, taking into account 
the conditions of the forfeited award from the 
appointee’s previous employer.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Non-executive directors are appointed for an 
indefinite period and are subject to rotation in line 
with the company’s memorandum of incorporation. 
For the proposed re-election of non-executive 
directors, the board takes into account their previous 
performance. For the non-executives who serve on 
the remuneration committee, the board also takes 
into account their track record for actively engaging 
with shareholders and wider stakeholders on 
remuneration policy. 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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Non-executive directors are paid a base fee and  
a committee fee. They do not receive fees per 
meeting in line with market practice. The fee 
structure is evaluated on a regular basis based on 
independent non-executive fee surveys and taking 
into account the profile or size of Novus Holdings and 
its non-executive directors’ responsibilities. Proposed 
increases in fees are determined by the remuneration 
committee (members of the remuneration committee 
do not determine their own fee levels – management 
makes recommendations to the board regarding 
their proposed fee increases). When determining the 
increase levels, the remuneration increases across  
the Group are taken into account. 

Non-executive directors do not receive any payments 
linked to company performance (i.e. STIs and LTIs). 
Fees are paid in cash. Non-executive directors 
are reimbursed for their reasonable travel and 
subsistence expenses in line with the reimbursement 
policy for employees. They do not have any service 
contracts with the Group. Non-executive directors’ 
fees are benchmarked against the market for 
companies of a similar size in a similar sector, tabled 
before the board for approval, and thereafter are 
proposed to shareholders for approval. 

In line with the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, the 
proposed fees are tabled before shareholders for 
approval by special resolution at the Annual General 
Meeting. The proposed fees are set out in part 2  
of this report.
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PART 2: IMPLEMENTATION OF REMUNERATION POLICY  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016
COMPANY PERFORMANCE VERSUS AVERAGE GROWTH IN EXECUTIVE REMUNERATION
The table below compares certain company performance measures against the average executive guaranteed 
package increase percentages over the past five years. This illustrates that executive pay has increased in 
tandem with the company’s performance and in line with continuous value created for shareholders. 

2016 2015 2014

Average increase in executive guaranteed package levels (%) 6,0% 10,8% 9,4%
Growth in headline earnings (%) 16,1% (5,1%) 14,2%
Net return on equity (%) 16,6% 15,3% 21,1%

SHORT-TERM INCENTIVE OUTCOMES
The graphic below demonstrates the short-term incentive outcomes in FY2016 for the executive directors,  
i.e. the actual STI paid compared against on-target earning potentials (and the company EBIT performance 
metric upon which the STI payment was based).

Executive

FY 2016 
STI amount

R’000

Actual STI 
as percentage

 of guaranteed
 package

%

On-target STI 
earning potential 
as percentage of 

guaranteed package
%

STM van der Walt 1 808 42,5% 85%
E van Niekerk 405 18,6% 20%
KA Vroon 1 658 54,6% 45%

The total value of ad hoc bonuses in the 2016 financial year amounted to R2 127 705 (2015: R773 757). 

The total value of production bonuses in the 2016 financial year amounted to R2 961 915 (2015: R2 221 811).

LONG-TERM INCENTIVE OUTCOMES
The table below sets out the usage of the dilution limit for Novus Holdings’ share schemes in FY2017. 

Opening balance available 10 473 148

LTI awards/allocations made to participants –

Forfeited/lapsed (shares reverted to the Share Trust) 4 086 532

Closing balance available 14 559 680

Details of, and categories of share awards made to Novus Holdings’ executive directors are contained in the 
financial statements from page 171.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ SINGLE FIGURE REMUNERATION TABLE
The tables below set out the guaranteed package and various benefits, the STI and the value of the LTI exercised 
in FY2016 paid to the executive directors. Novus Holdings regards its executive directors as its prescribed officers 
as defined in the Companies Act, 71 of 2008, read with the Companies Regulations, 2011. 

Year ended 31 March 2016

Executive directors
Remuneration

R’000
Pension fund 

R’000

Short-term 
incentive

R’000
Value of LTI 

exercised*

Total 
remuneration 

in FY2016

Mr STM van der Walt 3 820 438 2 408 20 016 26 682
Mr E van Niekerk 1 784 294 231 304 2 613
Mr KA Vroon 2 579 312 653 1 062 4 606

*  Number of options exercised during the year under review multiplied by the share price on exercise date less the option price of the 
options at grant date.

Year ended 31 March 2015

Executive directors
Remuneration

R’000
Pension fund 

R’000

Short-term 
incentive

R’000
Value of LTI 

exercised*

Total
 remuneration 

in FY2015

Mr STM van der Walt 3 653 361 2 306 – 6 320
Mr E van Niekerk 1 851 202 230 226 2 509
Mr KA Vroon 2 574 235 750 – 3 559

*  Number of options exercised during the year under review multiplied by the share price on exercise date less the option price of the 
options at grant date.

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ FEES
The table below sets out the fees paid to individual non-executive directors in FY2016. 

Non-executive director

Fees paid 
in 2016

R’000
Mr LP Retief 1 560
Mr U Meyer 350
Ms E Weideman –
Mr M Mayman –
Ms GP Dingaan 350
Mr SDM Zungu 310
Mr BJ Olivier 570
Mr F Robertson 350
Mr JN Potgieter 310
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The remuneration committee has approved the prospective fee levels for non-executive directors based  
on the outcome of a survey by independent advisors, which is based on the role fulfilled and  
committee responsibilities.

The table below sets out the proposed 2017 non-executive directors’ fee levels per position as compared to the 
2016 fee levels, which were approved by shareholders at a shareholders meeting held on 20 February 2015, and 
the percentage increase for each position.

Non-executive directors’ fees
2017

R
2016

R
Change 

(%)

Chairman of the board 1 590 000 1 500 000 6%

Member of the board 265 000 250 000 6%

Chairman of the audit and risk committee 212 000 200 000 6%

Member of the audit and risk committee 106 000 100 000 6%

Chairman of the social and ethics committee 106 000 100 000 6%

Member of the social and ethics committee 53 000 50 000 6%

Chairman of the remuneration committee 127 200 120 000 6%

Member of the remuneration committee 63 600 60 000 6%

With effect from 8 June 2016, the audit and risk committee was divided into two separate committees.  
In addition, a nominations committee was established which, together with the investment committee,  
require a vote by shareholders to approve fee levels. The table below sets out the proposed non-executive 
directors’ fee levels for the affected committees:

Non-executive directors’ fees
2017

R
Chairman of the audit committee 159 000
Member of the audit committee 79 500
Chairman of the risk committee 106 000
Member of the risk committee 53 000
Chairman of the nominations committee 20 000
Member of the nominations committee 10 000
Chairman of the investment committee 20 000
Member of the investment committee 10 000

The board proposed a 5% increase for all positions to apply to the 2018 financial year.
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IT GOVERNANCE REPORT
OVERVIEW

The Novus Holdings’ board is responsible for the 
governance of information technology (IT), as required 
by King III. IT is essential to managing the transactions, 
information and knowledge inherent to the operations 
of Novus Holdings, and is fundamental to supporting, 
sustaining and expanding the business. The ability to  
apply sophisticated and leading-edge technology in its 
product and service offering is one of Novus Holdings’  
key competencies. 

Novus Holdings operates according to a set of core 
systems that are centralised for the Group and 
supported by a core team. Plant-specific as well as 
desktop support is done on-site. 

PROGRESS IN 2016

Ongoing detailed reviews and adjustments of Novus 
Holdings’ IT processes and architecture provide 
sustained improvements in IT audit controls and 
compliance. These comprehensive reviews and 
adjustments have further resulted in a dramatic 
reduction in IT business incidents. This ensures the 
continuous running of business operations. 

During the past year, a HR and payroll system was 
implemented across the Group, enabling Novus 
Holdings to standardise its HR processes. 

Industry-leading print and packaging software, EFI’s 
Monarch, was implemented at Paarl Media Cape, and 
EFI’s Radius was implemented in the Group’s wet glue 
and self-adhesive business. Both offer industry-specific 
solutions that fit with Novus Holdings’ printing and 
label management requirements.
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PLANS FOR 2017

In the next financial year, the Group plans to build on 
the benefits of the integrated HR and payroll system by 
empowering the Novus Holdings’ workforce through 
the implementation of a self-service HR system.

Paarl Labels and Correll Tissue requires a different 
IT approach to the rest of the business, as paper 
manufacturing is geared towards made-to-stock 
requirements as opposed to the made-to-order 
requirements of the rest of Novus Holdings’ products. 
This approach demands effective warehousing, batch 
processing and tracking abilities. An IT system to 
manage stock from input to final product is being 
implemented at Correll Tissue. 

The industry-leading print software, EFI’s Monarch, 
will be implemented at the rest of the Group’s heatset 
plants. 

Novus Holdings plans to invest in cybersecurity 
measures over the next three years in response to 
increased threat levels. To facilitate this process, a new 
position has been created in the Group, namely  
an IT risk and compliance analyst.
 
The key focus areas of this position will include:
–  Migrating to and implementing early detection and 

response protocols and processes across the Group, 
with a strong focus on user-awareness and training.

–  Evaluating the next generation of security 
software, with phase one to be implemented in 
the 2017 financial year.

IT RISKS

The following are the most significant risks and 
mitigation actions related to IT: 
−  Business continuity – all plants have backup 

energy-generation facilities and Novus Holdings 
has a fully operational off-site failover facility for 
core and priority systems. 

−  Security – the protection of information, particularly 
information related to portable devices, is managed 
through a data network and supported by user 
training. This includes training to raise awareness of 
phishing risks and password control. 

−  Software failure – programs are rigorously tested 
prior to sign-off and implementation, and are 
supported by ongoing software maintenance.

−  Key resources – a succession plan for key 
resources, as well as the continuous and active 
transfer of skills both internally and from service 
providers, was implemented. 

REPORTING AND CONTROLS

The IT function of Novus Holdings forms part of the  
chief information officer’s accountabilities. The board 
receives quarterly reports on IT projects, and approves 
any capital investment in IT systems. IT governance 
forms part of the internal audit scope and the audit 
and risk committee’s work plan.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
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The annual financial statements of the Group and the company are the responsibility of the directors of Novus Holdings 
Limited. In discharging this responsibility, they rely on the management of the Group to prepare the annual financial 
statements presented on pages 138 to 207 in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and 
the South African Companies Act No 71 of 2008, as amended. As such, the annual financial statements include amounts 
based on judgements and estimates made by management. The information given is comprehensive and presented in 
a responsible manner. 

The directors accept responsibility for the preparation, integrity and fair presentation of the annual financial statements and 
are satisfied that the systems and internal financial controls implemented by management are effective. 

The directors believe that the company and Group have adequate resources to continue operations as a going concern in  
the foreseeable future, based on forecasts and available cash resources. The financial statements support the viability of  
the Group and the company. The preparation of the financial results was supervised by the chief financial officer,  
Edward van Niekerk CA (SA). 

The independent auditing firm, PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc., which was given unrestricted access to all financial records 
and related data, including minutes of all meetings of shareholders, the board of directors and committees of the board, 
has audited the annual financial statements. The directors believe that all representations made to the independent auditors 
during their audit were valid and appropriate. PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc.’s audit report is presented on page 137.

The annual financial statements were approved by the board of directors on 8 June 2016 and are signed on its behalf by: 

LP Retief KA Vroon
Chairman	 Acting	chief	executive	officer

Statement of responsibility by the board of directors
for the year ended 31 March 2016



132 NOVUS HOLDINGS

GROUP AT A GLANCE STRATEGIC OVERVIEW LEADERSHIP REPORT

In terms of section 88(2)(e) of the Companies Act No 71 of 2008, as amended, I, Edrich Fivaz, in my capacity as acting 
company secretary of Novus Holdings Limited, confirm that for the year ended 31 March 2016, the company has lodged with 
the Companies and Intellectual Property Commission, all such returns as are required of a public company in terms of the 
Companies Act and that all such returns and notices are, to the best of my knowledge, true, correct and up to date. 

E Fivaz
Acting	company	secretary
8 June 2016

Certificate by the acting company secretary
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The audit and risk committee has pleasure in submitting this report, as required by section 94 of the South African Companies 
Act No 71 of 2008 (“the Act”). 

FUNCTIONS OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE
The audit and risk committee has adopted formal terms of reference, delegated to it by the board of directors, as its audit and 
risk committee charter. The audit and risk committee has discharged the functions in terms of its charter and ascribed to it in 
terms of the Act as follows:
– Reviewed the year-end financial statements, culminating in a recommendation to the board to adopt them. In the course 

of its review the committee:
• takes appropriate steps to ensure that the financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial 

Reporting Standards (IFRS) and in the manner required by the Companies Act of South Africa;
• considers and, when appropriate, makes recommendations on internal financial controls;
• deals with concerns or complaints relating to accounting policies, internal audit, the auditing or content of annual 

financial statements, and internal financial controls; and
• reviews legal matters that could have a significant impact on the organisation's financial statements.

– Reviewed the external audit reports on the annual financial statements;
– Approved the internal audit charter and audit plan;
– Reviewed the internal audit and risk management reports, and, where relevant, recommendations being made to the board;
– Evaluated the effectiveness of risk management, controls and the governance processes;
– Verified the independence of the external auditors, nominated PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. as the auditors for 2016 and 

noted the appointment of Mr Hugo Zeelie as the designated auditor;
– Approved the audit fees and engagement terms of the external auditors;
– Determined the nature and extent of allowable non-audit services and preapproved the contract terms for the provision 

of non-audit services by the external auditors.

MEMBERS OF THE AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE AND ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS
The audit and risk committee consists of the non-executive directors listed hereunder and meets at least three times per 
annum in accordance with the audit and risk committee charter. All members act independently as described in section 269A 
of the Companies Act. During the year under review three meetings were held.
– BJ Olivier (Chair) – BCom (Acc), CTA, CA(SA) 
– U Meyer – BAcc (Hons), CA(SA)*
– GP Dingaan – BCom (Acc), H Dip Acc, CA(SA)
– C Botha – BCom (Law), LLB, CA(SA)#

*	 Resigned	17	March	2016.
#	 Appointed	24	February	2016.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The audit and risk committee has oversight of the Group’s financial statements and reporting process, including the system 
of internal financial control. It is responsible for ensuring that the Group’s internal audit function is independent and has the 
necessary resources, standing and authority in the organisation to discharge its duties. The audit and risk committee oversees 
cooperation between internal and external auditors, and serves as a link between the board of directors and these functions. 
The head of internal audit reports functionally to the chair of the committee and administratively to the chief operating officer. 

Based on the review of the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management, and considering the information and 
explanations given by management and discussions with the external auditor on the results of the audit, nothing has come to the 
attention of the committee that caused it to believe that the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management are not 
effective, and that the internal financial controls do not form a sound basis for the preparation of reliable financial statements.

Report of the audit and risk committee
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Report of the audit and risk committee (continued)

ATTENDANCE
The internal and external auditors, in their capacity as auditors to the Group, attended and reported at all meetings of the 
audit and risk committee. The Group risk management function was also represented. Executive directors and relevant senior 
managers attended meetings by invitation.

CONFIDENTIAL MEETINGS
Audit and risk committee agendas provide for confidential meetings between the committee members and the internal and 
external auditors.

INDEPENDENCE OF EXTERNAL AUDITORS
During the year under review the audit and risk committee reviewed a representation by the external auditors and, after 
conducting its own review, confirmed the independence of the auditors.

EXPERTISE AND EXPERIENCE OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER AND THE FINANCE FUNCTION 
As required by the JSE Listings Requirement 3.84(h), the audit and risk committee has satisfied itself that the chief financial 
officer has appropriate expertise and experience. In addition, the committee satisfied itself that the composition, experience 
and skills set of the finance function met the Group’s requirements.

DISCHARGE OF RESPONSIBILITIES 
The audit and risk committee determined that during the financial year under review it had discharged its legal and other 
responsibilities as outlined in terms of its remit, details of which are included in the full corporate governance report on  
http://novus.holdings/governance/#Governance. The board concurred with this assessment. 

BJ Olivier
Chair:	Audit	and	risk	committee	
8 June 2016 
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The board has pleasure in reporting on the activities and financial results for the year under review:

NATURE OF THE BUSINESS
Novus Holdings Limited was incorporated in 2008 under the laws of the Republic of South Africa. Our principal operations are in 
print media, printing on packaging and the manufacture of tissue paper. These activities are conducted primarily in South Africa.

FINANCIAL REVIEW 
Novus Holdings delivered consistent financial results for the 2016 financial year. Although overall revenue is down 2,0% in 2016 
to R4,174 billion (2015: R4,261 billion), gross profit margin increased by 2,8%. Retail inserts and catalogues remain the highest 
contributor to revenue, at 29,0% of total revenue. The growth areas were Labels and Tissue, with the combined revenue for 
these two divisions at 6,1% (2015: 5,1%) of the total. Magazines, newspapers, retail inserts and catalogues showed volume 
declines compared to 2015. 
 
The total revenue from external foreign customers is R150,1 million (2015: R93,0 million).

The Group delivered a profit after tax of R448,3 million (2015: R364,8 million), due to an improved operating result and a lower 
impairment charge of R2,3 million (2015: R73,5 million). 

The annual financial statements on pages 138 to 207 set out fully the financial position, results of operations, changes in equity 
and cash flows of the Group for the financial year ended 31 March 2016.

SHARE CAPITAL 
The authorised share capital at 31 March 2016 was 3 000 000 000 ordinary no par value shares. There were no changes to the 
issued share capital during the year and remains at 347 332 454 ordinary no par value shares. 

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
At 31 March 2016, the Group’s investment in property, plant and equipment amounted to R2,237 billion, compared with 
R2,135 billion in the prior year. Details are reflected in note 2 of the annual financial statements. Capital commitments at 
31 March 2016 amounted to R90,7 million (2015: R 57,5 million).

DIVIDENDS 
The board recommends that a dividend of 70 cents (2015: 64 cents) per listed ordinary share be declared.

GROUP 
Novus Holdings Limited is a subsidiary of Media24 Proprietary Limited and is ultimately held by Naspers Limited. The name, 
country of incorporation and effective financial percentage interest of the holding company in each of the Novus Holdings’ 
principal subsidiaries are disclosed in note 5 to the annual financial statements. Details relating to significant acquisitions and 
divestitures in the group during the year are highlighted in note 29 to the annual financial statements.

BORROWINGS 
The company has unlimited borrowing powers in terms of its memorandum of incorporation.

EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year that would significantly 
affect the operations of the Group or the results of its operations.

DIRECTORS AND AUDITOR 
The names of directors, their attendance of meetings and their membership of board committees are set out on pages 101 and 102.

Directors’ report to the shareholders
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Directors’ report to the shareholders (continued)

Mr KA Vroon has been appointed as acting chief executive officer with effect from 16 February 2016 to succeed  
Mr STM van der Walt who resigned as executive director, effective 31 March 2016.

Mr U Meyer has resigned as independent non-executive director effective as of 17 March 2016. Mr C Botha has been 
appointed as an independent non-executive director, effective 24 February 2016. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. will continue in office as auditor in accordance with section 90(6) of the South African Companies 
Act, 71 of 2008. 

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND EMOLUMENTS
Particulars of the emoluments of directors and their interests in the issued share capital of the company and in contracts are 
disclosed in notes 15, 30 and 37 to the annual financial statements.

LP Retief KA Vroon
Chairman	 Acting	chief	executive	officer
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REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial statements of Novus Holdings Limited set out on pages 138 to 207,  
which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31 March 2016 and the income statements, statements of 
comprehensive income, statements of changes in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, 
comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
The company’s directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated and separate financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of 
South Africa, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated 
and separate financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated and separate financial statements based on our audit. 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply 
with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated 
and separate financial statements are free from material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion. 

OPINION 
In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated 
and separate financial position of Novus Holdings Limited as at 31 March 2016, and its consolidated and separate financial 
performance and its consolidated and separate cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards and the requirements of the Companies Act of South Africa.

OTHER REPORTS REQUIRED BY THE COMPANIES ACT 
As part of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2016, we have read the 
directors’ report, the audit and risk committee’s report and the company secretary’s certificate for the purpose of identifying 
whether there are material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial 
statements. These reports are the responsibility of the respective preparers. Based on reading these reports we have not 
identified material inconsistencies between these reports and the audited consolidated and separate financial statements. 
However, we have not audited these reports and accordingly do not express an opinion on these reports.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette Number 39475 dated 4 December 2015, we report that 
PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. has been the auditor of Novus Holdings Limited for 22 years. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers Inc. 
Director: H Zeelie
Registered	auditor 
Cape Town, South Africa 
8 June 2016 

Independent auditor’s report
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2016

 R’000 
2015

 R’000 
2016

 R’000 
2015

 R’000 

ASSETS
Non-current assets 2 428 017 2 298 867 1 297 121 1 297 121 
Property, plant and equipment 2 2 237 208 2 134 523  –  – 
Goodwill 3 138 711 132 052  –  – 
Other intangible assets 4 38 028 27 254  –  – 
Investments in subsidiaries 5  –  – 1 297 121 1 297 121 
Loans and receivables 1 508 1 920  –  – 
Derivative financial instruments 33  – 75  –  – 
Deferred taxation assets 6 12 562 3 043  –  – 
Current assets 1 269 224 1 222 840 25 16 370 
Inventory 7 325 276 325 714  –  – 
Trade and other receivables 8 531 463 351 508  –  – 
Related-party receivables 30 128 376 150 895  – 13 743 
Loans and receivables 293 1 333  –  – 
Derivative financial instruments 33 5 596 1 486  –  – 
Current income tax receivable  – 2 860 20  – 
Cash and cash equivalents 9 278 220 389 044 5 2 627 

TOTAL ASSETS  3 697 241 3 521 707 1 297 146 1 313 491 

EQUITY
Capital and reserves attributable to the 
Group’s equity holders  2 822 624  2 536 235  1 102 065 1 310 864 
Share capital 10  606 040  606 040  606 040 606 040 
Treasury shares 10  (368 172) (368 172)  (368 172) (368 172)
Other reserves 11  (827 441)  (872 575)  862 819 862 819 
Retained earnings  3 412 197  3 170 942  1 378 210 177 
Non-controlling interest  –  30 480  –  – 
TOTAL EQUITY  2 822 624  2 566 715  1 102 065  1 310 864 
LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities  360 276  408 975  –  – 
Post-employment medical liability 12  3 486  4 133  –  – 
Provisions 13  8 601  13 390  –  – 
Long-term liabilities 14  19 473  80 636  –  – 
Cash-settled share-based payment liability 15  6 239  12 061  –  – 
Deferred taxation liabilities 6  270 521  267 015  –  – 
Deferred income 17  51 956  31 740  –  – 
Current liabilities  514 341  546 017 195 081 2 627 
Current portion of long-term liabilities 14  61 014  71 149  –  – 
Trade and other payables 16  384 612  317 385 2 2 606 
Related-party payables 30  911  3 087 195 079 21 
Cash-settled share-based payment liability 15  15 537  26 477  –  – 
Current income tax payable 16 561  –  –  – 
Derivative financial instruments 33  15 002  18 877  –  – 
Bank overdrafts and call loans 9  11 442  107 203  –  – 
Deferred income 17  9 262  1 839  –  – 

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES  3 697 241  3 521 707  1 297 146  1 313 491

Statements of financial position
as at 31 March
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GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2016

 R’000 
2015

 R’000 
2016

 R’000 
2015

 R’000 

Revenue 18  4 174 517  4 261 484 13 226  – 
Cost of sales  (2 914 816)  (3 092 247)  –  – 
Gross profit  1 259 701  1 169 237 13 226  – 

Operating expenses  (608 928)  (534 255) (22) (1)
Other gains/(losses) 19  (2 013)  (73 484)  –  – 
Operating profit/(loss) 20  648 760  561 498 13 204 (1)

Finance income 21  20 688  12 572 394  – 
Finance costs 22  (31 048)  (67 735)  –  – 
Profit/(loss) before taxation  638 400  506 335 13 598 (1)

Taxation 23  (190 132)  (141 531) (104)  – 
Net profit/(loss) for the year  448 268  364 804  13 494  (1)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Group  445 764  334 904  13 494  (1)
Non-controlling interests  2 504  29 900  –  – 

 448 268  364 804  13 494  (1)

Earnings	per	share	(cents):
Basic 24 139,50  110,92  –  – 
Diluted 24 139,50  110,92  –  – 

Income statements
for the year ended 31 March
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Notes

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Profit/(loss) for the year 448 268 364 804 13 494 (1)

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be subsequently reclassified 
to profit or loss

Hedging reserve 11 3 514 (4 388)  –  – 
Net fair value (losses)/gains, gross (8) (711)  –  – 
Net fair value (gains)/losses, tax portion 2 199  –  – 
Foreign exchange movement, gross 56 761 904  –  – 
Foreign exchange movement, tax portion (15 893) (253)  –  – 
Derecognised and added to asset, gross (11 215) 4 115  –  – 
Derecognised and added to asset, tax portion 3 140 (1 152)  –  – 
Derecognised and reported in cost of sales, 
gross (40 657) (10 484) – –
Derecognised and reported in cost of sales, 
tax portion 11 384 2 994 – –

Items that will not be reclassified 
to profit or loss

Post-employment benefit obligations and 
provisions 12, 13 981 (1 459)  –  – 
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit 
obligations and provisions, gross 1 363 (2 026)  –  – 
Remeasurement of post-employment benefit 
obligations and provisions, tax portion (382) 567  –  – 

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax 4 495 (5 847)  –  – 
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year 452 763 358 957 13 494 (1)

Attributable to:
Equity holders of the Group 450 102  329 655  13 494  (1)
Non-controlling interests 2 661 29 302  –  – 

452 763 358 957 13 494 (1)

Statements of comprehensive income
for the year ended 31 March
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COMPANY Notes

Share
capital
 R’000 

Treasury
shares
 R’000 

Other
reserves

 R’000 

Retained
earnings

 R’000 
Total

 R’000 

Balance as at 1 April 2014 1  – 862 819 210 178 1 072 998 
Total comprehensive loss for the year  –  –  – (1) (1)
Share capital issued 10 1 666 039  –  –  – 1 666 039 
Share issue expenses (15 105)  –  –  – (15 105)
Cancellation of repurchased shares 10 (1 044 895)  –  –  – (1 044 895)
Shares issued to entities controlled by 
the Group 10  – (368 172)  –  – (368 172)
Balance as at 31 March 2015  606 040 (368 172)  862 819  210 177 1 310 864 

Total comprehensive income for the year  –  –  – 13 494 13 494 
Dividends paid 28.2  –  –  – (222 293) (222 293)
Balance as at 31 March 2016 606 040 (368 172) 862 819 1 378 1 102 065 
Notes 10 10 11 

Statement of changes in equity
for the year ended 31 March
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GROUP Notes

Share capital
and premium

 R’000 

Treasury
shares
 R’000 

Existing 
control

 business
 combination

reserve
 R’000 

Share-based
compen-

sation 
reserve

 R’000 

Hedging
reserve

 R’000 

Actuarial 
reserve

 R’000 

Total other
reserves

 R’000 

Retained
earnings

 R’000 

Attributable
to equity

holders 
of the Group

 R’000 

Non-
controlling

interest
 R’000 

Total
equity
 R’000 

Balance as at 1 April 2014 1  – (753 792) 4 169 (1 347)  – (750 970) 2 836 038 2 085 069 121 536 2 206 605 

Total comprehensive income for the year  –  –  –  – (3 768) (1 459) (5 227) 334 904 329 677 29 280 358 957 
Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 334 904 334 904 29 900 364 804 
Other comprehensive income  –  –  –  – (3 768) (1 459) (5 227)  – (5 227) (620) (5 847)

Share-based compensation movement  –  –  – 1 131  –  – 1 131  – 1 131 22 1 153 
Share capital issued 10 1 428 172  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 1 428 172  – 1 428 172 
Share issue expenses (15 105)  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (15 105)  – (15 105)
Cancellation of repurchased shares 10 (1 044 895)  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (1 044 895)  – (1 044 895)
Shares issued to entities controlled by 
the Group 10  – (368 172)  –  –  –  –  –  – (368 172)  – (368 172)
Transactions with non-controlling interests 31 237 867  – (117 509)  –  –  – (117 509)  – 120 358 (120 358)  – 

Balance as at 31 March 2015  606 040  (368 172)  (871 301)  5 300  (5 115)  (1 459)  (872 575)  3 170 942  2 536 235  30 480  2 566 715 

Total comprehensive income for the year  –  –  –  – 3 357 981 4 338 445 764 450 102 2 661 452 763 
Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 445 764 445 764 2 504 448 268 
Other comprehensive income  –  –  –  – 3 357 981 4 338  – 4 338 157 4 495 

Share-based compensation movement  –  –  – 27 392  –  – 27 392  – 27 392 111 27 503 
Dividends paid 28.2  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (204 509) (204 509) (848) (205 357)
Transactions with non-controlling interests 31  –  – 13 404  –  –  – 13 404  – 13 404 (32 404) (19 000)
Balance as at 31 March 2016  606 040  (368 172)  (857 897)  32 692  (1 758)  (478)  (827 441)  3 412 197  2 822 624  –  2 822 624 
Notes 10 10 11 11 11 11 11 31 

Statement of changes in equity (continued)
for the year ended 31 March
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GROUP Notes

Share capital
and premium

 R’000 

Treasury
shares
 R’000 

Existing 
control

 business
 combination

reserve
 R’000 

Share-based
compen-

sation 
reserve

 R’000 

Hedging
reserve

 R’000 

Actuarial 
reserve

 R’000 

Total other
reserves

 R’000 

Retained
earnings

 R’000 

Attributable
to equity

holders 
of the Group

 R’000 

Non-
controlling

interest
 R’000 

Total
equity
 R’000 

Balance as at 1 April 2014 1  – (753 792) 4 169 (1 347)  – (750 970) 2 836 038 2 085 069 121 536 2 206 605 

Total comprehensive income for the year  –  –  –  – (3 768) (1 459) (5 227) 334 904 329 677 29 280 358 957 
Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 334 904 334 904 29 900 364 804 
Other comprehensive income  –  –  –  – (3 768) (1 459) (5 227)  – (5 227) (620) (5 847)

Share-based compensation movement  –  –  – 1 131  –  – 1 131  – 1 131 22 1 153 
Share capital issued 10 1 428 172  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 1 428 172  – 1 428 172 
Share issue expenses (15 105)  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (15 105)  – (15 105)
Cancellation of repurchased shares 10 (1 044 895)  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (1 044 895)  – (1 044 895)
Shares issued to entities controlled by 
the Group 10  – (368 172)  –  –  –  –  –  – (368 172)  – (368 172)
Transactions with non-controlling interests 31 237 867  – (117 509)  –  –  – (117 509)  – 120 358 (120 358)  – 

Balance as at 31 March 2015  606 040  (368 172)  (871 301)  5 300  (5 115)  (1 459)  (872 575)  3 170 942  2 536 235  30 480  2 566 715 

Total comprehensive income for the year  –  –  –  – 3 357 981 4 338 445 764 450 102 2 661 452 763 
Profit for the year  –  –  –  –  –  –  – 445 764 445 764 2 504 448 268 
Other comprehensive income  –  –  –  – 3 357 981 4 338  – 4 338 157 4 495 

Share-based compensation movement  –  –  – 27 392  –  – 27 392  – 27 392 111 27 503 
Dividends paid 28.2  –  –  –  –  –  –  – (204 509) (204 509) (848) (205 357)
Transactions with non-controlling interests 31  –  – 13 404  –  –  – 13 404  – 13 404 (32 404) (19 000)
Balance as at 31 March 2016  606 040  (368 172)  (857 897)  32 692  (1 758)  (478)  (827 441)  3 412 197  2 822 624  –  2 822 624 
Notes 10 10 11 11 11 11 11 31 
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GROUP COMPANY

Notes
2016

 R’000 
2015

 R’000 
2016

 R’000 
2015

 R’000 

Cash generated from operations 26 720 128  802 486 205 658 2 606 
Finance income 21 20 688  12 572 394  – 
Finance costs 22 (18 079)  (26 223)  –  – 
Taxation paid 27 (178 381)  (173 239) (124)  – 
Cash	generated	from	operating	activities	 544 356 615 596 205 928 2 606 

Cash flows from investment activities
Property, plant and equipment acquired 2 (236 187)  (168 056)  –  – 
Proceeds from Government grants 33 508 4 286  –  – 
Proceeds from sale of property, plant 
and equipment 2 914  2 743  –  – 
Purchase of intangible assets 4 (15 117)  (17 340)  –  – 
Insurance proceeds 996  –  –  – 
Loans and receivables advanced  – (787) 13 743  – 
Loans and receivables repaid 1 454 818  –  – 
Acquisition of subsidiaries/businesses 29 (50 484) (103 844)  –  – 
Cash	utilised	in	investing	activities (262 916) (282 180) 13 743  – 

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from share issue 10  –  1 044 895  – 1 044 895 
Repayment of long-term loans (72 146)  (190 377)  –  – 
Proceeds from long-term loans  –  100 000  –  – 
Acquisition of non-controlling interests 31 (19 000)  –  –  – 
Repurchase of shares 10  –  (1 044 895) – (1 044 895)
Dividend paid 28.2 (205 357) – (222 293) –
Cash	utilised	in	financing	activities (296 503) (90 377) (222 293)  – 

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash 
equivalents (15 063) 243 039 (2 622) 2 606 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 
the year 281 841 38 802  2 627  21 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 9 266 778 281 841  5  2 627 

Statements of cash flows
for the year ended 31 March
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these annual financial statements are set out below. These policies 
have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

1. Basis of preparation
The annual consolidated and separate financial statements of Novus Holdings Limited have been prepared in 
accordance with the requirements of the JSE Limited Listings Requirements and the Companies Act, 71 of 2008. The 
Listings Requirements require the financial statements to be prepared in accordance with the framework concepts, the 
measurement and recognition requirements of International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) and the interpretations 
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC), the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides 
as issued by the Accounting Practices Committee and Financial Pronouncements as issued by the Financial Reporting 
Standards Council. The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by 
the revaluation of certain financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) at fair value through 
profit or loss. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting estimates. 
It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the 
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 1.1.

These financial statements incorporate accounting policies that have been consistently applied to all years presented, 
with the exception of the implementation of the following standards, interpretations and amendments to published 
standards that became effective and were adopted by the Group during the current financial year:

Standard/interpretation

Effective date:
Years beginning 

on or after 

Amendments to IAS 19: Employee Benefits 1 July 2014
Amendment to IFRS 8: Operating Segments 1 July 2014
Annual Improvements 2010–12 cycle 1 July 2014
Annual Improvements 2011–13 cycle 1 July 2014 

The	relevance	of	these	amendments	to	the	published	standards	has	been	assessed	with	respect	to	the	Group’s	
operations	and	it	was	concluded	that,	other	than	the	additional	presentational	disclosures	required,	they	did	not	have	
a	material	impact	on	the	Group.

Notes to the annual financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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 Standards, interpretations and amendments to published standards which are not yet effective 
Management considered all new accounting standards, interpretations and amendments to IFRS that were issued prior 
to 31 March 2016, but not yet effective on that date. Management are in the process of assessing the impact of these 
standards, interpretations and amendments on the reported results of the Group. The standards that are applicable 
to the Group, but that were not implemented early, are the following: 

Standard/interpretation

Effective date:
Years beginning 

on or after 

Amendments to IFRS 10: Consolidated Financial Statements 1 January 2016
Amendments to IFRS 11: Joint Arrangements 1 January 2016
Amendments to IAS 1: Presentation of Financial Statements 1 January 2016
Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38: Clarification of acceptable methods of depreciation and 
amortisation 1 January 2016
Amendments to IAS 27: Separate financial statements 1 January 2016
Amendment to IAS 12: Income taxes 1 January 2017
Amendment to IAS 7: Cash flow statements 1 January 2017 
IFRS 9: Financial Instruments 1 January 2018
IFRS15: Revenue from contracts with customers 1 January 2018
IFRS16: Leases 1 January 2019
Annual Improvements 2012–2014 cycle 1 January 2016

1.1 Critical accounting estimates and assumptions
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future and these accounting estimates are an integral part 
of the preparation of financial statements. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the related 
actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows:

a)	Estimated	impairment	of	goodwill	and	intangible	assets
The Group tests annually whether goodwill has suffered any impairments, in accordance with the accounting policy stated 
in note 1.5. The recoverable amounts of cash-generating units are determined as being the higher of the value-in-use or fair 
value less costs to sell. Calculation of these amounts requires the use of estimates. Further details are provided in note 3.

b)	Business	combinations
Where the Group acquires control of another business, the consideration transferred has to be allocated to the identifiable 
assets acquired, the liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquired business, with any residual recorded 
as goodwill. This process involves management making an assessment of the fair value of these items. Management’s 
judgement is particularly involved in the recognition and measurement of the following items:
– Intellectual property: this include patents, licences, trademarks and similar rights for currently marketed products.
– Contingencies such as legal and environmental matters.
– The recoverability of any accumulated tax losses previously incurred by the acquired company.

In all cases management makes an assessment based on the underlying economic substance of the items concerned, 
and not only on the contractual terms, in order to fairly present these items.

c)	Property,	plant	and	equipment
The estimated useful economic lives of property, plant and equipment (PPE) are based on management’s judgement and 
experience. When management identifies that actual useful economic lives differ materially from the estimates used 
to calculate depreciation, that charge is adjusted prospectively. Due to the significance of PPE investment to the Group, 
variations between actual and estimated useful economic lives could impact operating results both positively  
and negatively, although historically few changes to estimated useful economic lives have been required. 

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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The Group is required to evaluate the carrying values of PPE for impairment whenever circumstances indicate, in 
management’s judgement, that the carrying value of such assets may not be recoverable. An impairment review requires 
management to make subjective judgements concerning the cash flows, growth rates and discount rates of the cash 
generating units under review. 

d)	Revenue	recognition	and	allowance	for	doubtful	receivables	
At each reporting date, the company and each of its subsidiaries evaluate the recoverability of trade receivables and 
record allowances for doubtful receivables based on experience. These allowances are based on, amongst other things, 
a consideration of actual collection history. The actual level of receivables collected may differ from the estimated levels 
of recovery, which could impact operating results positively or negatively. 

1.2 Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity 
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to 
affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control 
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred to the former owners of the 
acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset 
or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. 
Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured 
initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the 
recognised amounts of acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held 
equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any gains or losses arising from such 
remeasurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Subsequent 
changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset or liability is recognised in 
accordance with IAS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other comprehensive income. Contingent consideration 
that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity. 

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and the acquisition-
date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the identifiable net assets acquired 
is recorded as goodwill. If the total of consideration transferred, non-controlling interest recognised and previously held 
interest measured is less than the fair value of the net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, 
the difference is recognised directly in the income statement.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of the impairment of the transferred asset. 
When necessary amounts reported by subsidiaries have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries are shown separately in the consolidated income 
statement, statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of financial position.

The investments of Novus Holdings Limited in the ordinary shares of its subsidiaries are carried at cost less impairment 
losses in the separate financial statements.
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Common	control	transactions
Business combinations in which all of the combining entities or businesses are ultimately controlled by the same party 
or parties both before and after the business combination (and where that control is not transitory) are referred to as 
common control transactions. The accounting policy for the acquiring entity is to account for the transaction at book value 
(predecessor values) in its consolidated financial statements. The book value of the acquired entity is the consolidated book 
value as reflected in the consolidated financial statements at the highest level of common control. The excess of the cost of 
the transaction over the acquirer’s proportionate share of the net asset value acquired is allocated to the “existing control 
business combination reserve” in equity. Where comparative periods are presented, the financial statements and financial 
information presented are not restated.

Changes	in	ownership	interests	in	subsidiaries	without	change	of	control
The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control as transactions with equity 
owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an adjustment between the carry amounts of the controlling 
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the 
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised within the “existing control 
business combination reserve” in equity. 

Disposal	of	subsidiaries
When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value at the date 
when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair value becomes the initial 
carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest as an associate, joint venture or 
financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity 
are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts 
previously recognised in other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

1.3 Segment reporting
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating 
decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance 
of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive committee that makes strategic decisions.

1.4 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost, being the purchase cost plus any cost to prepare the assets for their 
intended use, less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment losses. Cost includes transfers from equity 
of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow hedges relating to foreign currency property, plant and equipment acquisitions. 
Property, plant and equipment, with the exception of land, are depreciated in equal annual amounts over each asset’s 
estimated useful life to their residual values. Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life.

Depreciation periods vary in accordance with the conditions in the relevant industries, but are subject to the following 
range of useful lives:

Item Average useful life 

Buildings 8 – 50 years 
Plant and machinery 3 – 25 years 
Furniture and fixtures 3 – 10 years 
Motor vehicles 4 – 5 years 
Office equipment 1 – 10 years 
IT equipment 2 – 5 years 

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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The Group applies the component approach whereby parts of some items of property, plant and equipment may require 
replacement at regular intervals. The carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment will include the cost of 
replacing the part of such an item when that cost is incurred, if it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the 
Group and the cost can be reliably measured. The carrying amount of those parts that are replaced is derecognised on disposal 
or when it is withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits are expected from its disposal. Each part of an item of 
property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the item is depreciated separately.

Major leasehold improvements are amortised over the shorter of their respective lease periods and estimated useful 
economic lives.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when 
it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to profit or loss during the financial period in which they 
are incurred. The cost of major renovations is included in the carrying amount of the asset when it is probable that future 
economic benefits will flow to the Group and the cost can be reliably measured. Major renovations are depreciated over 
the remaining useful economic life of the related asset.

Items of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for indicators of impairment at least annually. Where indicators of 
impairment are identified, the carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed to assess whether or not 
the recoverable amount has declined below the carrying amount. In the event that the recoverable amount of the asset is 
lower than its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced and the reduction is charged to profit or loss.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 
An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised 
within “Other gains/(losses)” in profit or loss.

Work in progress is defined as assets still in the construction phase and not yet available for use. These assets are carried 
at initial cost and are not depreciated. Depreciation on these assets commences when they become available for use and 
depreciation periods are based on management’s assessment of their useful lives.

1.5 Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being an amount representing the excess of the consideration transferred, the 
amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree and the acquisition-date fair value of any previously held equity 
interest over the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If this consideration is lower than the 
fair value of the net assets of the acquiree (a bargain purchase), the difference is recognised in profit or loss. 

Goodwill arising on acquisition of subsidiaries is included in “goodwill” in the statement of financial position. Goodwill is 
not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate 
that it might be impaired, and is carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Impairment losses on goodwill are not 
reversed. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold. 

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-
generating units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to benefit from the business combination in which 
the goodwill arose. The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level at which goodwill is monitored for internal 
management purposes. An impairment test is performed by assessing the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit 
to which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than the carrying amount, 
an impairment loss is recognised. 
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Trademarks	and	licences
Separately acquired trademarks and licences are shown at historical cost. Trademarks and licences acquired in a business 
combination are recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. They have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation. Amortisation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate the cost of trademarks 
and licences over their estimated useful lives of two to five years.

Acquired computer software licences are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred to acquire and bring to use the 
specific software. These costs are amortised over their estimated useful lives of two to five years.

Computer	software
Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmes are recognised as an expense as incurred. 
Development costs that are directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products 
controlled by the Group are recognised as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:
– it is technically feasible to complete the software product so that it will be available for use;
– management intends to complete the software product and use or sell it;
– there is an ability to use or sell the software product;
–  it can be demonstrated how the software product will generate probable future economic benefits;
– adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development; and
– the expenditure attributable to the software product during its development can be reliably measured.

Directly attributable costs that are capitalised as part of the software product include the software development 
employee costs and an appropriate portion of relevant overheads.

Other development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognised as an expense as incurred. 
Development costs previously recognised as an expense are not recognised as an asset in a subsequent period.

Computer software development costs recognised as assets are amortised over their estimated useful lives, which do 
not exceed five years.

Work in progress is defined as intangible assets still in the development phase and not yet available for use. These assets 
are tested annually for impairment and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses while still being developed. 
Amortisation on these assets commences when they become available for use and amortisation periods are based on 
management’s assessment of their useful lives.

1.6 Financial assets 
The Group classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit or loss and loans and 
receivables. The classification depends on the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management 
determines the classification of its financial assets at initial recognition.

Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are financial assets held for trading. A financial asset is classified in 
this category if acquired principally for the purpose of selling in the short term. Derivatives are also categorised as held 
for trading unless they are designated as hedges. Assets in this category are classified as current assets if expected to 
be settled within 12 months, otherwise they are classified as non-current.

Loans	and	receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in 
an active market. They are included in current assets, except for maturities greater than 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. 

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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Recognition	and	measurement	
Financial assets carried at fair value through profit or loss are initially recognised at fair value, and transaction costs are 
expensed in profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from the investments 
have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. 
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are subsequently carried at fair value. Loans and receivables are 
subsequently carried at amortised cost using the effective-interest method.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of the ‘financial assets at fair value through profit or loss’ category 
are presented in the income statement within “Other gains/(losses)” in the period in which they arise. 

Offsetting	financial	instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the balance sheet when there is a legally 
enforceable right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis or realise the asset 
and settle the liability simultaneously.

Impairment	of	financial	assets
The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or 
group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment losses are 
incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result of one or more events that occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows 
of the financial asset or group of financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

a)	Assets	carried	at	amortised	cost
Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtors or a Group of debtors is experiencing significant or 
delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial difficulty, 
default reorganisation, and where observable data indicate that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future 
cash flows, such as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit losses that have not been 
incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
and the amount of the loss is recognised in the consolidated income statement. If a loan or held-to-maturity investment 
has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current effective interest rate 
determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure impairment on the basis of an 
instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related objectively 
to an event occurring after the impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor’s credit rating), 
the reversal of the previously recognised impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Derivative	financial	instruments	and	hedging	activities
Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and are subsequently 
remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. The accounting for subsequent changes in the fair 
value depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item being 
hedged. The Group designates certain derivatives as either:
a)  hedges of the fair value of recognised assets or liabilities or a firm commitment (fair value hedges);
b)  hedges of a particular risk associated with the cash flows of recognised assets and liabilities and highly probable 

forecast transactions (cash flow hedges).
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The Group documents at the inception of the hedging transaction the relationship between hedging instruments and 
hedged items, as well as its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking various hedging transactions. 
The Group also documents its assessment, both at hedge inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the derivatives 
that are used in hedging transactions have been and will continue to be highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values 
or cash flows of hedged items.

The fair values of various derivative instruments used for hedging purposes are disclosed in the income statement. The full 
fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a non-current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged 
item is more than 12 months, and as a current asset or liability when the remaining maturity of the hedged item is less than 
12 months. Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability.

a)	Fair	value	hedge
Changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as fair value hedges are recorded in the income 
statement, together with any changes in the fair value of the hedged asset or liability that are attributable to the hedged 
risk. The Group only applies fair value hedge accounting for hedging fixed interest risk on borrowings. The gain or loss 
relating to the effective portion of interest rate swaps hedging fixed rate borrowings is recognised in the income statement 
within “Finance costs”.

If the hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, the adjustment to the carrying amount of a hedged item for 
which the effective interest method is used is amortised to profit or loss over the period to maturity. 

b)	Cash	flow	hedge
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives that are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges 
is recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in reserves in equity. The gain or loss relating to the 
ineffective portion is recognised immediately in the income statement within “Other gains/(losses)”.

Amounts accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit or loss in the periods when the hedged item affects profit or loss 
(for example, when the forecast sale that is hedged takes place). The gain or loss relating to the effective portion of interest 
rate swaps hedging variable rate borrowings is recognised in the income statement within ‘finance income/cost’. However, 
when the forecast transaction that is hedged results in the recognition of a non-financial asset (for example, inventory 
or fixed assets), the gains and losses previously deferred in equity are transferred from equity and included in the initial 
measurement of the cost of the asset. The deferred amounts are ultimately recognised in cost of goods sold in the case of 
inventory or in depreciation in the case of fixed assets. 

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, or when a hedge no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting, any 
cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast transaction is 
ultimately recognised in the income statement. When a forecast transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative 
gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately reclassified to the income statement within “Other gains/(losses)”.

1.7 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is determined using the first-in, first-out (FIFO) 
method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises, raw materials, direct labour, other direct costs and 
related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). It excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the estimated costs 
necessary to make the sale. Costs of inventories include the transfer from equity of any gains/losses on qualifying cash flow 
hedges for purchases of raw materials. Provisions are made for obsolete, unusable and unsaleable inventory and for latent 
damage first revealed when inventory items are taken into use or offered for sale.

1.8 Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for merchandise sold or services performed in the ordinary course of 
business. If collection is expected in one year or less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are 
classified as current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016



153INTEGRATED ANNUAL REPORT 2016

CORPORATE GOVERNANCEOPERATIONS REPORT ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Trade receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less provision for impairment. A provision for impairment of trade receivables is established when there is 
objective evidence that the Group will not be able to collect all amounts due according to the original terms of receivables. 
The amount of the provision is the difference between the carrying amount and the estimated recoverable amount.

1.9 Cash and cash equivalents
In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call 
with banks, other short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less that are readily 
convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and bank 
overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown separately within current liabilities on the statement of financial position.

1.10 Non-current assets held for sale
Non-current assets (or disposal groups) are classified as assets held for sale when their carrying amount is to be recovered 
principally through a sale transaction and a sale is considered highly probable. They are stated at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs to sell.

1.11 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new ordinary shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds. 

Where any Group company purchases the company’s equity share capital (treasury shares), the consideration paid, 
including any directly attributable incremental costs (net of income taxes) is deducted from equity attributable to the 
company’s equity holders until the shares are cancelled or reissued. Where such ordinary shares are subsequently reissued, 
any consideration received, net of any directly attributable incremental transaction costs and the related income tax effects, 
is included in equity attributable to the company’s equity holders.

1.12 Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at 
amortised cost. Any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) and the redemption amount is recognised 
in profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the effective-interest method.

Borrowings are removed from the statement of financial position when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expired. 

1.13 Employee benefits 
Retirement	benefits	
The Group provides retirement benefits for its full-time employees, primarily by means of monthly contributions to a 
number of defined contribution pension and provident funds in the countries in which the Group operates. The assets of 
these funds are generally held in separate trustee-administered funds. The Group’s contributions to retirement funds are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which employees render the related service.

Medical	aid	benefit
The Group’s contributions to medical aid benefit funds for employees are recognised as an expense in the period during 
which the employees render services to the Group.

Post-employment	medical	aid	benefit	
Some Group companies provide post-employment healthcare benefits to their retirees. The entitlement to post-
employment healthcare benefits is subject to the employee remaining in service up to retirement age and completing 
a minimum service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the minimum service period. 
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Independent qualified actuaries carry out annual valuations of these obligations. All actuarial remeasurements resulting 
from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial assumptions are recognised immediately in other comprehensive 
income. The actuarial valuation method used to value the obligations is the projected unit credit method. Future benefits 
are projected using specific actuarial assumptions and the liability to in-service members is accrued over their expected 
working lifetime. These obligations are unfunded. 

1.14 Share-based payments
The Group grants share options/share appreciation rights (SARs) to its employees under a number of equity compensation 
plans. The Group has recognised an employee benefit expense in the income statement, representing the fair value of 
share options/SARs granted to the Group’s employees. A corresponding credit to equity has been raised for equity-settled 
plans, whereas a corresponding credit to liabilities has been raised for cash-settled plans. The fair value of the options/
SARs at the date of grant under equity-settled plans is charged to income over the relevant vesting periods, adjusted to 
reflect actual and expected levels of vesting. For cash-settled plans, the Group remeasures the fair value of the recognised 
liability at each reporting date and at the date of settlement, with any changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss for 
the period.

A share option scheme/SAR is considered equity-settled when the option/gain is settled by the issue of shares. They are 
considered cash-settled when they are settled in cash or any other asset, i.e. not by the issue of shares. Each share trust 
deed and SAR plan rules, as appropriate, indicates whether the option/gain is to be settled by the issue of shares or not. 

1.15 Current and deferred income tax
The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the income statement, except to 
the extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively. 

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date in the countries where the company and its subsidiaries operate and generate taxable income. Management 
periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is 
subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to 
the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognised on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and 
their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if they 
arise from the initial recognition of goodwill; deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of 
an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted 
or substantively enacted by the balance sheet date and are expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset 
is realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available 
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax liabilities are provided on taxable temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and joint arrangements, except for deferred income tax liability where the timing of the reversal of the 
temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the 
foreseeable future. Generally the Group is unable to control the reversal of the temporary difference for associates, only 
where there is an agreement in place that gives the Group the ability to control the reversal of the temporary
difference not recognised.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised on deductible temporary differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, 
associates and joint arrangements only to the extent that it is probable the temporary difference will reverse in the future 
and there is sufficient taxable profit available against which the temporary difference can be utilised.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets 
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by the 
same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities where there is an intention to settle 
the balances on a net basis.

The normal South African company tax rate used for the year ending 31 March 2016 is 28% (2015: 28%). Deferred tax 
assets and liabilities have been calculated using the 28% (2015: 28%) rate, being the rate that the Group expects to apply to 
the periods when the assets are realised or the liabilities are settled. Capital gains tax is calculated as 80% (2015: 66.6%) of 
the company tax rate. 

1.16 Dividends withholding tax (DWT)
Shareholders are subject to DWT on dividends received, unless they are exempt in terms of the amended tax law. DWT is 
levied at 15% of the dividend received. The DWT is categorised as a withholding tax as the tax is withheld and paid to tax 
authorities by the company paying the dividend or by a regulated intermediary and not the beneficial owner of the dividend. 

1.17 Provisions
Provisions for restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when: the Group has a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; 
and the amount has been reliably estimated. Restructuring provisions comprise lease termination penalties and employee 
termination payments. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined 
by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect 
to any one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using 
a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligation. 
The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised as interest expense.

1.18 Trade and other payables
Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary course of business from 
suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if payment is due within one year or less (or in the normal 
operating cycle of the business if longer). If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective- 
interest method.

1.19 Revenue
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sale of goods and rendering of services 
in the ordinary course of the activities. Revenues are recognised upon completion of the services and delivery of the related 
product and customer acceptance. The recognition of print services and tissue revenue is based upon delivery of the 
product to the distribution depot and acceptance by the distributor of the customer, or where the customer is responsible 
for the transport of the customers’ products, acceptance by the customer or its nominated transport company. Revenues 
from distribution services are recognised upon delivery of the product to the customer and acceptance thereof. 

Where print and distribution services are provided to the same client, the terms of each separate contract are consistent 
with contracts where an unrelated party provides one of the services. Revenue is recognised separately for print and 
distribution services as the contracts are separately negotiated, based on fair value for each service.

Revenue is net of returns and allowances, trade discounts and volume rebates.
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1.20 Other income 
Interest and dividends received on financial assets are included in “Finance income” and “Other gains/(losses)” respectively. 
Interest is accrued using the effective interest method and dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is 
established.

1.21 Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the company’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements in the 
period in which the dividends are approved by the board of directors.

1.22 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are classified as 
operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from the lessor) are charged 
to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease. 

The Group leases certain property, plant and equipment. Leases of property, plant and equipment where the Group has 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are classified as finance leases. Finance leases are capitalised at the 
lease’s commencement at the lower of the fair value of the leased property and the present value of the minimum lease 
payments.

Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance charges. The corresponding rental obligations, net of 
finance charges, are included in other long-term payables. The interest element of the finance cost is charged to the 
income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance 
of the liability for each period. The property, plant and equipment acquired under finance leases is depreciated over the 
shorter of the useful life of the asset and the lease term.

1.23 Foreign currency translation
a)	Functional	and	presentation	currency
Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which the entity operates (the functional currency). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in South African Rands (ZAR) which is the Group’s presentation currency.

b)	Transactions	and	balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the 
settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss, except when deferred in other comprehensive income 
as qualifying cash flow hedges.
 

1.24 Government grants
Grants from the Government are recognised at their fair value where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant 
will be received and the Group will comply with all attached conditions. Government grants relating to costs are deferred 
and recognised in the income statement over the period necessary to match them with the costs that they are intended 
to compensate.

Government grants relating to property, plant and equipment are included in non-current liabilities as deferred income 
(note 17) and are credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the expected lives of the related assets.

1.25 Related parties
Individuals or entities are related parties if one party has the ability, directly or indirectly, to control or jointly control 
the other party or exercise significant influence over the other party in making financial and/or operating decisions. 
Key management personnel are defined as all directors of Novus Holdings Limited as well as members of the 
Novus Holdings Limited executive committee and certain members of senior management.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

 Land 
 and 

 buildings 
 R’000 

 Plant 
 and 

 machinery 
 R’000 

 Vehicles, 
 computers 
 and office 

 equipment 
 R’000 

 Work 
 in 

 progress 
 R’000 

 Total 
 R’000 

Cost  790 282  2 586 858  134 673  124 160  3 635 973 
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment  (118 923)  (1 270 361)  (96 012)  –  (1 485 296)
Net book value at 1 April 2014  671 359  1 316 497  38 661  124 160  2 150 677 

Additions – cash 3 578 42 778 15 859 105 841 168 056 
Disposals (62) (2 247) (96)  – (2 405)
Reclassifications  – (936) 447 489  – 
Depreciation (18 191) (164 534) (18 260)  – (200 985)
Transfers from work in progress 18 003 158 154 1 056 (177 213)  – 
Impairment (31 379) (41 937) (221)  – (73 537)
Acquisition of subsidiaries/
businesses 42 194 47 755 2 768  – 92 717 
Net book value at 31 March 2015 685 502 1 355 530 40 214 53 277 2 134 523 

Cost 853 071 2 803 275 152 184 53 277 3 861 807 
Accumulated depreciation 
and impairment  (167 569)  (1 447 745)  (111 970)  – (1 727 284)

Additions – cash 1 788 32 992 9 244 192 163  236 187 
Additions – other  –  –  – 41 180  41 180 
Disposals (243) (1 503) (1 801)  – (3 547)
Reclassifications  – 23 813 (3)  – 23 810 
Depreciation (18 610) (156 391) (17 736)  – (192 737)
Transfers from work-in-progress 6 544 106 817 651 (114 012)  – 
Impairment  – (2 323)  –  – (2 323)
Acquisition of subsidiaries/
businesses  – 111 4  –  115 
Net book value at 31 March 2016 674 981 1 359 046 30 573 172 608 2 237 208 

Cost 861 160 2 962 086 158 902 172 608 4 154 756 
Accumulated depreciation and 
impairment  (186 179)  (1 603 040)  (128 329)  – (1 917 548)

“Additions – other” relates to non-cash acquisitions made during the year. The non-cash acquisitions relate primarily to 
assets where risks and rewards have been transferred before year end but have trade payables recognised in respect 
of the outstanding balances. Reclassifications during the year include property, plant and equipment items which were 
previously classified in inventory and other asset categories on the statement of financial position.



158 NOVUS HOLDINGS

GROUP AT A GLANCE STRATEGIC OVERVIEW LEADERSHIP REPORT

2 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)
The Group recognised an impairment of property, plant and equipment of R2,3 million (2015: R73,5 million). R2,0 million 
of the impairments relates to the “Printing” segment and R0,3 million relates to the “Other” segment. The impairment 
loss has been included in “Other gains/(losses)” in the income statement. The impairments resulted from the 
recoverable amounts of the assets being lower than the carrying value thereof.

The prior year impairments related to the following:

Printing	equipment	(R29,0	million)	and	Buildings	(R31,4	million)
A detailed assessment was done on printing equipment and buildings to remove inefficient and underutilised capacity 
and to evaluate the best geographic fit. The identified items will be phased out and disposed of. The carrying values 
were accordingly impaired to realisable values. These impairments resulted from a change in product focus and 
management’s planned future use of the assets. 

Inserting	and	other	equipment	(R13,1	million)
The inserting equipment was previously used in a leaflet distribution business that was closed down. The equipment 
was not suitable to use in the existing business and has been impaired to realisable value.

There were no reversals of these impairments in the current year.

At 31 March 2016, the Group has pledged property, plant and equipment of R3,5 million (2015: R4,0 million) as security 
against certain finance leases.

The directors are of the opinion that the recoverable amount of each class of property exceeds the carrying amount 
at which it is included in the consolidated statement of financial position.

3 GOODWILL

2016
 R’000 

2015
 R’000 

Cost
Opening balance  132 052  86 701 
Acquisition of subsidiaries  6 659  45 351 
Closing balance  138 711  132 052 

Accumulated impairment
Opening balance  –  – 
Impairment  –  – 
Reclassifications  –  – 
Closing balance  –  – 

Net book value  138 711  132 052 

Impairment testing of goodwill
The Group has allocated its goodwill to various cash-generating units. The recoverable amounts of these cash-generating 
units have been determined based on a value-in-use calculation. The value-in-use is based on discounted cash flow 
calculations. The Group based its cash flow calculations on three to five year budgeted and forecast information approved 
by the executive committee of the Group and the various boards of directors of group companies. Long-term average 
growth rates were used to extrapolate the cash flows into the future. The discount rates used are pre-tax and reflect 
specific risks relating to the relevant cash generating units in which they operate.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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3 GOODWILL (continued)
The Group allocated goodwill to the following cash-generating units:

Cash-generating unit

 Net 
 book 
 value 
 R’000 

 Basis of 
 determination 
 of recoverable 

 amount 

 Discount rate 
 applied to
 cash flows

 %

 Growth 
 rate 

%

At 31 March 2016
Paarl Media Cape  14 008 Value in use 20,1 2
Paarl Coldset  17 226 Value in use 20,1 2
Paarl Media Holdings  24 596 Value in use 20,1 3
Intrepid Printers  30 871 Value in use 20,1 2
Paarl Tissue  45 351 Value in use 20,1 6
Digital Print Solutions  6 659 Value in use 20,1 2

 138 711 
At 31 March 2015
Paarl Media Cape  14 008 Value in use 18,7 1
Paarl Coldset  17 226 Value in use 18,7 3
Paarl Media Holdings  24 596 Value in use 18,7 3
Intrepid Printers  30 871 Value in use 18,7 3
Paarl Tissue  45 351 Value in use 18,7 10

 132 052 

Goodwill represents the above cash-generating units’ ability to generate future cash flows, which is a direct result of 
various factors, including technological innovations, the quality of the workforce acquired, supplier relationships and 
possible future synergies.

If one or more of the inputs were changed to a reasonable possible alternative assumption, there would be no further 
significant impairments that would have to be recognised.

4 OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS
 Patents,  

trademarks and 
 other rights 

 R’000 

 Computer 
 software 

 R’000 

 Work in 
 progress 

 R’000 
 Total 

 R’000 

Cost  407  46 816  5 699  52 922 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (407)  (37 595)  –  (38 002)
Net book value at 1 April 2014  –  9 221  5 699  14 920 

Additions  –  2 493  14 847  17 340 
Amortisation  –  (5 006)  –  (5 006)
Net book value at 31 March 2015  –  6 708  20 546  27 254 

Cost  407  49 309  20 546  70 262 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (407)  (42 601)  –  (43 008)

Additions  –  4 192  10 925  15 117 
Transfers from work in progress  5  30 110  (30 115)  – 
Amortisation  –  (4 343)  –  (4 343)
Net book value at 31 March 2016  5  36 667  1 356  38 028 

Cost  412  83 611  1 356  85 379 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment  (407)  (46 944)  –  (47 351)
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5 INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES
The following information relates to the Group’s financial interest in its significant subsidiaries, over which the Group has 
control through its direct and indirect interests in respective intermediate holding companies and other entities:

All subsidiaries, except for the Novus Holdings Share Trust which has a year-end of 28 February, share the same financial 
year-end as Novus Holdings Limited and are incorporated in South Africa.

Name of company Nature of business

Effective
interest

2016
%

Effective
interest

2015
%

Company
carrying
amount

2016
R'000

Company
carrying
amount

2015
R'000

Unlisted
Direct	interests
Paarl Media Holdings 
Proprietary Limited Printing 100,0 100,0  1 043 782  1 043 782 
Paarl Coldset Proprietary Limited Printing 100,0 100,0  253 339  253 339 
Latiano 554 Proprietary Limited Investment holding 

company 100,0 100,0  –  – 
Paarl Packaging Proprietary Limited Investment holding 

company 100,0 100,0  –  – 
Novus Holdings Share Trust Investment holding 

entity 100,0 100,0  –  – 
 1 297 121  1 297 121 

Indirect	interests
Macleary Investments 456 
Proprietary Limited Dormant 100,0 100,0
Paarl Media Paarl Proprietary Limited Printing 100,0 84,0
Paarl Media Proprietary Limited Printing 100,0 100,0
Paarl Labels Proprietary Limited Printing 100,0 100,0
Media Administration 
Proprietary Limited Dormant 100,0 100,0
Extra Dimensions 1 Proprietary Limited Dormant 100,0 100,0
Intrepid Printers Proprietary Limited Dormant 100,0 100,0
Paarl Labels Africa Proprietary Limited Dormant 100,0 100,0
Paarl Tissue Proprietary Limited Tissue manufacturing 100,0 100,0
Victory Ticket 376 Proprietary Limited 
t/a Digital Print Solutions Printing 100,0  – 

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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6 DEFERRED TAXATION
The deferred tax assets and liabilities and movement thereon are attributable to the following items:

Opening
balance

R’000

 Charged to
income 

R’000

Charged 
to other 

comprehen-
sive income

R’000 

 Acquisition
of sub-

sidiaries
R’000

 Closing
balance

R’000

2016
Deferred	taxation	assets
Receivables and other current assets 3 782 (834)  –  –  2 948 
Provisions and other current liabilities 19 960 2 251 (421)  –  21 790 
Income received in advance 774 268  –  –  1 042 
Tax losses carried forward 6 514 10 393  –  –  16 907 
Capitalised finance leases 1 277 (866)  –  –  411 
Derivative assets 2 833 (4 048)  –  –  (1 215)
Hedging reserve 887  – (305)  –  582 
Share-based compensation 12 242 (6 146)  –  –  6 096 

 48 269 1 018 (726)  –  48 561 
Deferred	taxation	liabilities
Property, plant and equipment  (311 341) 6 427  –  –  (304 914)
Intangible assets  – (113)  –  –  (113)
Receivables and other current assets  (2 172) 338  –  –  (1 834)
Hedging reserve  1 272  – (931)  –  341 

 (312 241) 6 652 (931)  –  (306 520)
Net deferred taxation  (263 972) 7 670 (1 657)  –  (257 959)
Note 23

2015
Deferred	taxation	assets
Receivables and other current assets 4 028 (246)  –  –  3 782 
Provisions and other current liabilities 18 080 1 309 571  –  19 960 
Income received in advance 1 690 (916)  –  –  774 
Tax losses carried forward 18 780 (12 266)  –  –  6 514 
Capitalised finance leases  – 1 277  –  –  1 277 
Derivative assets 87 2 746  –  –  2 833 
Hedging reserve 1 139  – (252)  –  887 
Share-based compensation 11 672 570  –  –  12 242 

 55 476  (7 526) 319  –  48 269 
Deferred	taxation	liabilities
Property, plant and equipment  (339 344)  28 003  –  –  (311 341)
Receivables and other current assets  (3 432)  1 260  –  –  (2 172)
Derivatives  (39) 39  –  –  – 
Hedging reserve  (596)  – 1 868  –  1 272 

 (343 411)  29 302 1 868  –  (312 241)
Net deferred taxation  (287 935)  21 776  2 187  –  (263 972)
Note  23 
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6 DEFERRED TAXATION (continued)
A summary of the Group’s tax losses carried forward at 31 March and the expected dates of utilisation are set out below. 
All tax losses are within the South African tax jurisdiction.

GROUP

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Utilised in year one  – 6 769 
Utilised within two to five years 60 383 16 495 

60 383 23 264 

The ultimate outcome of additional taxation assessments may vary from the amounts accrued. However, management 
believes that any additional taxation liability over and above the amount accrued would not have a material adverse 
impact on the Group’s income statement and statement of financial position.

Deferred income tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realisation of the related 
benefit through future taxable profits is probable. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when the income tax 
relates to the same fiscal authority and there is a legal right to offset at settlement. The following amounts are shown 
in the consolidated statement of financial position:

GROUP

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Deferred tax assets 12 562 3 043 
Deferred tax liabilities (270 521)  (267 015)

(257 959) (263 972)

7 INVENTORY
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Raw materials (paper, ink and plates)  238 732  210 681  –  – 
Finished products, trading inventory and 
consumables  53 780  62 916  –  – 
Work in progress  41 953  54 494  –  – 
Gross inventory  334 465  328 091  –  – 
Less: Provision for slow-moving and obsolete 
inventories  (9 189)  (2 377)  –  – 
Net inventory  325 276  325 714  –  – 

The total provision charged to the income statement to write inventory down to net realisable value amounted to 
R7,4 million (2015: R1,8 million), and reversals of these provisions amounted to R0,6 million (2015: R2,2 million).

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and included in “costs of goods sold” amounted to R1 924 million 
(2015: R1 873 million).

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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8 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Trade accounts receivable, gross  499 219  339 751  –  – 
Less: Provision for impairment of receivables  (26 660)  (18 009)  –  – 

472 559  321 742  –  – 
Prepayments  19 773  21 551  –  – 
Staff debtors  648  357  –  – 
VAT receivable  22 277  108  –  – 
Sundry deposits  4 474  1 404  –  – 
Other receivables  11 732  6 346  –  – 

531 463  351 508  –  – 

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the carrying value of the receivables mentioned 
above. The Group does not hold any form of collateral as security relating to trade receivables.

The movement in the allowance account for impairment of trade receivables during the year was as follows:

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Provision for impairment of trade receivables
Opening balance  18 009  19 181  –  – 
Provision for impairment  27 879  3 039  –  – 
Unused amounts reversed  (9 469)  (812)  –  – 
Provisions utilised  (9 759)  (3 566)  –  – 
Acquisition of business  – 167  –  – 
Closing balance  26 660  18 009  –  – 

The ageing of the provision per age class is presented below:

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

30 days and older  3 595  1 106  –  – 
60 days and older  384  3 574  –  – 
90 days and older  44  5 080  –  – 
120 days and older  22 637  8 249  –  – 

 26 660  18 009  –  – 
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8 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)
As at 31 March 2016, trade receivables of R140,9 million (2015: R115,7 million) were past due but not impaired. 
These relate to a number of independent customers for whom there is either no recent history of default or if defaults 
were noted, where management have assessed the outstanding balances to be recoverable by taking into account 
the debtor’s financial position, past experience and other factors. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables, after 
provisions for impairments were raised, is as follows:

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Neither past due nor impaired  331 592  206 015  –  – 
Past due:
30 days and older  61 522  49 898  –  – 
60 days and older  8 936  15 986  –  – 
90 days and older  20 183  30 501  –  – 
120 days and older  50 326  19 342  –  – 

 472 559  321 742  –  – 

The credit quality of trade receivables that are neither past due nor impaired can be assessed by reference to their 
customer type indicating their credit risk. Trade receivables, neither past due nor impaired by type of customer, are 
presented below:

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Listed South African companies  108 780  62 842  –  – 
Government/parastatals  3 420  2 160  –  – 
South African corporates  215 490  134 133  –  – 
Corporates in the rest of Africa  3 902  6 880  –  – 

 331 592  206 015  –  – 

9 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Bank balances  278 220  389 044  5  2 627 
Cash and cash equivalents  278 220  389 044  5  2 627 
Bank overdrafts  (11 442)  (107 203)  –  – 

 266 778  281 841  5  2 627 
Total amount of undrawn facilities available for
future operating activities and commitments  749 889 743 899  –  – 

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
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10 SHARE CAPITAL
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Authorised
3 000 000 000 ordinary no par value shares  
(2015: 3 000 000 000 ordinary no par value shares)  –  –  –  – 

Issued
347 332 454 ordinary no par value shares  
(2015: 347 332 454 ordinary no par value shares)  606 040  606 040  606 040  606 040 

Treasury shares
Opening balance  368 172  –  368 172  – 
Issue of shares – share schemes  –  368 172  –  368 172 
Shares held as treasury shares  368 172  368 172  368 172  368 172 

Issued share capital
In the prior year, Novus Holdings Limited implemented a capitalisation issue in which Media24 Proprietary Limited was 
issued 2 999 999 shares for every share in issue resulting in Media24 holding 300 000 000 shares, subsequent to this  
80 000 000 shares were repurchased from Media 24 Proprietary Limited, as below. A further 80 000 000 shares were 
issued to the public when the Company listed on the JSE.

Treasury shares
Treasury shares include 24 313 272 ordinary shares issued to the Novus Holdings Share Trust (ESOP) in respect of  
options allotted to selected employees and 3 473 325 ordinary shares issued to Latiano 554 Proprietary Limited in 
respect of the options allotted to Mr LP Retief in his capacity as non-executive chairman and director of the company.

Unissued share capital
In the prior year, Novus Holdings repurchased 26,7% of Media24’s shareholding, equating to 80 000 000 shares,  
which were cancelled and became authorised but unissued shares. 

The directors of the company have unrestricted authority until the next annual general meeting, to allot and issue up 
to ten percent, amounting to 34 733 245 shares, of the unissued ordinary shares of the company. This authority was 
granted subject to the provisions of the South African Companies Act, 71 of 2008 and the JSE Listings Requirements.

11 OTHER RESERVES
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Other reserves in the statement of financial 
position comprise the following:
Existing control business combination reserve  (857 897)  (871 301)  862 819  862 819 
Share-based compensation reserve  32 692  5 300  –  – 
Hedging reserve  (1 758)  (5 115)  –  – 
Actuarial reserve  (478)  (1 459)  –  – 

 (827 441)  (872 575)  862 819  862 819 
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11 OTHER RESERVES (continued)
The existing control business combination reserve is used to account for transactions with non-controlling shareholders 
in terms of the economic entity model, whereby the excess of the cost of the transactions over the acquirer’s interest in 
previously recognised assets and liabilities is allocated to this reserve in equity. This reserve is also used in common control 
transactions (where all of the combining entities in a business combination are ultimately controlled by the same entity) 
where the excess of the cost of the transactions over the acquirer’s proportionate share of the net assets acquired is 
allocated to this reserve.

The fair value of equity-settled share options issued to employees is accounted for in the share-based compensation reserve 
over the vesting period. The reserve is adjusted at each year-end when the entity revises its estimates of the number of share 
options that are expected to become exercisable. It recognises the impact of the revision of original estimates, if any, in the 
income statement, with a corresponding adjustment to this reserve in equity for equity-settled plans.

The hedging reserve relates to the changes in the fair value of derivative financial instruments and the relevant underlying 
hedged items. It hedges forecast transactions or the foreign currency part of firm commitments. The changes in fair value 
are recorded in the hedging reserve until the forecast transaction or firm commitment results in the recognition of a non-
financial asset or liability, when such deferred gains or losses are included in the initial measurement of the non-financial 
asset or liability.

The actuarial reserve relates to actuarial gains or losses on the post employment medical liability as well as the provisions 
for pensioner gratuities.

12 POST-EMPLOYMENT MEDICAL LIABILITY
The employees of the Group participate in a post-retirement medical benefit scheme. The obligation of the Group to 
pay medical aid contributions after retirement is no longer part of the conditions of employment for new employees. 
A number of pensioners and current employees, however, remain entitled to this benefit. The entitlement to this benefit 
for current employees is dependent on the employees remaining in service until retirement age and completing a 
minimum service period.

The Group provides for post-retirement medical aid benefits on the accrual basis determined each year by way of a 
valuation. The key assumptions and the valuation methods are described below. The directors believe that adequate 
provision has been made for future liabilities.

 Key assumptions and valuation method
The actuarial valuation method used to value the liabilities is the Projected Unit Credit Method prescribed by IAS 19 
“Employee Benefits”. Future benefit values are projected using specific actuarial assumptions and the liability for 
in-service members is accrued over the expected working lifetime.

The most significant assumptions used for the current and previous valuations are outlined below:

2016 2015

Discount rate 10,4% 8,4%
Health cost inflation 10,0% 8,1%
Expected retirement age 60 60
Membership discontinued at retirement 0% 0%

It is assumed that current in-service members would retire on their current medical scheme option and that there would 
be no change in options on retirement.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
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12 POST-EMPLOYMENT MEDICAL LIABILITY (continued)
Actuarial assumptions are generally more suited to estimating the future experience of larger groups of individuals. 
The overall experience of larger groups is less variable and is more likely to tend to the expected value.

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Opening balance  4 133  3 949 
Current service cost  111  90 
Interest cost  345  354 
Employer benefit payments  (49)  (70)
Remeasurements  (1 054)  (190)
Closing balance  3 486  4 133 

A sensitivity analysis is presented below to show the effect of a one percentage point decrease or increase in the rate of 
healthcare cost inflation:

2016 Assumption

10,0% -1% +1%
Healthcare cost inflation
Accrued liability 31 March  3 486  3 113  3 936 
% change (10,7%) 12,9%
Current service cost and interest cost  456  404  520 
% change (11,5%) 14,1%

2015 Assumption

8,1% -1% +1%
Healthcare cost inflation
Accrued liability 31 March  4 133  3 670  4 683 
% change (11,2%) 13,3%
Current service cost and interest cost  444  390  511 
% change (12,2%) 15,1%

13 PROVISIONS
The long-service and retirement gratuity provisions were determined based on management’s estimates and assumptions 
as below. The Group has an obligation to pay the benefits relating to the long service bonus for current employees, however 
the obligation to settle benefits relating to the retirement gratuity provision is limited to a group of employees who still 
remain entitled to these benefits. The remeasurements relating to the long service bonus provision is recognised in profit 
or loss and the remeasurements relating to the retirement gratuity provision is recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 Key assumptions and valuation method
The actuarial valuation method used to value the provisions is the Projected Unit Credit Method as prescribed by IAS 19 
“Employee Benefits”.
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13 PROVISIONS (continued)
The most significant assumptions used for the current and previous valuations are outlined below:

2016 2015

Discount rate 9,4% 7,3%
Normal salary increase rate 5,0% 5,0%
Expected retirement age 60 60

The discount rate and the normal salary increase rate assumptions should be considered in relation to each other.

Long-service bonus 
As per the Group’s remuneration policies a long service bonus is paid to qualifying employees at the following intervals:
– 10 years uninterrupted service – 50% of one month’s total cost to company
– 15 years uninterrupted service – 75% of one month’s total cost to company
– 25 years uninterrupted service – 100% of one month’s total cost to company
– 40 years uninterrupted service – 100% of one month’s total cost to company

The accrued liability is determined on the basis that each employee’s long service benefit accrues uniformly over the 
period to which the benefit becomes payable.

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Opening balance  8 957  7 681 
Current service cost  896  828 
Interest cost  567  593 
Employer benefit payments  (2 141)  (1 427)
Remeasurements  (3 617)  1 282 
Closing balance  4 662  8 957 

A sensitivity analysis is presented below to show the effect of a one-percentage point decrease or increase in the salary 
increase rate:

Group

2016 Assumption

5% -1% +1%
Normal salary increase rate
Accrued liability 31 March  4 662  4 480  4 858 
% change (3,9%) 4,2%
Current service cost and interest cost  1 463  1 397  1 533 
% change (4,5%) 4,8%

2015 Assumption

5% -1% +1%
Normal salary increase rate
Accrued liability 31 March  8 957  8 572  9 360 
% change (4,3%) 4,5%
Current service cost and interest cost  1 421  1 349  1 499 
% change (5,1%) 5,5%

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
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13 PROVISIONS (continued)
Retirement gratuity
The retirement gratuity is paid to qualifying employees in the event of retirement (normal, early and ill-health) at the age 
of 55 years or older and with at least 15 years of continued service at retirement.

The accrued liability was calculated by taking a pro rata proportion of the total calculated value. This proportion is based 
on the past service of members relative to their prospective total service.

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Opening balance  3 741  2 917 
Current service cost  94  118 
Interest cost  243  210 
Employer benefit payments  (575)  (451)
Remeasurements  (309)  947 
Closing balance  3 194  3 741 

A sensitivity analysis is presented below to show the effect of a one-percentage point decrease or increase in the salary 
increase rate:

2016 Assumption

5% -1% +1%
Normal salary increase rate
Accrued liability 31 March  3 194  2 983  3 430 
% change (6,6%) 7,4%
Current service cost and interest cost  337  307  371 
% change (8,9%) 10,0%

2015 Assumption

5% -1% +1%
Normal salary increase rate
Accrued liability 31 March  3 741  3 445  4 048 
% change (7,9%) 8,2%
Current service cost and interest cost  328  295  365 
% change (10,0%) 11,4%

Total provisions

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Long-service bonus provision  4 662  8 957 
Retirement gratuity provision  3 194  3 741 
Other provisions  745  692 
Total provisions  8 601  13 390 
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14  LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Total liabilities  4 304  8 171 
Less: Current portion  (2 501)  (4 482)
Interest-bearing: Capitalised finance leases  1 803  3 689 

Total liabilities  76 183  143 614 
Less: Current portion  (58 513)  (66 667)
Interest-bearing: Loans and other liabilities  17 670  76 947 
Net long-term liabilities  19 473  80 636 

Capitalised finance leases
Currency of balance: South African rand
Type of lease: Lease of printing and tissue manufacturing equipment
Weighted average year-end interest rate: 9,12%
Final repayment dates: 2017 – 2019

Payable within one year  2 508  4 979 
Payable within two to five years  2 148  4 004 

 4 656  8 983 
Future finance costs on finance leases  (352)  (812)
Present value of finance lease liabilities  4 304  8 171 

Present value
Payable within one year  2 501  4 482 
Payable within two to five years  1 803  3 689 
Present value of finance lease liabilities  4 304  8 171 

Loans and other liabilities
Nedbank loan
Currency of balance: South African rand
Year-end interest rate: 8,2% (three-month JIBAR +1,7%)
Final repayment date of loan: November 2016
Rand Merchant Bank loan
Currency of balance: South African rand
Year-end interest rate: 8,3% (three-month JIBAR +1,7%)
Final repayment date of loan: July 2017

Repayment terms of loans
Payable within one year  58 513  66 667 
Payable within two to five years  17 670  76 947 

 76 183  143 614 
Interest rate profile of long-term liabilities (long and 
short-term portion, including capitalised finance leases)
Loans at fixed rates (1 to 12 months) 2 032 29 893
Loans at fixed rates (more than 12 months) 1 803 37 022
Loans linked to variable rates 76 652 84 870

 80 487  151 785 
The interest rate profiles disclosed above take into account interest rate swaps used to manage the interest rate profile 
of certain of the Group’s variable rate financial liabilities.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
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15 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS
The Group operates a number of share incentive plans and share appreciation rights (SARs) schemes.

All share options are granted with an exercise price of not less than 100% of the market value or fair value of the 
respective company’s shares on the date of the grant. All SARs are granted with an exercise price of not less than 100% 
of the fair value of the SARs on the date of the grant. All unvested share options/SARs are subject to forfeiture upon 
termination of employment. All cancelled options/SARs are options/SARs cancelled by mutual agreement between the 
employer and employee.

The share-based payment liabilities and reserves at 31 March are as follows:

Note
2016

R’000
2015

R’000

Share-based payment liability
Non-current liability  6 239  12 061 
Current liability  15 537  26 477 

 21 776  38 538 

Share-based compensation reserve
Balance as at 31 March 11  32 692  5 300 

The following significant share incentive plans were in operation during the financial year:

 Date of
 incorporation 

 Maximum
 awards

 permissible# 
 Vesting

period 

 Period to
expiry

 from date
of offer 

 IFRS 2
 classification 

Share trusts
Novus Holdings Share Trust 11 March 2015 10%  *  6 years  Equity settled 
LP Retief share option 27 February 2015 1%  *  6 years  Equity settled 

Share appreciation rights 
schemes
Paarl Coldset Proprietary Limited 10 March 2010  5%  *  **  Cash settled 
Paarl Media Holdings 
Proprietary Limited 10 March 2010  5%  *  **  Cash settled 

Notes
#  The	percentage	reflected	in	this	column	is	the	maximum	percentage	of	the	respective	companies	issued/notional	share	capital	that	the	

applicable	trust	may	hold	and	subsequently	allocate	to	participants	subject	to	the	following,	where	applicable.
*	 One-third	vests	after	years	three,	four	and	five.
**	Period	to	expiry	from	date	of	offer	is	five	years	and	14	days.
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15 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Movements in the share trust incentive plan are as follows:

2016 2015

Novus Holdings Share Trust
Shares
Outstanding 1 April  24 260 097  – 
Granted  –  24 260 097 
Exercised  –  – 
Forfeited  (4 086 532)  – 
Outstanding 31 March  20 173 565  24 260 097 

 R  R 

Weighted average exercise price
Outstanding 1 April  13,25  – 
Granted  –  13,25 
Exercised  –  – 
Forfeited  13,25  – 
Outstanding 31 March  13,25  13,25 

Weighted average share price of options taken up during the year
Shares  –  – 
Weighted average share price (R)  –  – 

Movements in the share trust incentive plan are as follows:

2016 2015

LP Retief Share option
Shares
Outstanding 1 April  3 473 325  – 
Granted  –  3 473 325 
Exercised  –  – 
Outstanding 31 March  3 473 325  3 473 325 

 R  R 

Weighted average exercise price
Outstanding 1 April  13,25  – 
Granted  –  13,25 
Exercised  –  – 
Outstanding 31 March  13,25  13,25 

Weighted average share price of options taken up during the year
Shares  –  – 
Weighted average share price (R)  –  – 

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
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15 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Movements in the SARs plans are as follows:

2016 2015

Paarl Coldset Proprietary Limited
SARs
Outstanding 1 April  2 404 333  2 407 666 
Movements in/(out)  (110 000)  30 000 
Exercised  (730 995)  (33 333)
Forfeited  (410 001) –
Outstanding 31 March  1 153 337  2 404 333 

 R  R 

Weighted average exercise price
Outstanding 1 April  13,23  13,19 
Movements in/(out)  6,16  – 
Exercised  8,20  10,41 
Forfeited  18,14  –
Outstanding 31 March  15,34  13,23 

Weighted average share price of options taken up during the year
SARs  730 995 33 333
Weighted average SAR price (R) 18,10 16,62

2016 2015

Paarl Media Holdings Proprietary Limited
SARs
Outstanding 1 April  3 413 342  3 903 341 
Movements in/(out)  (26 665)  (150 000)
Exercised  (1 173 326)  (296 665)
Forfeited  (400 002)  (43 334)
Outstanding 31 March  1 813 349  3 413 342

R R

Weighted average exercise price
Outstanding 1 April  31,80  31,50 
Movements in/(out)  27,47  – 
Granted  –  – 
Exercised  28,30  28,43 
Forfeited  34,46  28,55 
Outstanding 31 March  33,55  31,80 

Weighted average share price of options taken up during the year
SARs  1 173 326 296 665
Weighted average SAR price (R)  42,09 36,82
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15 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Share option allocations outstanding to be implemented at 31 March by exercise price for the Group’s significant share 
incentive plans.

SHARE OPTIONS OUTSTANDING
SHARE OPTIONS CURRENTLY 

AVAILABLE

Exercise 
prices

Outstanding 
at 31 March

(Number) 

Weighted
average

remaining
 contractual

life
(Years)

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
(R)

Exercisable 
at 31 March

(Number)

Weighted
 average
exercise

price
 (R)

Novus Holdings Share Trust
2016

13,25  20 173 565 5,00 13,25  –  – 
 20 173 565 13,25  –  – 

2015
13,25  24 260 097 6,01 13,25  –  – 

 24 260 097 13,25  –  – 

LP Retief Share Option
2016

13,25  3 473 325 5,00 13,25  –  – 
 3 473 325 13,25  –  – 

2015
13,25  3 473 325 6,01 13,25  –  – 

 3 473 325 13,25  –  – 

SARs allocations outstanding to be implemented at 31 March by exercise price for the Group’s significant SARs:

SARs OUTSTANDING
SARs 

CURRENTLY AVAILABLE

Exercise 
prices

Outstanding 
at 31 March

(Number) 

Weighted
average

remaining
 contractual

life
(Years)

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
(R)

Exercisable 
at 31 March

(Number)

Weighted
 average
exercise

price
 (R)

Paarl Coldset Proprietary Limited
2016

8,33  210 000 0,04 8,33  210 000 8,33
10,41  203 337 1,01 10,41  73 331 10,41
18,68  740 000 2,71 18,68  –  – 

 1 153 337 15,34  283 331 8,87

2015 4,35  237 332 0,02 4,35  237 332 4,35
8,33  520 000 1,04 8,33  290 000 8,33

10,41  523 667 2,02 10,41  152 330 10,41
18,68  1 123 334 3,66 18,68  –  – 

 2 404 333 13,23 679 662 7,41

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
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15 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
Paarl Media Holdings Proprietary Limited

SARs OUTSTANDING
SARs 

CURRENTLY AVAILABLE

Exercise 
prices

Outstanding 
at 31 March

(Number)

Weighted
average

remaining
 contractual

life
(Years)

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price
(R)

Exercisable 
at 31 March

(Number)

Weighted
 average
exercise

price
 (R)

2016
24,96  313 343 1,01 24,96  133 325 24,96
28,31  140 006 0,04 28,31  140 006 28,31
36,07 1 360 000 2,63 36,07  –  – 

1 813 349 33,55 273 331 26,68

2015
24,96  730 002 2,02 24,96  216 659 24,96
28,31  593 336 1,04 28,31  373 326 28,31
28,38  240 004 0,02 28,38  240 004 28,38
36,07 1 850 000 3,60 36,07  20 000 36,07

3 413 342 31,80 849 989 27,66

Share option grants during the year:
This weighted average fair value was calculated using the Bermudan Binomial option pricing model, using the following 
inputs and assumptions:

2016 2015

Novus Holdings Share Trust/LP Retief share option
Weighted average fair value at measurement date  – 5,58
Assumptions:
Weighted average share price  – 13,25
Weighted average exercise price  – 13,25
Weighted average expected volatility (%)*  – 25,9
Weighted average option life (years)  – 6,0
Weighted average risk-free interest rate (%)#  – 7,4
Weighted average annual sub-optimal rate (%)  – 100
Weighted average vesting period (years)  – 4,0

Notes
*	 The	weighted	average	expected	volatility	is	determined	using	historical	annual	company	valuations.
#	 Based	on	zero-rate	bond	yields	at	perfect	fit.

Various early exercise expectations were calculated based on historical exercise behaviours.



176 NOVUS HOLDINGS

GROUP AT A GLANCE STRATEGIC OVERVIEW LEADERSHIP REPORT

15 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
The directors of Novus Holdings Limited have the following share trust and SARs:

2016

SAR/Share scheme  Date of award

 Number of
 instruments

 awarded
Outstanding at
31 March 2015

Accepted
during

the year

Offer
price

(R)

Exercised
during

the year

Price on
exercise

date
(R)

Increase
in value

R’000 

Cancelled
during

the year
Outstanding at 
31 March 2016

 Indicative value of 
unvested and/or 

unexercised 
options 
(R’000)#

STM van der Walt
Naspers 07/09/2012  10 776  10 776  – 484,70  (3 592) 2 171,91  6 060  (7 184) –  – 
Naspers 11/07/2013  4 019  4 019  – 770,00  –    –    –    (4 019)  –  – 
Naspers 28/03/2014  2 050  2 050  – 1 155,00  –    –    –    (2 050)  –  – 
Paarl Coldset 23/03/2010  266 000  177 332  – 4,35  (177 332) 18,10  2 438  –    –  – 
Paarl Coldset 31/03/2011  240 000  160 000  – 8,33  (160 000) 18,10  1 563  –    –  – 
Paarl Coldset 22/03/2012  127 000  127 000  – 10,41  (127 000) 18,10  977  –    –  – 
Paarl Coldset 02/07/2013  126 667  126 667  – 18,68  –    –    –  (126 667)  –  – 
Paarl Coldset 26/03/2014  126 667  126 667  – 18,68  –    –    –  (126 667)  –  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 23/03/2010  300 000  100 000  – 28,38  (100 000) 42,09  1 371  –    –  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 22/03/2012  150 000  150 000  – 24,96  (150 000) 42,09  2 570  –    –  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 31/03/2011  300 000  300 000  – 28,31  (300 000) 42,09  4 134  –    –  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 02/07/2013  150 000  150 000  – 36,07  (150 000) 42,09  903  –    –  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 26/03/2014  150 000  150 000  – 36,07  –    –    –    (150 000)  –  – 
Novus Holdings Share Trust 31/03/2015  2 778 660  2 778 660  – 13,25  –    –    –    (2 778 660)  –  – 

 20 016  – 
KA Vroon
Paarl Coldset 22/03/2012  40 000  40 000  – 10,41  (13 333) 18,10  103  –    26 667  205 
Paarl Coldset 02/07/2013  20 000  20 000  – 18,68  –    –    –    –    20 000  – 
Paarl Coldset 26/03/2014  70 000  70 000 – 18,68  –    –    –    –    70 000  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 23/03/2010  160 000  53 334 – 28,38  (53 334) 42,09  731  –    –  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 22/03/2012  40 000  40 000  – 24,96  (13 333) 42,09  228  –    26 667  457 
Paarl Media Holdings 02/07/2013  50 000  50 000  – 36,07  –    –    –    –    50 000  301 
Paarl Media Holdings 26/03/2014  70 000  70 000  – 36,07  –    –    –    –    70 000  421 
Novus Holdings Share Trust 31/03/2015  1 910 329  1 910 329  – 13,25  –    –    –    –    1 910 329  – 

 1 062  1 384 
E van Niekerk
Paarl Coldset 31/03/2011  30 000  20 000  – 8,33  (10 000) 18,10  98  –    10 000  98 
Paarl Media Holdings 31/03/2011  20 000  13 334  – 28,31  (6 666) 42,09  92  –    6 668  92 
Paarl Media Holdings 22/03/2012  20 000  20 000  – 24,96  (6 666) 42,09  114  –    13 334  228 
Novus Holdings Share Trust 31/03/2015  1 041 997  1 041 997  – 13,25  –  –    –    –    1 041 997 –

 304  418 
LP Retief   
LP Retief Share Option 27/02/2015  3 473 325  3 473 325  – 13,25  –  –  –  –  3 473 325 –

#		 	The	indicative	value	of	outstanding	options/SARs	was	calculated	based	on	the	number	of	instruments	held	by	the	individual	
at	year-end	share	price	(or	SAR	valuation)	less	the	instrument’s	strike	(or	option)	price.	Only	indicative	gains	were	disclosed.	

The following shares prices (or SAR valuations) were applicable at year-end: 
Paarl Media Holdings SAR – R42,09
Paarl Coldset SAR – R18,10
Novus Holdings Limited – R11,50

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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15 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
The directors of Novus Holdings Limited have the following share trust and SARs:

2016

SAR/Share scheme  Date of award

 Number of
 instruments

 awarded
Outstanding at
31 March 2015

Accepted
during

the year

Offer
price

(R)

Exercised
during

the year

Price on
exercise

date
(R)

Increase
in value

R’000 

Cancelled
during

the year
Outstanding at 
31 March 2016

 Indicative value of 
unvested and/or 

unexercised 
options 
(R’000)#

STM van der Walt
Naspers 07/09/2012  10 776  10 776  – 484,70  (3 592) 2 171,91  6 060  (7 184) –  – 
Naspers 11/07/2013  4 019  4 019  – 770,00  –    –    –    (4 019)  –  – 
Naspers 28/03/2014  2 050  2 050  – 1 155,00  –    –    –    (2 050)  –  – 
Paarl Coldset 23/03/2010  266 000  177 332  – 4,35  (177 332) 18,10  2 438  –    –  – 
Paarl Coldset 31/03/2011  240 000  160 000  – 8,33  (160 000) 18,10  1 563  –    –  – 
Paarl Coldset 22/03/2012  127 000  127 000  – 10,41  (127 000) 18,10  977  –    –  – 
Paarl Coldset 02/07/2013  126 667  126 667  – 18,68  –    –    –  (126 667)  –  – 
Paarl Coldset 26/03/2014  126 667  126 667  – 18,68  –    –    –  (126 667)  –  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 23/03/2010  300 000  100 000  – 28,38  (100 000) 42,09  1 371  –    –  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 22/03/2012  150 000  150 000  – 24,96  (150 000) 42,09  2 570  –    –  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 31/03/2011  300 000  300 000  – 28,31  (300 000) 42,09  4 134  –    –  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 02/07/2013  150 000  150 000  – 36,07  (150 000) 42,09  903  –    –  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 26/03/2014  150 000  150 000  – 36,07  –    –    –    (150 000)  –  – 
Novus Holdings Share Trust 31/03/2015  2 778 660  2 778 660  – 13,25  –    –    –    (2 778 660)  –  – 

 20 016  – 
KA Vroon
Paarl Coldset 22/03/2012  40 000  40 000  – 10,41  (13 333) 18,10  103  –    26 667  205 
Paarl Coldset 02/07/2013  20 000  20 000  – 18,68  –    –    –    –    20 000  – 
Paarl Coldset 26/03/2014  70 000  70 000 – 18,68  –    –    –    –    70 000  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 23/03/2010  160 000  53 334 – 28,38  (53 334) 42,09  731  –    –  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 22/03/2012  40 000  40 000  – 24,96  (13 333) 42,09  228  –    26 667  457 
Paarl Media Holdings 02/07/2013  50 000  50 000  – 36,07  –    –    –    –    50 000  301 
Paarl Media Holdings 26/03/2014  70 000  70 000  – 36,07  –    –    –    –    70 000  421 
Novus Holdings Share Trust 31/03/2015  1 910 329  1 910 329  – 13,25  –    –    –    –    1 910 329  – 

 1 062  1 384 
E van Niekerk
Paarl Coldset 31/03/2011  30 000  20 000  – 8,33  (10 000) 18,10  98  –    10 000  98 
Paarl Media Holdings 31/03/2011  20 000  13 334  – 28,31  (6 666) 42,09  92  –    6 668  92 
Paarl Media Holdings 22/03/2012  20 000  20 000  – 24,96  (6 666) 42,09  114  –    13 334  228 
Novus Holdings Share Trust 31/03/2015  1 041 997  1 041 997  – 13,25  –  –    –    –    1 041 997 –

 304  418 
LP Retief   
LP Retief Share Option 27/02/2015  3 473 325  3 473 325  – 13,25  –  –  –  –  3 473 325 –

#		 	The	indicative	value	of	outstanding	options/SARs	was	calculated	based	on	the	number	of	instruments	held	by	the	individual	
at	year-end	share	price	(or	SAR	valuation)	less	the	instrument’s	strike	(or	option)	price.	Only	indicative	gains	were	disclosed.	

The following shares prices (or SAR valuations) were applicable at year-end: 
Paarl Media Holdings SAR – R42,09
Paarl Coldset SAR – R18,10
Novus Holdings Limited – R11,50
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15 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
The directors of Novus Holdings Limited have the following share trust and SARs:

2015

SAR/Share scheme  Date of award

Number of 
instruments 

awarded
Outstanding at
31 March 2014

Accepted
during

the year

Offer
price

(R)

Exercised
during

the year

Price on
exercise

date
(R)

Increase
in value

R’000 

Cancelled
during

the year
Outstanding at 
31 March 2015

 Indicative value of 
unvested and/or

 unexercised 
options 
(R’000)#

STM van der Walt
Naspers 07/09/2012  10 776  10 776  – 484,70  –    –  –    –  10 776  14 928 
Naspers 11/07/2013  4 019  4 019  – 770,00  –    –  –    –  4 019  4 421 
Naspers 28/03/2014  2 050  2 050  – 1 155,00  –    –  –    –  2 050  1 466 
Paarl Coldset 23/03/2010  266 000  177 332  – 4,35  –    –  –    –  177 332  2 176 
Paarl Coldset 31/03/2011  240 000  160 000  – 8,33  –    –  –    –  160 000  1 326 
Paarl Coldset 22/03/2012  127 000  127 000  – 10,41  –    –  –    –  127 000  789 
Paarl Coldset 02/07/2013  126 667  126 667  – 18,68  –    –  –    –  126 667  – 
Paarl Coldset 26/03/2014  126 667  126 667  – 18,68  –    –  –    –  126 667  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 23/03/2010  300 000  100 000  – 28,38  –    –  –    –  100 000  844 
Paarl Media Holdings 22/03/2012  150 000  150 000  – 24,96  –    –  –    –  150 000  1 779 
Paarl Media Holdings 31/03/2011  300 000  300 000  – 28,31  –    –  –    –  300 000  2 553 
Paarl Media Holdings 02/07/2013  150 000  150 000 – 36,07  –    –  –    –  150 000  113 
Paarl Media Holdings 26/03/2014  150 000 150 000 – 36,07 – – – –  150 000  113 
Novus Holdings Share Trust 31/03/2015  2 778 660 –  2 778 660 13,25  –   –  –   –  2 778 660  9 864 

 –    40 371 
KA Vroon
Paarl Coldset 22/03/2012  40 000  40 000  – 10,41  –    –  –    –  40 000  248 
Paarl Coldset 02/07/2013  20 000  20 000  – 18,68  –    –  –    –  20 000  – 
Paarl Coldset 26/03/2014  70 000  70 000  – 18,68  – –  –  70 000  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 23/03/2010  160 000  53 334  – 28,38  –    –  –    –  53 334  450 
Paarl Media Holdings 22/03/2012  40 000 40 000  – 24,96  –    –  –    –  40 000  474 
Paarl Media Holdings 02/07/2013  50 000 50 000 – 36,07  –    –  –    –  50 000  38 
Paarl Media Holdings 26/03/2014  70 000 70 000 – 36,07  –   –  –   –  70 000  53 
Novus Holdings Share Trust 31/03/2015  1 910 329 –  1 910 329 13,25  –   –  –   –  1 910 329  6 782 

 –    8 045 
E van Niekerk
Paarl Coldset 31/03/2011  30 000  20 000  – 8,33  –    –  –    –  20 000  166 
Paarl Media Holdings 23/03/2010  20 000  20 000  – 28,38  (20 000) 36,82  169  –  –  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 31/03/2011  20 000  20 000  – 28,31  (6 666) 36,82  57  –  13 334  113 
Paarl Media Holdings 22/03/2012  20 000  20 000  – 24,96  –    –  –    –  20 000  237 
Novus Holdings Share Trust 31/03/2015  1 041 997  –  1 041 997 13,25  –    –  –    –  1 041 997  3 699 

 226 4 215
LP Retief  
LP Retief Share Option 27/02/2015  3 473 325  –  3 473 325 13,25  –  –  –  –  3 473 325  12 330

#		 	The	indicative	value	of	outstanding	options/SARs	was	calculated	based	on	the	number	of	instruments	held	by	the	individual	
at	year-end	share	price	(or	SAR	valuation)	less	the	instrument’s	strike	(or	option)	price.	Only	indicative	gains	were	disclosed.	

The following shares prices (or SAR valuations) were applicable at year-end:
Paarl Media Holdings SAR – R36,82 
Paarl Coldset SAR – R16,62
Novus Holdings Limited – R16,80
Naspers Limited – R1 870,00  

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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15 SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (continued)
The directors of Novus Holdings Limited have the following share trust and SARs:

2015

SAR/Share scheme  Date of award

Number of 
instruments 

awarded
Outstanding at
31 March 2014

Accepted
during

the year

Offer
price

(R)

Exercised
during

the year

Price on
exercise

date
(R)

Increase
in value

R’000 

Cancelled
during

the year
Outstanding at 
31 March 2015

 Indicative value of 
unvested and/or

 unexercised 
options 
(R’000)#

STM van der Walt
Naspers 07/09/2012  10 776  10 776  – 484,70  –    –  –    –  10 776  14 928 
Naspers 11/07/2013  4 019  4 019  – 770,00  –    –  –    –  4 019  4 421 
Naspers 28/03/2014  2 050  2 050  – 1 155,00  –    –  –    –  2 050  1 466 
Paarl Coldset 23/03/2010  266 000  177 332  – 4,35  –    –  –    –  177 332  2 176 
Paarl Coldset 31/03/2011  240 000  160 000  – 8,33  –    –  –    –  160 000  1 326 
Paarl Coldset 22/03/2012  127 000  127 000  – 10,41  –    –  –    –  127 000  789 
Paarl Coldset 02/07/2013  126 667  126 667  – 18,68  –    –  –    –  126 667  – 
Paarl Coldset 26/03/2014  126 667  126 667  – 18,68  –    –  –    –  126 667  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 23/03/2010  300 000  100 000  – 28,38  –    –  –    –  100 000  844 
Paarl Media Holdings 22/03/2012  150 000  150 000  – 24,96  –    –  –    –  150 000  1 779 
Paarl Media Holdings 31/03/2011  300 000  300 000  – 28,31  –    –  –    –  300 000  2 553 
Paarl Media Holdings 02/07/2013  150 000  150 000 – 36,07  –    –  –    –  150 000  113 
Paarl Media Holdings 26/03/2014  150 000 150 000 – 36,07 – – – –  150 000  113 
Novus Holdings Share Trust 31/03/2015  2 778 660 –  2 778 660 13,25  –   –  –   –  2 778 660  9 864 

 –    40 371 
KA Vroon
Paarl Coldset 22/03/2012  40 000  40 000  – 10,41  –    –  –    –  40 000  248 
Paarl Coldset 02/07/2013  20 000  20 000  – 18,68  –    –  –    –  20 000  – 
Paarl Coldset 26/03/2014  70 000  70 000  – 18,68  – –  –  70 000  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 23/03/2010  160 000  53 334  – 28,38  –    –  –    –  53 334  450 
Paarl Media Holdings 22/03/2012  40 000 40 000  – 24,96  –    –  –    –  40 000  474 
Paarl Media Holdings 02/07/2013  50 000 50 000 – 36,07  –    –  –    –  50 000  38 
Paarl Media Holdings 26/03/2014  70 000 70 000 – 36,07  –   –  –   –  70 000  53 
Novus Holdings Share Trust 31/03/2015  1 910 329 –  1 910 329 13,25  –   –  –   –  1 910 329  6 782 

 –    8 045 
E van Niekerk
Paarl Coldset 31/03/2011  30 000  20 000  – 8,33  –    –  –    –  20 000  166 
Paarl Media Holdings 23/03/2010  20 000  20 000  – 28,38  (20 000) 36,82  169  –  –  – 
Paarl Media Holdings 31/03/2011  20 000  20 000  – 28,31  (6 666) 36,82  57  –  13 334  113 
Paarl Media Holdings 22/03/2012  20 000  20 000  – 24,96  –    –  –    –  20 000  237 
Novus Holdings Share Trust 31/03/2015  1 041 997  –  1 041 997 13,25  –    –  –    –  1 041 997  3 699 

 226 4 215
LP Retief  
LP Retief Share Option 27/02/2015  3 473 325  –  3 473 325 13,25  –  –  –  –  3 473 325  12 330

#		 	The	indicative	value	of	outstanding	options/SARs	was	calculated	based	on	the	number	of	instruments	held	by	the	individual	
at	year-end	share	price	(or	SAR	valuation)	less	the	instrument’s	strike	(or	option)	price.	Only	indicative	gains	were	disclosed.	

The following shares prices (or SAR valuations) were applicable at year-end:
Paarl Media Holdings SAR – R36,82 
Paarl Coldset SAR – R16,62
Novus Holdings Limited – R16,80
Naspers Limited – R1 870,00  
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16 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Trade payables  234 293  155 656  2  – 
Amounts received in advance  3 387  6 805  –  – 
Personnel accruals  6 808  6 069  –  – 
Accrued leave pay  18 259  20 678  –  – 
Accrued bonus  33 690  25 470  –  – 
Accrued expenses  75 798  44 536  –  – 
Value added tax  6 700  13 540  –  – 
Amounts owing in respect of business combinations  2 385  40 407  –  – 
Other current liabilities  3 292  4 224  –  2 606 

 384 612  317 385  2  2 606 

The fair values of trade and other payables approximate their carrying values.

17 DEFERRED INCOME
Deferred income consists of Government grants received.

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Opening balance  33 579  31 195  –  – 
Grants received  33 508  4 286  –  – 
Included in profit or loss  (5 869)  (1 902)  –  – 
Closing balance  61 218  33 579  –  – 

Non-current liability portion  51 956  31 740  –  – 
Current liability portion  9 262  1 839  –  – 

 61 218  33 579  –  – 

On 26 March 2015, a grant of R4,3 million and on 20 October 2015, a grant of R15,2 million, in respect of 
production equipment, was received from the Department of Trade and Industry (dti) in terms of the Manufacturing 
Competitiveness Enhancement Programme (MCEP).

On 28 February 2013, a grant of R33,2 million was received from the dti and a further R16,3 million on 1 October 2015. 
This was in terms of the MCEP. The grant was provided on condition that the related capital expenditure project was an 
expansion and not a replacement of the project that burned down at Paarl Media Paarl and that the transfer of machinery 
and labour between the these projects would not be allowed for the duration of the approval of the grant.

On 3 November 2011, a grant of R1,4 million was received from the dti in terms of the Enterprise Investment 
Programme (EIP).

The remaining additional grants received during the year amounted to R2,0 million (2015: Rnil).

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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18 REVENUE
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Printing revenue  3 954 650  4 058 897  –  – 
Tissue revenue  143 393  116 253  –  – 
Waste sales  36 212 43 799  –  – 
Other revenue  40 262  42 535 13 226  – 

 4 174 517  4 261 484 13 226  – 

19 OTHER GAINS/(LOSSES)
(Loss)/profit on sale of property, plant and 
equipment  (633)  338  –  – 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment 
(note 2)  (2 323)  (73 537)  –  – 
Cost associated with business combinations  (53)  (285)  –  – 
Insurance proceeds  996  –  –  – 

 (2 013)  (73 484)  –  – 

20 EXPENSES BY NATURE
Operating profit includes the following items:

Depreciation classification
Cost of providing goods  156 391  164 534  –  – 
Selling, general and administrative costs  36 346  36 451  –  – 

 192 737  200 985  –  – 

Amortisation classification
Cost of providing goods  3 289  3 509  –  – 
Selling, general and administrative costs  1 054  1 497  –  – 

 4 343  5 006  –  – 

Operating leases
Buildings  8 120  9 391  –  – 
Other equipment  654  524  –  – 

 8 774  9 915  –  – 

Auditor’s remuneration
Fees  4 112  3 731  –  – 
Prior year under/(over)-provision  220  (109)  –  – 
Audit-related fees  128  1 950  –  – 
Tax fees  242  1 183  –  – 
All other fees  177  1 439  –  – 

 4 879  8 194  –  – 
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20 EXPENSES BY NATURE (continued)
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Foreign exchange (profits)/losses 
On capitalisation of forward exchange contracts in 
hedging transactions (40 672) 10 403 – –
Other  (138)  (2 989)  –  – 

 (40 810)  7 414  –  – 

Advertising expense  11 011  11 009  –  – 

Cost of inventories sold  1 924 069  1 872 684  –  – 

Employee costs
Salaries, wages and bonuses  517 094  508 781  –  – 
Retirement benefit costs (defined-contribution plan)  57 411  40 612  –  – 
Retirement benefit costs (defined-benefit plan)  –  1 146  –  – 
Medical aid fund contributions  27 649  22 583  –  – 
Post-retirement benefits 407  444  –  – 
Share-based compensation charge  36 254  18 771  –  – 
Long-service and retirement gratuities  (4 480)  1 475  –  – 
Training costs  6 969  4 795  –  – 

 641 304  598 607  –  – 

21 FINANCE INCOME
Bank  20 065  9 916 394  – 
Other  623  2 656  –  – 

 20 688  12 572 394  – 

22 FINANCE COSTS
Foreign exchange (profits)/losses on translation 
of assets and liabilities  (1 686)  7 672  –  – 
Financing element of foreign exchange contracts  14 655  32 595  –  – 
Net loss/(profit) from foreign exchange 
translation and fair-value adjustments on 
derivative financial instruments  12 969  40 267  –  – 
Loans and overdrafts  14 696  25 934  –  – 
Interest rate swaps  67  326  –  – 
Other  3 316  1 208  –  – 
Interest paid  18 079  27 468  –  – 

 31 048  67 735  –  – 

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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23 TAXATION
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Major components of the income tax expense
Current  197 802  163 307 104  – 
Local income tax – current period  197 724  162 924 104  – 
Local income tax – prior years  78  383  –  – 

Deferred  (7 670)  (21 776)  –  – 
Local income tax – current period  (8 159)  (18 753)  –  – 
Local income tax – prior years  489  (3 023)  –  – 

 190 132  141 531 104  – 

Reconciliation of the income tax expense
Reconciliation between the accounting profit and
the income tax expense

Accounting profit  638 400  506 335  13 598  (1)

Tax at the applicable tax rate of 28% (2015: 28%) 178 752  141 774 3 807  – 

Tax effects of adjustments on taxable income
Non-deductible expenses 10 269  2 271  –  – 
Non-taxable income (1 643)  (1 499) (3 703)  – 
Prior year adjustments 567  (2 640)  –  – 
Other taxes 2 187  –  –  – 
Assessed loss not raised  –  1 447  –  – 
Capital gains  –  178  –  – 

 190 132  141 531 104  – 

Effective tax rate 29,8% 28,0% 0,8% 0,0%

24 EARNINGS PER SHARE
 Basic earnings per share

Earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the period and is 
based on the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders. For the purpose of calculating earnings per share, treasury 
shares are deducted from the number of ordinary shares in issue. Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting 
the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding to assume conversion of all dilutive potential ordinary 
shares and is based on the net profit attributable to ordinary shareholders, adjusted for the after-tax dilutive effect. 
Currently, the share options granted to directors and employees are anti-dilutive.

 Headline earnings per share
Headline earnings per share is calculated using the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the 
period and is based on the earnings attributable to ordinary shareholders, after excluding those items as required by 
Circular 2/2013 issued by the South African Institute of Chartered Accountants (SAICA).
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24 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued)

2016
Gross
R’000

Taxation
R’000

Non-
controlling

interest 
R’000

Net
R’000

Earnings
Net profit attributable to shareholders  445 764 

Adjustments  1 960  (549)  (17)  1 394 
Loss on sale of property, plant and equipment  633  (178)  (17)  438 
Insurance proceeds  (996)  279  –  (717)
Impairment in value of property, plant and 
equipment  2 323  (650)  –  1 673 

Headline earnings  447 158 

2015
Gross
R’000

Taxation
R’000

Non-
controlling

interest 
R’000

Net
R’000

Earnings
Net profit attributable to shareholders  334 904 

Adjustments  73 199  (20 495)  (2 427)  50 277 
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment  (338)  95  30  (213)
Impairment in value of property, plant and 
equipment  73 537  (20 590)  (2 457)  50 490 

Headline earnings  385 181 

2016 2015

Number of ordinary shares in issue at year-end  347 332 454  347 332 454 
Weighted average number of shares
Shares for earnings per share adjusted for weighting  319 545 857  301 927 811 

Earnings per ordinary share (cents)
Basic 139,50  110,92 
Diluted 139,50  110,92 
Headline earnings per share (cents)
Basic 139,94  127,57 
Diluted 139,94  127,57 

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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25 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS
IFRS 8: Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified on the basis of internal reports about 
components of the Group that are regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker (CODM) to allocate 
resources to the segments and to assess their performance. The CODM has been identified as the executive committee 
that makes strategic decisions.

The executive committee has identified four operating segments based on its business by service or product. Two 
operating segments meet the quantitative thresholds for separate reporting. They are, however, similar in nature and 
meet the aggregation criteria in terms of IFRS 8 paragraph 12 as they have similar profit margins, production processes, 
customers and suppliers. They are aggregated into the “Printing” segment, which comprises printing of books, 
magazines, newspapers and related products. The remaining two operating segments do not meet the quantitative 
threshold for separate reporting, and are combined in “Other”, which comprises the Labels division that prints flexible 
labels and Paarl Tissue Proprietary Limited which manufactures tissue paper. 

Revenue, other than to related parties, of approximately R595,5 million (2015: R539,0 million) is derived from a single 
external customer. These revenues are attributable to the Print segment. The total revenue from external foreign 
customers is R150,1 million (2015: R92,9 million).

Printing
R’000

Other
R’000

Eliminations
R’000

Total
R’000

2016
External revenue  3 918 108  256 409  –  4 174 517 
Intersegmental revenue  20 239  –  (20 239)  – 
Total revenue  3 938 347  256 409  (20 239)  4 174 517 
Cost of sale of goods  (2 554 937)  (220 438)  20 239  (2 755 136)
Selling, general and administrative expenses  (513 854)  (57 674)  –  (571 528)
Other losses  (1 889)  (124)  –  (2 013)
EBITDA  867 667  (21 827)  –  845 840 
Depreciation  (180 982)  (11 755)  –  (192 737)
Amortisation  (3 623)  (720)  –  (4 343)
Operating profit  683 062  (34 302)  –  648 760 
Finance income  44 817  431  (24 560)  20 688 
Finance costs  (29 345)  (26 263)  24 560  (31 048)
Profit before taxation  698 534  (60 134)  –  638 400 
Taxation  (208 693)  18 561  –  (190 132)
Profit after taxation  489 841  (41 573)  –  448 268 
Non-controlling interest  (2 504)  –  –  (2 504)
Profit attributable to equity holders  
of the company  487 337  (41 573)  –  445 764 

Additional disclosure
Property, plant and equipment additions 131 003 146 479 – 277 482
Capital commitments  24 285  66 366  –  90 651 
Impairment of assets  2 039  284  –  2 323 
Total assets  3 674 290  520 727  (497 776)  3 697 241 
Total liabilities  831 337  541 056  (497 776)  874 617 
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25 SEGMENTAL ANALYSIS (continued)

Printing
R’000

Other
R’000

Eliminations
R’000

Total
R’000

2015
External revenue  4 043 480  218 004  –  4 261 484 
Intersegmental revenue  15 750  15  (15 765)  – 
Total revenue  4 059 230  218 019  (15 765)  4 261 484 
Cost of sale of goods  (2 770 327)  (169 642)  15 765  (2 924 204)
Selling, general and administrative expenses  (464 997)  (31 310)  –  (496 307)
Other losses  (72 869)  (615)  –  (73 484)
EBITDA  751 037  16 452  –  767 489 
Depreciation  (193 566)  (7 419)  –  (200 985)
Amortisation  (4 972)  (34)  –  (5 006)
Operating profit  552 499  8 999  –  561 498 
Finance income  22 349  125  (9 902)  12 572 
Finance costs  (61 553)  (16 084)  9 902  (67 735)
Profit before taxation  513 295  (6 960)  –  506 335 
Taxation  (143 534)  2 003  –  (141 531)
Profit after taxation  369 761  (4 957)  –  364 804 
Non-controlling interest  (29 900)  –  –  (29 900) 
Profit attributable to equity holders  
of the company  339 861  (4 957)  –  334 904 

Additional disclosure
Property, plant and equipment additions 117 514 143 259 – 260 773
Capital commitments  40 196  17 283  –  57 479 
Impairment of assets  72 796  741  –  73 537 
Total assets  3 445 753  299 883  (223 929)  3 521 707 
Total liabilities  884 969  293 952  (223 929)  954 992 

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
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26 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Profit/(loss) before tax  638 400  506 335  13 598  (1)

Adjusted for:  227 304  336 407  (394)  – 
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  192 737  200 985  –  – 
Amortisation of intangible assets  4 343  5 006  –  – 
Impairment of property, plant and equipment  2 323  73 537  –  – 
Loss/(profit) on disposal of property, plant and 
equipment  633  (338)  –  – 
Finance income  (20 688)  (12 572)  (394)  – 
Finance costs  18 079  67 735  –  – 
Movement in provisions for inventory write-down  6 812  (2 136)  –  – 
Post-retirement medical liability expense  456  444  –  – 
Long-service and retirement gratuity expense  (1 817)  1 749  –  – 
Payments against provisions and post-retirement
medical liability  (2 765)  (1 948)  –  – 
Reversal of bad debt provision  8 651  (1 172)  –  – 
Share-based payment expense  36 254  18 771  –  – 
Share-based compensation payments  (25 624)  (16 767)  –  – 
Foreign exchange movements  7 910  3 113  –  – 
Changes in working capital (145 576)  (40 256)  192 454  2 607 
Inventories  (30 187)  18 551  –  – 
Trade and other receivables  (154 048)  (16 967)  –  – 
Trade and other payables 38 659  (41 840)  192 454  2 607 

720 128  802 486  205 658  2 606 

27 TAX PAID
Receivable/(owing) at the beginning of the year  2 860  (7 072)  –  – 
Current tax for the year recognised in profit or loss  (197 802)  (163 307)  (104)  – 
Owing/(receivable) at the end of the year  16 561  (2 860)  (20)  – 

 (178 381)  (173 239)  (124)  – 
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28.1 DIVIDENDS
The board of directors has proposed and approved on 8 June 2016, that a dividend of 70 cents (2015: 64 cents) per 
ordinary share be paid to shareholders on 5 September 2016. The Group will pay a total dividend of approximately  
R224 million based on the number of shares in issue.

28.2 DIVIDENDS PAID
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Dividends declared and paid by Novus Holdings 
Limited  (204 509)  –  (222 293)  – 
Dividends declared and paid by subsidiary to non-
controlling shareholders  (848)  –  –  – 

 (205 357)  –  (222 293)  – 

29 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS
 2016

On 1 May 2015, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Victory Ticket 376 Proprietary Limited trading as Digital 
Print Solutions for a consideration of R7,4 million.

The acquisition was a result of the Group’s diversification strategy, equipping Novus with the ability to print “on demand” 
books and small batches of high-quality material within short turnaround times.

Goodwill of R6,7 million relates to expected synergies resulting from the Group’s ability to offer a more complete printing 
offering to existing clients. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be deductible for income tax purposes.

Note
2016

R’000

Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired
Property, plant and equipment 2  115 
Investments and loans  848 
Net current assets/(liabilities)  682 
Long-term liabilities  (848)
Identifiable assets and liabilities at acquisition date  797 
Goodwill 3 6 659
Total purchase consideration  7 456 

Consideration as at acquisition date
Cash  4 833 
Cash consideration payable  2 623 

 7 456 
Cash flow
Cash consideration paid in respect of Digital Print Solutions  (4 833)
Cash in entity acquired – Digital Print Solutions  1 204 
Payment in respect of the prior year acquisition of Correll Tissue  (46 855)
Cash flow on acquisition  (50 484)

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
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29 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (continued)
Acquisition-related costs of R0,05 million have been included in profit and loss.

Revenue of R9,7 million and a profit after tax of R0,05 million have been included in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income since the acquisition date. The Group’s revenue and profit after tax would have been  
R4 175,4 million and R448,3 million respectively if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the reporting period.

 2015
On 1 June 2014, the Group acquired the entire business of Correll Tissue Proprietary Limited for a consideration of 
R144,3 million.

The acquisition was a result of the Group’s diversification strategy.

Goodwill of R45,3 million relates to expected synergies resulting from the Group’s use of waste paper generated at its 
existing printing plants as an input in the tissue manufacturing process. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to 
be deductible for income tax purposes.

Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired:

Notes
2015

R’000

Property, plant and equipment 2  92 717 
Inventory  8 620 
Trade and other receivables  16 273 
Trade and other payables  (13 070)
Finance lease liability  (5 640)
Identifiable assets and liabilities at acquisition date  98 900 
Goodwill 3  45 351 
Total purchase consideration  144 251 

Consideration as at acquisition date

Total purchase consideration  144 251 
Amount owing in respect of acquisition 16  (40 407)

 103 844 

Acquisition-related costs of R0,3 million have been included in profit and loss.

Revenue of R116 million and a loss after tax of R7,9 million has been included in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income since the acquisition date. The Group’s revenue and profit after tax would have been R4 284,7 million and  
R363,2 million respectively if the acquisition had occurred at the beginning of the reporting period.
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30 RELATED PARTIES
The Group entered into transactions and has balances with a number of related parties including shareholders and entities 
under common control. Transactions that are eliminated on consolidation as well as profits or losses eliminated through 
application of the equity method are not included.

Relationships
Ultimate holding company Naspers Limited
Holding company Media24 Proprietary Limited

The balances and transactions with related parties are summarised below:
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Related-party balances

Loans receivable
Subsidiary
Paarl Media Proprietary Limited  –  –  –  13 743 

Trade receivables
Media24 Proprietary Limited  92 244  108 484  –  – 

Subsidiaries	of	holding	company
New Media Publishing Proprietary Limited  23 456  26 577  –  – 
Natal Witness Printing Company Proprietary Limited  3 562  6 325  –  – 
Other  9 114  9 509  –  – 
Holding	company	and	its	subsidiaries  128 376  150 895  –  – 

Total related-party receivables  128 376  150 895  –  13 743 

The loan to Paarl Media Proprietary Limited bears no interest and is payable on demand.

The above receivables from related parties are non-interest bearing, are unsecured and are provided on standard credit 
terms. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of loan mentioned above. 
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
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30 RELATED PARTIES (continued)
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Related-party balances

Loans payable
Subsidiary
Paarl Media Proprietary Limited  –  –  195 079  21 

Trade payables
Subsidiary	of	ultimate	holding	company
Media24 Proprietary Limited  615  3 059  –  – 
Other  296  1  –  – 

Joint	ventures	and	associates	of	ultimate	
holding	company
MWEB South Africa Proprietary Limited  –  27  –  – 
Total related-party payables  911  3 087  195 079  21 

The loan from Paarl Media Proprietary Limited is non-interest bearing and is payable on demand.

The above trade payables are non-interest bearing, are unsecured and are extended at standard credit terms.

GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Purchases from related parties
Holding	company
Media24 Proprietary Limited  68  26  –  – 

Subsidiary	of	ultimate	holding	company
MWEB South Africa Proprietary Limited  –  3 015  –  – 

 68  3 041  –  – 
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30 RELATED PARTIES (continued)
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Sales to related parties
Naspers Limited  –  138  –  – 
Media24 Proprietary Limited  1 033 420  1 155 607  –  – 

Subsidiary	of	ultimate	holding	company
MIH Holdings Limited  –  4 436  –  – 

Subsidiaries	of	holding	company
New Media Publishing Proprietary Limited  117 172  156 042  –  – 
Natal Witness Printing Company Proprietary Limited  35 041  50 145  –  – 
Nasou Via Afrika Proprietary Limited  4 119  8 180  –  – 
CT Media Publications Proprietary Limited  22 629  22 445  –  – 
Other  33 129  40 264  –  – 
Ultimate	holding	company	and	its	subsidiaries  1 245 510  1 437 257  –  – 

Joint	ventures	and	associates	of	holding	company
Ndalo Proprietary Limited  –  21 715  –  – 
Rodale & Touchline Publishers Proprietary Limited  16 136  16 080  –  – 
Other  4 152  4 049  –  – 

 20 288  41 844  –  – 

Total sales to related parties  1 265 798  1 479 101  –  – 

The Group receives revenue from a number of its related parties mainly for the printing of magazines, newspapers and 
books.

During the prior year, the company repurchased 80 000 000 of its ordinary shares held by Media24 Proprietary Limited.

Directors’ emoluments

Executive
R’000

Non-
executive

R’000
Total

R’000

2016
Salaries  8 183  5 141  13 324 
Incentive bonuses  3 871  4 878  8 749 
Pension contributions  1 044  533  1 577 
Fees for services as director  –  3 800  3 800 
Total 13 098  14 352  27 450 

The detail of directors’ participation in share/SARs schemes is included in note 15.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
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30 RELATED PARTIES (continued)
The individual directors received the following remuneration and emoluments:

Salary
R’000

Bonus and
performance-

related
payments

R’000

Pension
contributions

R’000
Total

R’000

Executive directors
Mr STM van der Walt#  3 820 1 808  438 6 066
Mr E van Niekerk  1 784 405  294  2 483 
Mr KA Vroon*  2 579 1 658  312 4 549

 8 183 3 871  1 044 13 098
Notes
* Appointed	as	acting	chief	executive	officer	on	16	February	2016.
# Resigned	on	31	March	2016.

Fees for
services as

director
R’000

Salary
R’000

Bonus and
performance-

related
payments

R’000

Pension
contributions

R’000
Total

R’000

Non-executive directors
Mr LP Retief**  1 560  –  –  –  1 560 
Mr U Meyer#  350  –  –  –  350 
Mr C Botha*  –  –  –  –  – 
Ms E Weideman***  –  2 874  2 764  363  6 001 
Mr A Mayman***  –  2 267  2 114  170  4 551 
Ms GP Dingaan  350  –  –  –  350 
Mr SDM Zungu  310  –  –  –  310 
Mr BJ Olivier  570  –  –  –  570 
Mr F Robertson  350  –  –  –  350 
Mr JN Potgieter  310  –  –  –  310 

 3 800  5 141  4 878  533  14 352 
Notes
*	 Appointed	on	24	February	2016.
#	 Resigned	on	17	March	2016.
**	 Payments	to	Mr	LP	Retief	includes	payments	for	services	in	terms	of	a	management	agreement	with	the	Group.
***		Remuneration	paid	by	Media24	Proprietary	Limited	in	respect	of	services	rendered	in	their	capacity	as	directors	of	Media24	

Proprietary	Limited,	and	not	as	directors	of	Novus	Holdings	Limited.
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30 RELATED PARTIES (continued)

Directors’ emoluments

Executive
R’000

Non-
executive

R’000
Total

R’000

2015
Salaries  8 078  5 714  13 792 
Incentive bonuses  3 286  2 145  5 431 
Pension contributions  798  597  1 395 
Fees for services as director  –  1 496  1 496 
Total  12 162  9 952  22 114 

The individual directors received the following remuneration and emoluments:

Salary
R’000

Bonus and
performance-

related
payments

R’000

Pension
contributions

R’000
Total

R’000

Executive directors
Mr STM van der Walt  3 653  2 306  361  6 320 
Mr E van Niekerk  1 851  230  202  2 283 
Mr KA Vroon (alternate)  2 574  750  235  3 559 

 8 078  3 286  798  12 162 

Fees for
services as

director
R’000

Salary
R’000

Bonus and
performance-

related
payments

R’000

Pension
contributions

R’000
Total

R’000

Non-executive directors
Mr LP Retief**  619  859  –  94  1 572 
Mr NJ Retief#  180  –  –  –  180 
Mr SS de Swardt#  299  –  –  –  299 
Mr U Meyer  398  –  –  –  398 
Ms E Weideman***  –  2 692  1 070  341  4 103 
Mr A Mayman***  –  2 163  1 075  162  3 400 
Ms GP Dingaan*  –  –  –  –  – 
Mr SDM Zungu*  –  –  –  –  – 
Mr BJ Olivier*  –  –  –  –  – 
Mr F Robertson*  –  –  –  –  – 
Mr JN Potgieter*  –  –  –  –  – 

 1 496  5 714  2 145  597  9 952 
Notes
*	 Appointed	on	23	February	2015.
#	 Resigned	on	23	February	2015.
**	 Payments	to	Mr	LP	Retief	includes	payments	for	services	in	terms	of	a	management	agreement	with	the	Group.
***	 	Remuneration	paid	by	Media24	Proprietary	Limited	in	respect	of	services	rendered	in	their	capacity	as	directors	of	Media24	

Proprietary	Limited,	and	not	as	directors	of	Novus	Holdings	Limited.
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30 RELATED PARTIES (continued)
Key management compensation
The total of executive directors’ and key management emoluments amounted to 89,3 million (2015: R89,0 million), 
comprising short-term employee benefits of R68,2 million (2015: R80,7 million) and share-based payments of  
R21,1 million (2015: R8,3 million).

Comparatives have not been restated to account for the change in the composition of key management.

31 TRANSACTIONS WITH NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS
 2016

On 30 September 2015, the Group acquired an additional 16% of its subsidiary Paarl Media Paarl Proprietary Limited 
from Kurisani Investments Proprietary Limited for a consideration of R19 million. Paarl Media Paarl Proprietary Limited 
is now wholly owned by the Group.

The effect of the above transaction can be summarised as follows:

2016
R’000

Carrying amount of non-controlling interest  32 404 
Purchase consideration paid  (19 000)
Amount credited to equity  13 404 

2015
On 23 February 2015, Adbait Proprietary Limited’s shareholding in Paarl Media Holdings Proprietary Limited and Paarl 
Coldset Proprietary Limited were exchanged for 19 545 857 shares in Novus Holdings Limited.

The effect of the above transaction can be summarised as follows:

2015
R’000

Carrying	amount	of	non-controlling	interests	at	date	of	flip-up
Paarl Media Holdings Proprietary Limited  139 428 
Paarl Coldset Proprietary Limited  (19 070)

 120 358 
Fair value of Novus Holdings Limited shares issued  (237 867)
Amount debited to equity  (117 509)
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32 COMMITMENTS
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Authorised capital expenditure
Already contracted for but not provided for
 – Property, plant and equipment  90 651  57 479  –  – 

Operating leases – as lessee (expense)
Minimum lease payments due
– within one year  4 068  427  –  – 
– in second to fifth year inclusive  14 109  48  –  – 

The Group leases manufacturing and office space as well as equipment under various non-cancellable operating leases. 
Certain contracts contain renewal options and escalation clauses for various periods of time.

33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
All of the Group’s financial assets are classified as “loans and receivables” and are carried at amortised cost, apart from 
derivatives, which are held for hedging purposes. Similarly, all of the Group’s financial liabilities are classified as “other 
financial liabilities” and are carried at amortised cost apart from derivatives, which are held for hedging purposes.

 Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
so that it can continue to provide adequate returns for shareholders. 

The Group sets the amount of capital in proportion to risk. The Group manages the capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, 
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares, or sell assets to reduce debt. The Group does not have a formal 
targeted debt to equity ratio.

 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, interest rate risk and 
price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. 

The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise 
potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. The Group uses derivative financial instruments to 
hedge certain risk exposures. Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group treasury) under 
policies approved by the directors. Group treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation 
with the Group’s operating units. The directors provide written principles for overall risk management, as well as written 
policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, and credit risk, use of derivative financial 
instruments and non-derivative financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.

 Liquidity risk
Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, the availability of 
funding through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. In terms 
of the Memorandum of Incorporation of the Group, no limitation is placed on its borrowing capacity. The facilities 
expiring within one year are subject to renewal at various dates during the next year.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
 Liquidity risk (continued)

The Group had the following unutilised borrowing facilities at 31 March:
GROUP COMPANY

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

On call  749 889  743 899  –  – 

The following analysis details the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities and derivative financial assets/(liabilities) 
which will be settled on a gross basis, using working capital and unused credit facilities, into relevant maturity groupings 
based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual maturity date. The amounts 
disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within 12 months equal their carrying 
balances as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Carrying
amount

R’000

Contractual
cash flows

R’000

0 to 12
months

R’000

One to five
years
R’000

Group
Non-derivative financial liabilities
At 31 March 2016
Interest-bearing: Loans and other 76 183 79 839 62 620 17 219
Interest-bearing: Capitalised finance lease 4 304 4 656 2 508 2 148
Trade payables 234 293 234 293 234 293  – 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 88 282 88 282 88 282  – 
Related-party balances 911 911 911  – 
Bank overdrafts 11 442 11 442 11 442  – 

415 415 419 423 400 056 19 367

At 31 March 2015
Interest-bearing: Loans and other 143 614 155 342 75 925 79 417
Interest-bearing: Capitalised finance lease 8 171 8 983 4 979 4 004
Trade payables 155 656 155 656 155 656  – 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 141 384 141 384 141 384  – 
Related-party balances 3 087 3 087 3 087  – 
Bank overdrafts 107 203 107 203 107 203  – 

559 115 571 655 488 234 83 421
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
 Liquidity risk (continued)

Carrying
amount

R’000

Contractual
cash flows

R’000

0 to 12
months

R’000

One to five
years
R’000

Company
At 31 March 2016
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 2 2 2  – 
Related-party balances 195 079 195 079 195 079  – 

195 081 195 081 195 081  – 

At 31 March 2015
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities 2 606 2 606 2 606  – 
Related-party balances 21 21 21  – 

2 627 2 627 2 627  – 

Carrying
amount

R’000

Contractual
cash flows

R’000

0 to 12
months

R’000

One to five
years
R’000

Group
Derivative financial assets/(liabilities)
At 31 March 2016
Forward exchange contracts
 – Outflow  (9 515)  (531 764)  (531 764)  – 
 – Inflow  –  522 249  522 249  – 
Other derivatives – Interest rate swaps
 – Inflow  109  109  109  – 

 (9 406)  (9 406)  (9 406)  – 
At 31 March 2015
Forward exchange contracts
 – Outflow  (17 432)  (735 425)  (735 425)  – 
 – Inflow  –  717 993  717 993  – 
Other derivatives – Interest rate swaps
 – Inflow  117  117  117 – 

 (17 315)  (17 315)  (17 315) – 

Interest rate risk
As part of the process of managing the Group’s fixed and floating borrowings mix, the interest rate characteristics of 
new borrowings and the refinancing of existing borrowings are positioned according to expected movements in interest 
rates. Where appropriate, the Group uses derivative instruments, such as interest rate swap agreements, purely for 
hedging purposes. 
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
 Interest rate risk (continued)

As at 31 March the Group had the following interest rate swaps in place:

Fair value of
asset/(liability)

amount
R’000

Loan
amount

R’000

Rate of loan
(variable)

%

Rate of swap
(fixed)

%

Group
At 31 March 2016
Standard Bank 109 100 000 8,20 8,00

At 31 March 2015
Standard Bank 117 100 000 7,80 8,00

Refer to note 14 for the interest rate profiles and repayment terms of long-term liabilities as at 31 March. The interest rate 
swap covers the same period as the underlying loan and expires in November 2016.

At 31 March 2016, if the Group’s interest rates on rand-denominated borrowings had been 1% higher/lower with all other 
variables held constant, post-tax profit for the year would have been R0,6 million (2015: R1,5 million) lower/higher, mainly 
as a result of higher/lower interest expense on floating rate borrowings excluding the impact of the interest rate swap. 

 Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk relating to the following assets:

	 Investments	and	loans
There is no concentration of credit risk within investments and loans and management monitors the credit risk regularly.

	 Trade	and	other	receivables
Trade receivables consist primarily of invoiced amounts from normal trading activities. The majority of trade receivables 
consist of receivables within the print segment. Various credit checks are performed on new debtors to determine 
the quality of their credit history. These checks are also performed on existing debtors with long-overdue accounts. 
Furthermore, current debtors are monitored to ensure they do not exceed their credit limits.

	 Cash	deposits	and	derivative	assets
The Group is exposed to certain concentrations of credit risk relating to its cash and current investments. It places its cash 
and current investments mainly with major banking groups and high-quality institutions that have high credit ratings. 
The Group’s treasury policy is designated to limit exposure to any one institution and invests its excess cash in low-risk 
investment accounts. As at 31 March 2016, the Group held the majority of its cash, deposits and derivative assets with local 
banks with a “Baa2” credit rating or higher (Moody’s International Long-term Deposit rating). The counter parties that are 
used by the Group are evaluated on a continuous basis.

 Foreign exchange
The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily with respect to the euro 
and the US dollar. As the Group acquires a significant portion of the materials used in the printing process internationally, 
depreciation of the local currency against the euro or US dollar adversely affects the Group’s earnings and its ability to meet 
cash obligations. The Group makes use of forward exchange contracts to hedge their exposure to foreign currency risk. 
The Group generally covers forward 38% to 100% of firm commitments in foreign currency for up to one year.
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
 Foreign exchange (continued)

Management has set up a policy to manage their foreign exchange risk against their functional currency. The Group 
companies are required to hedge their foreign exchange risk exposure with the Group treasury. To manage their foreign 
exchange risk arising from future commercial transactions and recognised assets and liabilities, entities in the Group use 
forward contracts, transacted with financial institutions. Foreign exchange risk arises when future commercial transactions 
or recognised assets or liabilities are denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency.

The Group has classified its forward exchange contracts relating to forecast transactions and firm commitments as cash flow 
hedges, and states them at fair value. The transactions relate mainly to the acquisition of inventory items. The group separates 
the interest element and the spot price element of a forward exchange contract. The interest element is accounted for in 
finance cost (refer to note 22). The spot price element is designated as the hedging instrument in a cash flow hedge, with the 
cumulative gain or loss recognised in the initial carrying amount of inventory and therefore recognised in cost of goods  
sold when the inventory is sold. Refer to note 20 for amounts recognised in cost of goods sold. A cumulative after tax loss of 
R1,8 million (2015: R5,1 million) has been deferred in a hedging reserve at 31 March 2016. This amount is expected to realise 
over the next year. Changes in the fair value of forward exchange contracts that economically hedge monetary liabilities  
in foreign currencies and for which no hedge accounting is applied, are recognised in the income statement. Both the  
changes in fair value of the forward contracts and the foreign exchange gains and losses relating to the monetary items  
are recognised in profit and loss. The fair value of all forward exchange contracts at 31 March 2016 was a liability of  
R9,5 million (2015: R17,4 million).

The ineffective portion recognised in the profit or loss that arises from cash flow hedges amounts to a gain of Rnil  
(2015: Rnil).

The notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward exchange contracts for import purchases and export sales 
transactions at 31 March 2016 were R533,8 million (2015: R735,4 million).

The hedged highly probable forecast transactions denominated in foreign currency are expected to occur at various
dates during the next 12 months.

At 31 March 2016, if the currency had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar and euro with all other 
variables held constant, comprehensive income for the year would have been R20,1 million (2015: R50,4 million)  
higher/lower, mainly as a result of foreign exchange gains or losses on translation of US dollar and euro denominated 
trade receivables and foreign exchange contracts.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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33 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Total FECs outstanding at year-end (commitments to buy foreign exchange maturing within one year)

GROUP

2016
R’000

2015
R’000

Total FECs outstanding at year-end (maturing within one year)
Denominated in euro  24 729  52 224 
Rand value  431 667  721 177 
Denominated in US dollars  6 731  1 198 
Rand value  101 856  14 248 
Denominated in British pounds  14  – 
Rand value  317  – 

Derivative financial assets – Non-current portion
Interest rate swaps  – 75

Derivative financial assets – Current portion
Foreign exchange contracts  5 487 1 445
Interest rate swaps  109 41

 5 596  1 486 

Derivative financial liabilities – Current portion
Foreign exchange contracts  15 002  18 877 

 15 002  18 877 

R R

Exchange rates used for conversion of foreign items were:
Euro 16,74 13,12
US dollar 14,69 12,21
British pound 21,15  – 

The Group reviews its foreign currency exposure, including commitments on an ongoing basis. The Group expects its 
foreign exchange contracts to hedge foreign exchange exposure.
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34 FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
The fair values, which approximate the carrying values, net gains and losses recognised in profit and loss, total interest 
income, total interest expense, and impairment of each class of financial instrument are as follows:

 Carrying
value 

 R’000 

Net gains/
(losses)

recognised 
in profit 
and loss

 R’000 

 Total
interest
income

 R’000 
 Impairment 

 R’000 

31 March 2016
Group
Assets
Loans and receivables  1 801  –  23  – 
Receivables  613 315  –  466  8 651 

Trade receivables  472 559  –  466  8 651 
Other receivables  12 380  –  –  – 
Related-party receivables  128 376  –  –  – 

Derivative financial instruments  5 596  (7 874)  –  – 
Foreign exchange contracts  5 487  (7 874)  –  – 
Interest rate swaps  109  –  –  – 

Cash and cash deposits  278 220  –  20 065  – 
Total  898 932  (7 874)  20 553  8 651 

Liabilities
Long-term liabilities  19 473  –  8 654  – 

Interest-bearing: capitalised finance leases  1 803  –  251  – 
Interest-bearing: loans and other  17 670  –  8 403  – 

Short-term payables and loans  384 500  1 686  3 057  – 
Interest-bearing: capitalised finance leases  2 501  –  263  – 
Interest-bearing: loans and other  58 513  –  –  – 
Trade payables  234 293  1 686  2 794  – 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  88 282  –  –  – 
Related-party payables  911  –  –  – 

Derivatives  15 002  34 028  67  – 
Foreign exchange contracts  15 002  34 028  –  – 
Interest rate swaps  –  –  67  – 

Bank overdrafts and call loans  11 442  –  6 292  – 
Total  430 417  35 714  18 070  – 

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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34 FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The fair values, together with the carrying values, net gains and losses recognised in profit and loss, total interest 
income, total interest expense, and impairment of each class of financial instrument are as follows:

 Carrying
value 

 R’000 

Net gains/
(losses)

recognised 
in profit 
and loss

 R’000 

 Total
interest
income
 R’000 

 Impairment 
 R’000 

31 March 2015
Group
Assets
Loans and receivables  3 253  –  80  – 
Receivables  485 448  –  2 577  2 227 

Trade receivables  321 742  –  2 577  2 227 
Other receivables  12 811  –  –  – 
Related-party receivables  150 895  –  –  – 

Derivative financial instruments  1 561  (447)  –  – 
Foreign exchange contracts  1 445  (447)  –  – 
Interest rate swaps  116  –  –  – 

Cash and cash deposits  389 044  –  9 851  – 
Total  879 306  (447)  12 508  2 227 

Liabilities
Long-term liabilities  80 636  –  12 101  – 

Interest-bearing: capitalised finance leases  3 689  –  1 623  – 
Interest-bearing: loans and other  76 947  –  10 478  – 

Short-term payables and loans  413 665  (1 811)  142  – 
Interest-bearing: capitalised finance leases  4 482  –  –  – 
Interest-bearing: loans and other  66 667  –  –  – 
Trade payables  155 656  (1 811)  142  – 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities  183 773  –  –  – 
Related-party payables  3 087  –  –  – 

Derivatives  18 877  8 047  326  – 
Foreign exchange contracts  18 877  8 047  –  – 
Interest rate swaps  –  –  326  – 

Bank overdrafts and call loans  107 203  –  13 833  – 
Total  620 381  6 236  26 402  – 
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34 FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
The table below analyses financial instruments carried at fair value, by valuation method. The different levels have been 
defined as follows:

Level 1 fair value measurements are those derived from quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities.

Level 2 fair value measurements are those derived from inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices). The fair value 
of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, derivatives such as interest rate swaps, 
foreign exchange contracts and certain options) is determined through valuation techniques. These valuation techniques 
maximise the use of observable market data where it is available and rely as little as possible on entity specific estimates. 
If all significant inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3 fair value measurements are those derived from valuation techniques that include inputs for the asset or liability 
that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).

 Level 1 
 R’000 

 Level 2 
 R’000 

 Level 3 
 R’000 

 Total 
 R’000 

At 31 March 2016
Group
Assets
Interest rate swap  –  109  –  109 
Foreign exchange contracts  –  5 487  –  5 487 

 –  5 596  –  5 596 
Liabilities
Foreign exchange contracts  –  15 002  –  15 002 

At 31 March 2015
Assets
Interest rate swap  –  116  –  116 
Foreign exchange contracts  –  1 445  –  1 445 

 –  1 561  –  1 561 
Liabilities
Foreign exchange contracts  –  18 877  –  18 877 

 –  18 877  –  18 877 

Valuation techniques and key inputs used to measure significant level 2 fair values
Foreign	exchange	contracts – in measuring the fair value of foreign exchange contracts the Group makes use of market 
observable quotes of forward foreign exchange rates on instruments that have a maturity similar to the maturity profile 
of the Group’s foreign exchange contracts. Key inputs used in measuring the fair value of foreign exchange contracts include 
current spot exchange rates, market forward exchange rates, and the term of the Group’s foreign exchange contracts.

Interest	rate	swaps – the fair value of the Group’s interest rate swaps is determined through the use of discounted cash 
flow techniques using only market observable information. Key inputs used in measuring the fair value of interest rate 
swaps include spot market interest rates, contractually fixed interest rates, counterparty credit spreads, notional amounts 
on which interest rate swaps are based, payment intervals, risk-free interest rates, as well as the duration of the relevant 
interest rate swap arrangement.

Price risk
The Group is not exposed to significant price risk.

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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35 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
Financial instruments disclosed in the statement of financial position include interest-bearing borrowings, financial 
assets, cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables and trade and other payables.

The following is a summary of financial instrument categories applicable to the Group:

Financial assets

 Financial
assets at

 amortised
 cost 

 R’000 

 Fair value
 through profit

 or loss 
 R’000 

 Total 
 R’000 

2016
Loans and receivables  1 801  –  1 801
Trade and other receivables  484 939  –  484 939 
Related-party receivables  128 376  –  128 376 
Derivative financial instruments  –  5 596  5 596 
Cash and cash equivalents  278 220  –  278 220 

 893 336  5 596  898 932 

2015
Loans and receivables  3 253  80  3 333 
Trade and other receivables  334 553  –  334 553 
Related-party receivables  150 895  –  150 895 
Derivative financial instruments  –  1 561  1 561 
Cash and cash equivalents  389 044  –  389 044 

 877 745  1 641  879 386 

Financial liabilities

 Financial
 liabilities at

 amortised
cost 

 R’000 

 Fair value
 through profit

 or loss 
 R’000 

 Total 
 R’000 

2016
Long-term liabilities  80 487  –  80 487 
Trade and other payables  322 575  –  322 575 
Related-party payables  911  –  911 
Derivative financial instruments  –  15 002  15 002 
Bank overdrafts  11 442  –  11 442 

 415 415  15 002  430 417 

2015
Long-term liabilities  151 785  –  151 785 
Trade and other payables  339 429  –  339 429 
Related-party payables  3 087  –  3 087 
Derivative financial instruments  –  18 877  18 877 
Bank overdrafts  107 203  –  107 203 

 601 504  18 877  620 381
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36 ANALYSIS OF SHAREHOLDERS

Size of holdings
Number of

 shareholders
Number of

 shares owned

1 – 1 000  375  167 335 
1 001 – 50 000  604  5 061 308 
50 001 – 100 000  34  2 461 584 
100 001 – 10 000 000  93  83 283 098 
10 000 001 and above  3  256 359 129 

 1 109  347 332 454 

The following shareholders hold 5% or more of the issued share capital of the company:

Name % held
Number of 

shares owned

Media24 Proprietary Limited 61,18%  212 500 000 
Novus Holdings Share Trust 7,00%  24 313 272 
Adbait Proprietary Limited 5,63%  19 545 857 

Public shareholder spread
To the best of the knowledge of the directors, the spread of public shareholders in terms of section 4.25 of the JSE Limited 
Listings Requirements at 31 March 2016 was 27,09%, represented by 1 105 shareholders holding 87 500 000 shares in the 
company. The non-public shareholders of the company comprising four shareholders representing 259 832 454 ordinary 
shares are analysed as follows:

Shareholder
Number of

 shares
% of issued

 share capital

Media24 Proprietary Limited  212 500 000 61,18%
Novus Holdings Share Trust  24 313 272 7,00%
Adbait Proprietary Limited  19 545 857 5,63%
Latiano 554 Proprietary Limited  3 473 325 1,00%

 259 832 454 74,81%

Notes to the annual financial statements (continued)
for the year ended 31 March 2016
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37 DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARE CAPITAL AND TRANSACTIONS

Other than as disclosed in notes 15 and 30, no director of the company nor any director of any of its subsidiaries has or had 
any beneficial interest, directly or indirectly, in any transaction which is, or was, material to the business of Novus Holdings 
Limited and which was effected by Novus Holdings Limited during the current financial year or the immediately preceding 
financial year or in respect of any previous financial year which remains in any respect outstanding or unperformed.

None of the directors had any direct interest in Novus Holdings Limited ordinary shares on 31 March 2016. Detail 
of directors’ participation in share/SARs schemes is included in note 15.

Directors’ interests in shares

Direct Indirect Total

Executive
 – K Vroon  –  1 910 329  1 910 329 
 – E van Niekerk  –  1 041 997  1 041 997 

 2 952 326 
Non-executive
– LP Retief  –  3 473 325  3 473 325 

 3 473 325 

38 EVENTS AFTER REPORTING DATE
The directors are not aware of any matter or circumstance arising since the end of the financial year and the date of 
this report.
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